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Mr. THOMPSON of Mississippi, from the Select Committee to Inves-
tigate the January 6th Attack on the United States Capitol, 
submitted the following 

R E P O R T 

The Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on 
the United States Capitol, having considered this Report, reports 
favorably thereon and recommends that the Report be approved. 

The form of the Resolution that the Select Committee to Inves-
tigate the January 6th Attack on the United States Capitol would 
recommend to the House of Representatives for citing Jeffrey 
Bossert Clark for contempt of Congress pursuant to this Report is 
as follows: 

Resolved, That Jeffrey Bossert Clark shall be found to be in con-
tempt of Congress for failure to comply with a congressional sub-
poena. 

Resolved, That pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §§ 192 and 194, the Speaker 
of the House of Representatives shall certify the report of the Se-
lect Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on the 
United States Capitol, detailing the refusal of Jeffrey Bossert Clark 
to produce documents or answer questions during a deposition be-
fore the Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on 
the United States Capitol as directed by subpoena, to the United 
States Attorney for the District of Columbia, to the end that Mr. 
Clark be proceeded against in the manner and form provided by 
law. 

Resolved, That the Speaker of the House shall otherwise take all 
appropriate action to enforce the subpoena. 
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PURPOSE AND SUMMARY 

On January 6, 2021, a violent mob breached the security perim-
eter of the United States Capitol, assaulted and injured scores of 
police officers, engaged in hand-to-hand violence with those officers 
over an extended period, and invaded and occupied the Capitol 
building, all in an effort to halt the lawful counting of electoral 
votes and reverse the results of the 2020 presidential election. In 
the words of many of those who participated in the violence, the 
attack was a direct response to false statements by then-President 
Trump—beginning on election night 2020 and continuing through 
January 6, 2021—that the 2020 election had been stolen by cor-
rupted voting machines, widespread fraud, and otherwise. 

In response, the House adopted House Resolution 503 on June 
30, 2021, establishing the Select Committee to Investigate the Jan-
uary 6th Attack on the United States Capitol (hereinafter referred 
to as the ‘‘Select Committee’’). 

The Select Committee is investigating the facts, circumstances, 
and causes of the January 6th attack and issues relating to the 
peaceful transfer of power, in order to identify how the events of 
January 6th were planned, what actions and statements motivated 
and contributed to the attack on the Capitol, how the violent riot 
that day was coordinated with a political and public relations strat-
egy to reverse the election outcome, and why the Capitol security 
was insufficient to address what occurred. The Select Committee 
will evaluate all facets of these issues, create a public record of 
what occurred, and recommend to the House, and its relevant com-
mittees, corrective laws, policies, procedures, rules, or regulations. 

According to documents and testimony gathered by the Select 
Committee, in the weeks leading up to the January 6th attack on 
the U.S. Capitol, Jeffrey Bossert Clark participated in efforts to 
delegitimize the results of the 2020 presidential election and delay 
or interrupt the peaceful transfer of power. As detailed in a report 
issued by the U.S. Senate Judiciary Committee (hereinafter ‘‘Sen-
ate Report’’) and press accounts, after numerous courts throughout 
the United States had resoundingly rejected alleged voter fraud 
challenges to the election results by the Trump campaign, and after 
all states had certified their respective election results, Mr. Clark 
proposed that the Department of Justice (DOJ) send a letter to offi-
cials of the State of Georgia and other States suggesting that they 
call special legislative sessions to investigate allegations of voter 
fraud and consider appointing new slates of electors.1 In violation 
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2 Senate Report, at pp. 22–23, 28, 43–44. 
3 Id., at pp. 37–38. 
4 See Appendix, Ex. 1 (Subpoena to Jeffrey B. Clark, Oct. 13, 2021). 
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to November 5, 2021. 
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quotation marks removed). 
9 See Appendix, Ex. 2 (Transcript of November 5, 2021 Deposition of Jeffrey B. Clark), at p. 

8. 
10 Mr. Clark did answer one substantive question at the deposition: regarding his use of a par-

ticular gmail account. Appendix, Ex. 2, at pp. 31–32. 

of DOJ policy and after a direct admonition from the Acting Attor-
ney General of the United States, Mr. Clark also met with White 
House officials, including then-President Trump, to discuss efforts 
to delegitimize, disrupt, or overturn the election results.2 To fur-
ther these efforts, President Trump considered installing Mr. Clark 
as the Acting Attorney General, a plan that was abandoned only 
after much of the DOJ leadership team and the White House Coun-
sel threatened to resign if Mr. Clark was appointed.3 

The Select Committee believes that Mr. Clark had conversations 
with others in the Federal Government, including Members of Con-
gress, regarding efforts to delegitimize, disrupt, or overturn the 
election results in the weeks leading up to January 6th. The Select 
Committee expects that such testimony will be directly relevant to 
its report and recommendations for legislative and other action. 

On October 13, 2021, the Select Committee issued a subpoena for 
documents and testimony and transmitted it along with a cover let-
ter and schedule to counsel for Mr. Clark, who accepted service on 
Mr. Clark’s behalf on October 13, 2021.4 The subpoena required 
that Mr. Clark produce responsive documents and appear for a 
deposition on October 29, 2021.5 

The contempt of Congress statute, 2 U.S.C. § 192, makes clear 
that a witness summoned before Congress must appear or be 
‘‘deemed guilty of a misdemeanor’’ punishable by a fine of up to 
$100,000 and imprisonment for up to 1 year.6 Further, the Su-
preme Court in United States v. Bryan (1950) emphasized that the 
subpoena power is a ‘‘public duty, which every person within the 
jurisdiction of the Government is bound to perform when properly 
summoned.’’7 The Supreme Court recently reinforced this clear ob-
ligation by stating that ‘‘[w]hen Congress seeks information needed 
for intelligent legislative action, it unquestionably remains the duty 
of all citizens to cooperate.’’8 

On November 5, 2021, Mr. Clark appeared at the negotiated time 
designated for his deposition but refused to produce any documents 
or answer pertinent questions of the Select Committee. Counsel for 
Mr. Clark expressed in no uncertain terms that, ‘‘We will not be 
answering any questions or producing any documents.’’9 Counsel 
and Mr. Clark then relied on a 12-page letter—addressed to the 
Chairman and hand-delivered to Select Committee staff counsel at 
the beginning of the deposition—to object to nearly every question 
the Select Committee Members and staff put to Mr. Clark.10 De-
spite the Select Committee’s attempts to determine the scope or na-
ture of his objections on a question-by-question basis, Mr. Clark 
and his counsel refused to clarify their positions. When pressed to 
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proceed through the Select Committee’s questions, including topics 
to which there could be no colorable claim of privilege, Mr. Clark 
abruptly left the deposition. Despite notice to Mr. Clark that the 
deposition would resume later that day for the Chair to rule on Mr. 
Clark’s objections and give him instructions on responding, Mr. 
Clark did not return to the deposition at the notified time. When 
the deposition reconvened, the Chairman ruled on the objections 
and directed the witness to answer, as prescribed in House rules, 
both on the record of the deposition and in subsequent communica-
tions to Mr. Clark’s counsel. Mr. Clark’s subsequent correspond-
ence with the Select Committee failed to provide valid legal jus-
tification for his refusal to provide documents and testimony to the 
Select Committee. 

Mr. Clark’s refusal to comply with the Select Committee’s sub-
poena represents willful default under the law and warrants refer-
ral to the United States Attorney for the District of Columbia for 
prosecution under the contempt of Congress statute as prescribed 
by law. The denial of the information sought by the subpoena im-
pairs Congress’s central powers under the United States Constitu-
tion. 

BACKGROUND ON THE SELECT COMMITTEE’S INVESTIGATION 

House Resolution 503 sets out the specific purposes of the Select 
Committee, including: 

• To investigate and report upon the facts, circumstances, 
and causes ‘‘relating to the January 6, 2021, domestic terrorist 
attack upon the United States Capitol Complex.’’ 

• To investigate and report upon the facts, circumstances, 
and causes ‘‘relating to the interference with the peaceful 
transfer of power.’’ 

• To investigate and report upon the facts, circumstances, 
and causes relating to ‘‘the influencing factors that fomented 
such an attack on American representative democracy while 
engaged in a constitutional process.’’ 

The Supreme Court has long recognized Congress’s oversight 
role. ‘‘The power of the Congress to conduct investigations is inher-
ent in the legislative process.’’11 Indeed, Congress’s ability to en-
force its investigatory power ‘‘is an essential and appropriate auxil-
iary to the legislative function.’’12 ‘‘Absent such a power, a legisla-
tive body could not ‘wisely or effectively’ evaluate those conditions 
‘which the legislation is intended to affect or change.’ ’’13 

The oversight powers of House and Senate committees are also 
codified in legislation. For example, the Legislative Reorganization 
Act of 1946 directed committees to ‘‘exercise continuous watchful-
ness’’ over the executive branch’s implementation of programs with-
in their jurisdictions,14 and the Legislative Reorganization Act of 
1970 authorized committees to ‘‘review and study, on a continuing 
basis, the application, administration, and execution’’ of laws.15 
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16 Speaker Pelosi detailed such consultation and her selection decisions in a July 21, 2021, 
press release available at https://www.speaker.gov/newsroom/72121-2. 

17 167 Cong. Rec. 115 (July 1, 2021), at p. H3597 and 167 Cong. Rec. 130 (July 26, 2021), 
at p. H3885. The January 4, 2021, order of the House provides that the Speaker is authorized 
to accept resignations and to make appointments authorized by law or by the House. See 167 
Cong. Rec. 2 (Jan. 4, 2021), at p. H37. 

18 House rule XI, cl. 2(m)(1)(B), 117th Cong. (2021); H. Res. 503, 117th Cong. § 5(c)(4) (2021). 
19 H. Res. 503, 117th Cong. § 5(c)(6) (2021). 
20 Section 5(c)(4) of H. Res. 503 invokes clause 2(m)(3)(A)(i) of rule XI, which states in perti-

nent part: ‘‘The power to authorize and issue subpoenas under subparagraph (1)(B) may be dele-
gated to the chair of the committee under such rules and under such limitations as the com-
mittee may prescribe.’’ 

21 H. Res. 503, 117th Cong. (2021). 

The Select Committee was properly constituted under section 
2(a) of House Resolution 503, 117th Congress. As required by that 
resolution, Members of the Select Committee were selected by the 
Speaker, after ‘‘consultation with the minority leader.’’16 A bipar-
tisan selection of Members was appointed pursuant to House Reso-
lution 503 and the order of the House of January 4, 2021, on July 
1, 2021, and July 26, 2021.17 

Pursuant to House rule XI and House Resolution 503, the Select 
Committee is authorized ‘‘to require, by subpoena or otherwise, the 
attendance and testimony of such witnesses and the production of 
books, records, correspondence, memoranda, papers, and docu-
ments as it considers necessary.’’18 Further, section 5(c)(4) of House 
Resolution 503 provides that the Chairman of the Select Com-
mittee may ‘‘authorize and issue subpoenas pursuant to clause 
2(m) of rule XI in the investigation and study’’ conducted pursuant 
to the enumerated purposes and functions of the Select Committee. 
The Select Committee’s authorizing resolution further states that 
the Chairman ‘‘may order the taking of depositions, including pur-
suant to subpoena, by a Member or counsel of the Select Com-
mittee, in the same manner as a standing committee pursuant to 
section 3(b)(1) of House Resolution 8, One Hundred Seventeenth 
Congress.’’19 The October 13, 2021, subpoena to Mr. Clark was duly 
issued pursuant to section 5(c)(4) of House Resolution 503 and 
clause 2(m) of rule XI of the Rules of the House of Representa-
tives.20 

A. The Select Committee seeks information from Mr. Clark central 
to its investigation into the attack on the U.S. Capitol and the 
interference in the peaceful transfer of power. 

The Select Committee seeks information from Mr. Clark central 
to its investigative responsibilities delegated to it by the House of 
Representatives. This includes the obligation to investigate and re-
port on the facts, circumstances, and causes of the attack on Janu-
ary 6, 2021, and on the facts, circumstances and causes ‘‘relating 
to the interference with the peaceful transfer of power.’’21 

The events of January 6, 2021, involved both a physical assault 
on the Capitol building and law enforcement personnel protecting 
it and an attack on the constitutional process central to the peace-
ful transfer of power following a presidential election. The counting 
of electoral college votes by Congress is a component of that trans-
fer of power that occurs every January 6th following a presidential 
election. This event is part of a complex process, mediated through 
the free and fair elections held in jurisdictions throughout the 
country, and through the statutory and constitutional processes set 
up to confirm and validate the results. In the case of the 2020 pres-
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22 Marshall Cohen, Jason Morris, and Christopher Hickey, ‘‘Timeline: What Georgia prosecu-
tors are looking at as they investigate Trump’s efforts to overturn the election,’’ CNN, (Aug. 5, 
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; Rebecca Ballhaus, Alex Leary, and Dustin Volz, ‘‘Amid Vaccine Rollout and Historic Hack, 
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Biden,’’ Associated Press, (Nov. 18, 2020), available at https://apnews.com/article/donald-trump- 
targets-vote-certification-fa1f61cc5de6352deaa588dab908128e. 

23 Senate Report, at pp. 7–10. 
24 Id., at p. 14. 
25 Id., at pp. 3–4. 
26 Id. 
27 Id., at p. 21. 

idential election, the January 6th electoral college vote count oc-
curred following a series of efforts in the preceding weeks by 
former-President Trump and his supporters to challenge the legit-
imacy of the election, and disrupt, delay, and overturn the election 
results. 

According to eyewitness accounts as well as the statements of 
participants in the attack on January 6, 2021, the purpose of the 
assault was to stop the process of validating what then-President 
Trump, his supporters, and his allies had characterized as a ‘‘sto-
len’’ or ‘‘fraudulent’’ election. The claims regarding the 2020 elec-
tion results were advanced and amplified in the weeks leading up 
to the January 6th assault through efforts by the former President 
and his associates to spread false information about, and cast 
doubts on, the elections in Arizona, Pennsylvania, Michigan, and 
Georgia, among other States, and to press Federal, State, and local 
officials to use their authorities to undermine the democratic tradi-
tion of a peaceful transfer of power.22 

Evidence obtained by the Select Committee and public accounts 
indicate that, in that time frame, Mr. Clark, while serving at the 
Department of Justice, participated in initiatives to use DOJ au-
thorities to support false narratives about the 2020 election results 
in contravention of policy, tradition, and the facts.23 

While Mr. Clark refused to be interviewed by the Senate Judici-
ary Committee, the Senate Report nonetheless revealed portions of 
this story. According to the Senate Report, after being introduced 
by a Member of Congress, Mr. Clark met with then-President 
Trump on December 24, 2020, without the knowledge or authoriza-
tion of DOJ leadership,24 and then pushed the Acting Attorney 
General Jeffrey Rosen and Deputy Attorney General Richard 
Donoghue ‘‘to assist Trump’s election subversion scheme.’’25 Accord-
ing to the Senate Report, Mr. Clark urged DOJ to announce pub-
licly that it was ‘‘investigating election fraud’’ and to ‘‘tell key 
swing state legislatures they should appoint alternate slates of 
electors following certification of the popular vote.’’26 

On December 28, 2020, after more than 60 courts had ruled 
against the Trump campaign and its allies with respect to claims 
of election fraud and the electoral college had already met and 
voted, Mr. Clark circulated to Mr. Rosen and Mr. Donoghue a draft 
letter to the Georgia Governor, General Assembly Speaker, and 
Senate President Pro Tempore that he recommended copying for 
other States.27 This proposed letter informed these State officials 
that DOJ had ‘‘taken notice’’ of election ‘‘irregularities’’ and rec-



7 

28 Id., at pp. 21–22. 
29 Id., at pp. 22–23. In his response to Mr. Clark, Mr. Donoghue noted: ‘‘Despite dramatic 

claims to the contrary, we have not seen the type of fraud that calls into question the reported 
(and certified) results of the election.’’ He reminded Mr. Clark that ‘‘[Attorney General] Barr 
made that clear to the public only last week.’’ 

30 Id., at p. 28. 
31 Id., at p. 34. 
32 Id., at p. 35. 
33 Id., at p. 38. 
34 See Appendix, Ex. 1. 
35 Id. 

ommended calling a special legislative session to ‘‘evaluate the 
irregularities,’’ determine ‘‘which candidate for President won the 
most legal votes,’’ and consider appointing a new slate of electors.28 
Mr. Rosen and Mr. Donoghue summarily rejected Mr. Clark’s pro-
posed letter, pointing out to Mr. Clark that the letter was inac-
curate and a violation of established Department policy.29 

Against Mr. Rosen’s instructions and DOJ policy, according to 
the Senate Report, Mr. Clark continued having direct contact with 
then-President Trump, who offered to appoint Mr. Clark Acting At-
torney General.30 During a meeting on January 2, 2021, Mr. Clark 
told Mr. Rosen he might be persuaded to turn down the President’s 
offer to have him replace Mr. Rosen if Mr. Rosen sent out the pro-
posed letters.31 After Mr. Rosen refused to send the letters, Mr. 
Clark informed Mr. Rosen on January 3, 2021, that Mr. Clark in-
tended to accept the President’s offer to replace Mr. Rosen as Act-
ing Attorney General.32 DOJ leadership (and several top White 
House advisors) then threatened to resign if the President ap-
pointed Mr. Clark as Acting Attorney General, and the plan to re-
place Mr. Rosen and proceed with Mr. Clark’s efforts to interfere 
with the election results did not advance.33 

The Select Committee sought documents and testimony from Mr. 
Clark to obtain complete understanding of the attempts to use DOJ 
to delegitimize and disrupt the peaceful transfer of power following 
the 2020 presidential election, including illuminating the impetus 
for Mr. Clark’s involvement and with whom he was collaborating 
inside and outside government to advance these efforts. 

B. Mr. Clark has refused to comply with the Select Committee’s sub-
poena for testimony and documents. 

On October 13, 2021, the Select Committee transmitted a sub-
poena to Mr. Clark ordering the production of both documents and 
testimony relevant to the Select Committee’s investigation.34 The 
accompanying letter from Chairman THOMPSON stated that the Se-
lect Committee had reason to believe that Mr. Clark had informa-
tion within the scope of the Select Committee’s inquiry and set 
forth a schedule specifying categories of related documents sought 
by the Select Committee.35 

The requested documents covered topics including, but not lim-
ited to, Mr. Clark’s role in connection with DOJ’s investigation of 
allegations of fraud in the 2020 presidential election; communica-
tions with President Trump, senior White House officials, the 
Trump re-election campaign, Members of Congress, and state offi-
cials concerning alleged fraud in the 2020 election and the selection 
of presidential electors; delaying or preventing certification of the 
2020 presidential election results, including discussions of the role 
of Congress and the Vice President in counting electoral votes; the 
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36 See 167 Cong. Rec. 2 (Jan. 4, 2021), at p. H41. 
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3, 2021). 
38 See Appendix, Ex. 4 (Letter from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to Chairman Thompson, Nov. 

5, 2021). 
39 Although Mr. Clark argued with the Select Committee as to whether his refusal to answer 

substantive questions within the scope of the Select Committee’s inquiry was properly described 
as ‘‘blanket’’ or ‘‘absolutist’’ (Appendix, Ex. 2, at pp. 23, 36), Mr. MacDougald’s message was 
clear: ‘‘[Mr. MacDougald.] We’re not answering questions today. We’re not producing documents 
today.’’ (Id., at p. 15). 

40 See Appendix, Ex. 4, at p. 2. 
41 See Appendix, Ex. 4 (the Collins letter is enclosed). 

security of election systems in the United States; purported election 
irregularities, election-related fraud, or other election-related mal-
feasance, including specific allegations of voter fraud in four states; 
and alleged foreign interference in the 2020 election, including for-
eign origin disinformation spread through social media. 

The Select Committee’s subpoena required that Mr. Clark 
produce the requested documents and provide testimony on October 
29, 2021, at 10:00 a.m. This subpoena followed discussions between 
counsel for the Select Committee and Mr. Clark starting in early 
September. On October 27, 2021, Harry MacDougald, Esq. notified 
Select Committee staff that Mr. Clark’s previous counsel had with-
drawn and he had been retained by Mr. Clark. On that same date, 
Mr. MacDougald asked for a short continuance of the document 
production and deposition date to allow him to prepare for those 
events. The Select Committee accommodated Mr. Clark’s interest 
in moving back the date of his appearance and document produc-
tion and agreed to a new date of November 5, at 10:00 a.m. for 
both Mr. Clark’s appearance and document production deadline. 

On November 5, 2021, Mr. Clark appeared as directed before the 
Select Committee, accompanied by Mr. MacDougald. The deposition 
was conducted in accordance with the House Regulations for the 
Use of Deposition Authority promulgated by the Chairman of the 
Committee on Rules pursuant to section 3(b) of House Resolution 
8, 117th Congress.36 These regulations were provided to Mr. Clark 
and his attorney prior to his deposition.37 At the outset of the depo-
sition, Mr. MacDougald handed Select Committee staff a 12-page 
letter addressed to Chairman THOMPSON.38 In that letter, and on 
the record at the deposition, Mr. MacDougald stated that Mr. Clark 
would not answer any of the Select Committee’s questions on any 
subject and would not produce any documents.39 In his letter, Mr. 
MacDougald asserted that because former-President Trump was, 
while in office, entitled to confidential legal advice, Mr. Clark was 
‘‘subject to a sacred trust’’ and that ‘‘any attempts . . . to invade 
that sphere of confidentiality must be resisted,’’ concluding that 
‘‘the President’s confidences are not [Mr. Clark’s] to waive.’’ Mr. 
MacDougald’s letter further stated that ‘‘the general category of ex-
ecutive privilege, the specific categories of the presidential commu-
nications, law enforcement, and deliberative process privileges, as 
well as attorney-client privilege and the work product doctrine, all 
harmonize on this point.’’40 Nowhere in his letter did Mr. 
MacDougald make any more specific assertion of executive privi-
lege or of any other privilege. 

Mr. MacDougald’s letter attached an August 2 letter to Mr. Clark 
from Douglas A. Collins, counsel to former-President Trump.41 The 
two-page letter informed Mr. Clark that former-President Trump 
was continuing to assert executive privilege over non-public infor-
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42 Mr. Clark was advised of President Biden’s and the Department of Justice position in a let-
ter from Associate Deputy Attorney General Bradley Weinsheimer, dated July 26, 2021. (See Ap-
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43 Contrary to the interpretation of the August 2 letter offered by Mr. MacDougald, this last 
sentence suggests that Mr. Trump’s representatives will take some action if this condition is 
met and the ‘‘Office of the Presidency’’ needs defending. 

44 Mr. MacDougald made various other observations relating to Mr. Trump’s lawsuit to pre-
vent the National Archives from releasing certain Trump presidential records to the Select Com-
mittee, asserting that Mr. Trump’s claims of privilege in that litigation bolster Mr. Clark’s con-
tention that Mr. Trump intends to have Mr. Clark assert executive privilege in response to the 
subpoena. See Appendix, Ex. 4. 

45 Appendix, Ex. 2, at p. 32. 
46 Id., at p. 29. 
47 Id., at p. 30. 
48 Id., at pp. 25–26. 
49 Id., at pp. 29–31. For example, when asked specifically ‘‘whether Mr. Clark used personal 

devices to communicate government business,’’ Mr. Clark’s attorney responded: ‘‘Given the lack 
of specificity of the question, we can do no more than allude to the privileges that are asserted 
in the letter, which are the full panoply of executive, Federal law enforcement, and so on, privi-

Continued 

mation related to Mr. Clark’s service at DOJ. Former-President 
Trump’s assertion came despite the fact that both President Biden 
and DOJ had decided not to assert any privileges preventing Mr. 
Clark and other former DOJ officials from disclosing that informa-
tion to committees of Congress.42 Mr. Collins’s August 2 letter con-
cluded, ‘‘[n]onetheless, to avoid further distraction and without in 
any way otherwise waiving the executive privilege associated with 
the matters [under investigation], President Trump will agree not 
to seek judicial intervention to prevent [Mr. Clark’s] testimony . . 
., so long as the Committees do not seek privileged information 
from any other Trump administration officials or advisors.’’ The let-
ter concludes that, if the committees seek privileged information 
from other Trump administration officials, ‘‘we will take all nec-
essary and appropriate steps . . . to defend the Office of the Presi-
dency.’’43 

In his November 5 letter, Mr. MacDougald argued that the Select 
Committee’s September 23 subpoenas of four former Trump admin-
istration officials had made it ‘‘especially clear to Mr. Clark that 
executive privilege had been invoked,’’ because the four subpoenas 
were in ‘‘violation of a condition’’ in Mr. Collins’s August 2 letter. 
Mr. MacDougald argued that Mr. Collins’s letter should be read as 
former-President Trump’s assertion of executive privilege with re-
spect to the information the Select Committee was seeking from 
Mr. Clark. Thus, Mr. Clark was left with ‘‘no choice’’ but to treat 
all such information as subject to executive privilege ‘‘and related 
privileges.’’44 

At Mr. Clark’s deposition, Members of the Select Committee and 
staff attempted to obtain information from Mr. Clark and Mr. 
MacDougald concerning the boundaries of the privileges they 
sought to assert, posing a series of questions including whether Mr. 
Clark used his personal phone or email for official business,45 when 
he first met a specific Member of Congress,46 when he became en-
gaged in the debate regarding Georgia election procedure,47 and 
what statements he made to the media regarding January 6th 
(statements to which Mr. Clark’s counsel referred in his November 
5 letter to the Select Committee).48 Mr. Clark refused to answer 
any of these questions and declined to provide a specific basis for 
his position, instead pointing generally to his counsel’s 12-page No-
vember 5 letter.49 Mr. MacDougald announced that Mr. Clark 
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50 Id., at p. 31. 
51 Id., at p. 38. 
52 See Appendix, Ex. 6 (Staff Email to Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark, Nov. 5, 2021). 
53 See Appendix, Ex. 7 (Email from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to Select Committee Staff, 

Nov. 5, 2021). 
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5, 2021). 

would not produce any documents in response to the subpoena,50 
and he and Mr. Clark walked out of the deposition at approxi-
mately 11:30 a.m. Before Mr. Clark and Mr. MacDougald departed, 
Select Committee staff counsel informed them clearly that the dep-
osition would remain in recess, subject to the call of the Chair, 
while the Select Committee evaluated Mr. MacDougald’s November 
5 letter.51 

At 12:42 p.m. on November 5, Select Committee staff counsel 
sent Mr. MacDougald an email to inform him that the Select Com-
mittee would reconvene Mr. Clark’s deposition at 4:00 p.m. that 
day.52 Staff counsel informed Mr. MacDougald that the purpose of 
the reconvened deposition would be to obtain a ruling from the 
Chairman, as required by House deposition authority regulation 7 
(which staff counsel quoted), on Mr. Clark’s assertion of privilege 
and refusal to answer questions. Mr. Clark and Mr. MacDougald 
were asked to return to the site of the deposition at 4:00 p.m. or 
indicate their refusal to do so. Staff counsel noted, finally, that the 
Select Committee was preparing a response to the letter that Mr. 
MacDougald had delivered that morning, and that he would pro-
vide that letter at or before the reconvened deposition. 

Mr. MacDougald responded by email at 3:24 p.m. that he was on 
a flight to Atlanta and that it would not be possible for him to re-
turn to the reconvened deposition with Mr. Clark at 4:00 that 
afternoon.53 His email response also included an informal list of 
purported legal objections to the Select Committee’s demand that 
Mr. Clark reappear at his deposition and to the Chairman’s antici-
pated ruling on Mr. Clark’s stated objections. When the Select 
Committee reconvened Mr. Clark’s deposition at 4:15 p.m. on No-
vember 5, Chairman THOMPSON noted for the record that Mr. Clark 
was not entitled to refuse to provide testimony to the Select Com-
mittee based on categorical claims of privilege. Accordingly, con-
sistent with applicable law and the House’s deposition rules, the 
Chairman overruled Mr. Clark’s objections and directed him to an-
swer the questions posed by Members and Select Committee coun-
sel. 

At 4:30 p.m. on November 5, Select Committee staff transmitted 
a letter from Chairman THOMPSON to Mr. MacDougald responding 
to the arguments made in the 12-page letter from Mr. 
MacDougald.54 The Chairman stated in his response letter that 
there was no proper invocation of executive privilege with respect 
to Mr. Clark’s testimony and document production in either Mr. 
Clark’s November 5 letter, the August 2 letter from Mr. Trump’s 
counsel, or in the information provided on the record at that morn-
ing’s session of Mr. Clark’s deposition. The Chairman noted that in 
the August 2 letter, Mr. Trump’s counsel had, in fact, specifically 
stated that Mr. Trump would not seek judicial intervention to pre-
vent Mr. Clark’s testimony and that Mr. MacDougald had, at the 
deposition that morning, stated that he had received no further in-
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55 See Appendix, Ex. 9 (Letter from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to Chairman Thompson, Nov. 
8, 2021). 

56 Trump v. Thompson, No. 21-cv-2769 (D.D.C. Nov. 9, 2021), l F.Supp.3d l, 2021 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 216812*, currently on appeal, Trump v. Thompson, No. 21-5254 (D.C. Cir.), 2021 U.S. 
Spp. LEXIS 33578*, 2021 WL 5239098 (Nov. 11, 2021). 

57 See Appendix, Ex. 10 (Letter from Chairman Thompson to Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark, 
Nov. 9, 2021). 

structions from Mr. Trump relating to Mr. Clark’s testimony. The 
Chairman also noted that the Select Committee had received no di-
rect communication from former-President Trump asserting privi-
lege over information that the Select Committee sought pursuant 
to its subpoena to Mr. Clark. 

Chairman THOMPSON’s November 5 letter stressed that, even if 
former-President Trump had previously invoked privilege with re-
spect to Mr. Clark’s testimony and document production, the law 
does not support blanket, absolute claims of testimonial immunity 
even for senior presidential aides (which Mr. Clark was not) or 
blanket, non-specific assertions of executive privilege over the pro-
duction of documents to Congress. The Chairman also pointed out 
that, even had Mr. Trump invoked executive privilege with respect 
to Mr. Clark’s testimony and document production, the privilege 
would only have covered communications that related to official 
government business. He noted that Mr. Clark would have had to 
assert any claim of privilege narrowly, specifically identifying the 
scope of those claims and which areas of testimony and which re-
sponsive documents the privilege claim covered. The Chairman 
noted his intention to formally reject Mr. Clark’s claim of privilege 
when the deposition resumed. 

On November 8, Mr. MacDougald sent Chairman THOMPSON a 
brief response to his November 5 letter.55 In it, Mr. MacDougald 
asserted that, because the letter had not been transmitted until 
4:30 that afternoon, when Mr. MacDougald was on a flight back to 
Atlanta, it was ‘‘physically impossible’’ for Mr. Clark and him to ap-
pear at the resumed deposition as instructed—all despite the ear-
lier notices for reconvening. 

In his letter, Mr. MacDougald also noted his disagreement with 
the points made in the Chairman’s November 5 letter, saying he 
would respond to it in detail later, but insisting that Mr. Clark had 
not, when he appeared for his deposition the morning of November 
5, made a ‘‘blanket’’ refusal to produce documents or answer ques-
tions. Mr. MacDougald characterized Mr. Clark’s position as based 
on unspecified ‘‘matters of timing, prudence, and fairness, not on 
purported executive-privilege absolutism.’’ He claimed that until 
there was a final judgment in the Trump v. Thompson litigation56 
relating to the Select Committee’s request for presidential records 
held in the National Archives, Mr. Clark would be ‘‘in ethical jeop-
ardy’’ if he acceded to the Select Committee’s demand for docu-
ments and testimony. 

On November 9, Chairman THOMPSON wrote to Mr. MacDougald 
to inform him of his formal ruling on the objections that Mr. Clark 
had raised during his deposition, and to respond in greater detail 
to the points made in the 12-page letter dated November 5 that Mr. 
MacDougald delivered to Select Committee staff at Mr. Clark’s dep-
osition.57 The Chairman’s letter noted that when the Select Com-
mittee reconvened, the Chairman stated on the record that Mr. 
Clark was not entitled to refuse to testify based on categorical 
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claims of privilege and that, accordingly, the Chairman had over-
ruled Mr. Clark’s objections and directed him to answer the Select 
Committee’s questions. The Chairman went on to detail three fun-
damental points. First, Mr. Clark had not established that either 
the former President or the current President had explicitly in-
voked executive privilege at all. Second, the law did not entitle Mr. 
Clark to refuse to respond to the Select Committee’s questions and 
document requests with a ‘‘blanket’’ objection. Third, Mr. Clark’s 
reliance on executive privilege was tenuous and the current Presi-
dent had determined that, with respect to the subjects of the testi-
mony the Select Committee sought, the ‘‘congressional need for in-
formation outweighs the Executive Branch’s interest in maintain-
ing confidentiality.’’ 

The Chairman’s letter also pointed out that, while several courts 
had addressed assertions of absolute testimonial immunity similar 
to Mr. Clark’s, all had held that there was no such immunity even 
where the incumbent President had explicitly invoked executive 
privilege as to a close White House adviser. The Chairman’s letter 
further noted that the issues in the litigation that Mr. Trump had 
instituted relating to the Select Committee’s document request of 
the National Archives were separate and distinct from Mr. Clark’s 
privilege issues, so that a judgment in that matter would not re-
solve Mr. Clark’s claims of absolute immunity from testifying in re-
sponse to the Select Committee’s subpoena. The Chairman’s letter 
also noted that many of the Select Committee’s questions had noth-
ing to do with any communications Mr. Clark and Mr. Trump may 
have had. Chairman THOMPSON concluded by noting that Mr. 
Clark’s refusal to provide either documents or testimony and fail-
ure to articulate any particularized claims of privilege indicated his 
willful disregard for the authority of the Select Committee. He 
stressed that there was no legal basis for Mr. Clark’s assertion of 
a broad, absolute immunity or other privilege from testifying or 
providing responsive documents and noted several areas of inquiry 
that could not possibly implicate any version of executive privilege, 
even had such privilege been asserted in the manner legally re-
quired. The Chairman concluded that, for those reasons, he had 
overruled Mr. Clark’s blanket objections to the Select Committee’s 
subpoena. 

On November 12, Mr. MacDougald responded on behalf of Mr. 
Clark to the Chairman’s letters of November 5 and 9.58 Mr. 
MacDougald’s 21-page response consisted of a letter and an at-
tached 19-point memorandum, summarized in the letter. In them, 
Mr. MacDougald raised several objections and arguments, includ-
ing that the Select Committee’s subpoena was improper in that it 
was ‘‘to carry out an unlawful and plainly non-legislative purpose’’ 
relating to law enforcement. He also expressed what he labeled 
‘‘due process’’ objections, including that for the Chairman to rule on 
Mr. Clark’s objections was to act as the ‘‘judge of [his] own case.’’ 
Mr. MacDougald also argued that former-President Trump had in-
voked executive privilege both in Mr. Collins’s August 2 letter, as 
well as in comments reported in a Fox News segment the next day. 
He asserted that it was ‘‘extremely unfair’’ for the Select Com-
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59 See Appendix, Ex. 12 (Letter from Chairman Thompson to Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark, 
Nov. 17, 2021). 

60 See Appendix, Exs. 13 and 14 (Letters from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to Chairman 
Thompson, Nov. 29, 2021). 

61 Mr. MacDougald had previously represented to the Select Committee that Mr. Clark ‘‘had 
nothing to do with the January 6 protests or the incursion of some into the Capitol.’’ See, e.g., 
Appendix, Exs. 4 and 11. 

62 McGrain, 273 U.S. at 174 (‘‘We are of opinion that the power of inquiry—with process to 
enforce it—is an essential and appropriate auxiliary to the legislative function.’’); Barenblatt v. 
United States, 360 U.S. 109, 111 (1959) (‘‘The scope of the power of inquiry, in short, is as pene-

Continued 

mittee to force Mr. Clark to testify before there had been a final 
resolution of the executive privilege issues raised in the Trump v. 
Thompson litigation. In addition, Mr. MacDougald objected to 
DOJ’s July 26 letter authorizing Mr. Clark to testify on matters of 
interest to the Select Committee relating to information acquired 
during his DOJ service. He also asserted that the areas about 
which the Select Committee sought Mr. Clark’s testimony and doc-
uments under the subpoena exceeded those authorized under the 
Select Committee’s organizing resolution, claiming that Mr. Clark 
had no involvement of any sort with the events that occurred on 
January 6th. Mr. MacDougald’s November 12 response also made 
several other objections unrelated to questions of executive privi-
lege, including an assertion that the Select Committee’s subpoena 
was invalid. Mr. MacDougald’s November 12 response closed with 
the unsupported assertion that the Select Committee was seeking 
to ‘‘relitigate the failed second impeachment of President Trump’’ 
through an unconstitutional process. 

On November 17, 2021, Chairman THOMPSON sent a letter to Mr. 
MacDougald addressing the various claims raised in the November 
12 letter.59 The Chairman noted that Mr. MacDougald had failed 
to provide any legal authority justifying Mr. Clark’s continuing re-
fusal to provide testimony and documents compelled by the sub-
poena. The Chairman also addressed the various challenges Mr. 
MacDougald made with respect to the scope of the Select Commit-
tee’s work, its authority to issue subpoenas, and the fairness of the 
deposition process. The Chairman set forth the governing resolu-
tions, House rules, and caselaw that justified the actions taken and 
the process followed with respect to Mr. Clark. 

On November 29, 2021, Mr. MacDougald sent two letters to 
Chairman THOMPSON challenging the authority of the Select Com-
mittee to issue deposition subpoenas and raising various concerns 
supposedly prompted by his review of the deposition transcript.60 
Mr. MacDougald reiterated Mr. Clark’s continued refusal to answer 
questions at a deposition, instead proposing that Mr. Clark appear 
at a public hearing of the Select Committee to testify as to certain 
matters Mr. MacDougald deemed ‘‘appropriately tailored to the 
Committee’s mission under H. Res. 503,’’ namely, comments Mr. 
Clark made to a reporter after January 6th regarding the events 
at the Capitol and ‘‘his role, if any, in planning, attending, respond-
ing to, or investigating January 6’s events or former President 
Trump’s speech on the Ellipse that same day.’’61 

C. Mr. Clark’s purported basis for non-compliance is wholly without 
merit. 

As part of its legislative function, Congress has the power to 
compel witnesses to testify and produce documents.62 An indi-



14 

trating and far-reaching as the potential power to enact and appropriate under the Constitu-
tion.’’). 

63 Watkins, 354 U.S. at 187–88 (‘‘It is unquestionably the duty of all citizens to cooperate with 
the Congress in its efforts to obtain the facts needed for intelligent legislative action.’’); see also 
Committee on the Judiciary v. Miers, 558 F. Supp.2d 53, 99 (D.D.C. 2008) (‘‘The Supreme Court 
has made it abundantly clear that compliance with a congressional subpoena is a legal require-
ment.’’) (citing United States v. Bryan, 339 U.S. 323, 331 (1950)). 

64 United States v. Bryan, 339 U.S. 323, 331 (1950). 
65 Nixon v. Administrator of General Services (GSA), 433 U.S. 425, 449 (1977) (internal quotes 

and citations omitted). 
66 Senate Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities v. Nixon, 498 F.2d 725, 7293– 

33 (D.C. Cir. 1974). 
67 In correspondence with the Select Committee, Mr. Clark has supplemented his executive 

privilege claims with a variety of claims challenging the authority of the Select Committee and 
the subpoena, including that the Select Committee was not lawfully constituted and the sub-
poena seeks irrelevant information, is duplicative of other investigatory steps the Select Com-
mittee has taken, violates House rules, is ‘‘unfair,’’ and is indicative of bias against his political 
views. Mr. Clark has not cited any legal authority for the proposition that any of these objec-
tions justify refusal to comply with a congressional subpoena because no such authority exists. 

vidual—whether a member of the public or an executive branch of-
ficial—has a legal obligation to comply with a duly issued and valid 
congressional subpoena, unless a valid and overriding privilege or 
other legal justification permits non-compliance.63 In United States 
v. Bryan, the Supreme Court stated: 

A subpoena has never been treated as an invitation to a game of hare and 
hounds, in which the witness must testify only if cornered at the end of the 
chase. If that were the case, then, indeed, the great power of testimonial com-
pulsion, so necessary to the effective functioning of courts and legislatures, 
would be a nullity. We have often iterated the importance of this public duty, 
which every person within the jurisdiction of the Government is bound to per-
form when properly summoned.64 

In United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683, 703–16 (1974), the Su-
preme Court recognized an implied constitutional privilege pro-
tecting presidential communications. The Court held that the privi-
lege is qualified, not absolute, and that it is limited to communica-
tions made ‘‘in performance of [a President’s] responsibilities of his 
office and made in the process of shaping policies and making deci-
sions.’’65 The D.C. Circuit has recognized that, under certain, lim-
ited circumstances, executive privilege may be invoked to preclude 
congressional inquiry into specific types of presidential communica-
tions.66 

Mr. Clark has refused to testify or produce documents in re-
sponse to the subpoena. Mr. Clark’s refusal to comply with the sub-
poena is ostensibly based on broad and undifferentiated assertions 
of various privileges, including claims of executive privilege pur-
portedly asserted by former-President Trump.67 As the Select Com-
mittee has repeatedly pointed out to Mr. Clark, his claims of execu-
tive privilege are wholly without merit, but even if some privilege 
applied to aspects of Mr. Clark’s testimony or document production, 
he was required to assert any testimonial privilege on a question- 
by-question basis and produce a privilege log setting forth specific 
privilege claims for each withheld document. Mr. Clark has done 
neither. 

1. Executive privilege has not been invoked. 
Mr. Clark is not able to establish the foundational element of a 

claim of executive privilege: an invocation of the privilege by the 
Executive. In United States v. Reynolds, 345 U.S. 1, 7–8 (1953), the 
Supreme Court held that executive privilege: 
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68 See also United States v. Burr, 25 F. Cas. 187, 192 (CCD Va. 1807) (ruling that President 
Jefferson had to personally identify the passages he deemed confidential and could not leave 
this determination to the U.S. Attorney). 

69 The Supreme Court has held that a former President may assert executive privilege on his 
own, but his claim should be given less weight than that of an incumbent President. Nixon v. 
GSA, 433 U.S. at 449 (the ‘‘expectation of the confidentiality of executive communications has 
always been limited and subject to erosion over time after an administration leaves office’’). The 
Court made note of the fact that neither President Ford nor President Carter supported former- 
President Nixon’s assertion of privilege, which, the Court said ‘‘detracts from the weight of his 
contention [that the disclosure of the information at issue] impermissibly intrudes into the exec-
utive function and the needs of the Executive Branch.’’ Id.; see also Trump v. Thompson, No. 
21-cv-2769, at *13 (the incumbent President ‘‘is best positioned to evaluate the long-term inter-
ests of the executive branch and to balance the benefits of disclosure against any effect on the 
[. . .] ability of future executive branch advisors to provide full and frank advice’’). 

70 See Appendix, Ex. 5. 
71 See Appendix, Exs. 8 and 10. 
72 Mr. Clark contends that certain ‘‘conditions’’ attached to Mr. Trump’s decision not to block 

testimony from Mr. Clark and other Department of Justice officials were triggered after the Au-
gust 2 letter, thereby negating Mr. Trump’s authorization for Mr. Clark to testify. (See Appen-
dix, Exs. 4 and 11.) However, the fact remains that Mr. Clark has failed to put forward any 
invocation of executive privilege or revised instructions from Mr. Trump regarding the assertion 
of privilege with respect to Mr. Clark.73 

73 Appendix, Ex. 2, at pp. 11, 16. 
74 See Appendix, Exs. 4 and 11. 
75 See Committee on the Judiciary v. McGahn, 415 F.Supp.3d 148, 214 (D.D.C. 2019) (‘‘To 

[B]elongs to the Government and must be asserted by it; it can neither be 
claimed nor waived by a private party. It is not to be lightly invoked. There 
must be a formal claim of privilege, lodged by the head of the department which 
has control over the matter, after actual personal consideration by that officer.68 

Here, the Select Committee has not been provided with any for-
mal invocation of executive privilege by the incumbent President, 
the former President69 or any other current employee of the execu-
tive branch. To the contrary, the executive branch has explicitly 
authorized Mr. Clark to provide the testimony and documents 
sought by the Select Committee. By letter dated July 26, 2021, the 
Department of Justice reminded Mr. Clark that Department attor-
neys are generally required to protect non-public information, in-
cluding information that could be subject to various privileges ‘‘law 
enforcement, deliberative process, attorney work product, attorney- 
client, and presidential communications privileges.’’ After listing 
those protective privileges, however, the Department explicitly au-
thorized Mr. Clark ‘‘to provide unrestricted testimony to [Con-
gress], irrespective of potential privilege’’ within the stated scope of 
Congress’s investigations.70 

The Select Committee has not received any formal invocation of 
privilege from the former President. Mr. Trump has had no com-
munication with the Select Committee—a fact the Select Com-
mittee has pointed out to Mr. Clark’s counsel on several occa-
sions.71 Nor has the former President provided Mr. Clark any clear 
invocation of executive privilege with respect to his testimony. In-
stead, in justifying his refusal to comply with the Select Committee 
subpoena on November 5, Mr. Clark cited to an August 2 letter 
from Mr. Trump’s counsel advising Mr. Clark that Mr. Trump 
would not seek judicial intervention to prevent his testimony before 
various congressional committees.72 Notably, as acknowledged by 
Mr. Clark’s attorney during the November 5 deposition, Mr. Clark 
relied on his interpretation of the August 2 letter as an executive 
privilege instruction from Mr. Trump without having taken any 
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72 Mr. Clark contends that certain ‘‘conditions’’ attached to Mr. Trump’s decision not to block 
testimony from Mr. Clark and other Department of Justice officials were triggered after the Au-
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73 Appendix, Ex. 2, at pp. 11, 16. 
74 See Appendix, Exs. 4 and 11. 
75 See Committee on the Judiciary v. McGahn, 415 F.Supp.3d 148, 214 (D.D.C. 2019) (‘‘To 

make the point as plain as possible, it is clear to this Court for the reasons explained above 
that, with respect to senior-level presidential aides, absolute immunity from compelled congres-
sional process simply does not exist.’’); Miers, 558 F. Supp.2d at 101 (White House counsel may 
not refuse to testify based on direction from President that testimony will implicate executive 
privilege). 

76 Courts have similarly rejected blanket, non-specific claims of executive privilege over the 
production of documents to Congress. See Comm. on Oversight & Gov’t Reform v. Holder, No. 
12-cv-1332, 2014 WL 12662665, at *2 (D.D.C. Aug. 20, 2014) (rejecting a ‘‘blanket’’ executive- 
privilege claim over subpoenaed documents). 

steps to confirm this interpretation with Mr. Trump or his rep-
resentatives. 

Under these circumstances, there is no actual claim by Mr. 
Trump of executive privilege with respect to Mr. Clark’s testimony 
and materials. 

2. Mr. Clark is not entitled to absolute immunity. 
Mr. Clark has refused to provide any responsive documents or 

answer any questions based on his asserted reliance on Mr. 
Trump’s purported invocation of executive privilege. However, even 
if Mr. Trump had invoked executive privilege, and even if certain 
testimony or documents would fall within that privilege, Mr. Clark 
would not be absolutely immune from compelled testimony before 
the Select Committee. 

In apparent recognition of the weakness of his legal position, Mr. 
Clark has repeatedly disavowed that he made any ‘‘blanket’’ or ‘‘ab-
solute’’ claim of privilege.74 Yet, he has clearly adopted such a posi-
tion: He refused to answer any substantive questions put to him 
on November 5; he walked out of the deposition; he failed to return 
when the deposition reconvened; and he rejected several opportuni-
ties to reconsider his position after being confronted with control-
ling legal authority that foreclosed his claims. 

Every court that has considered the concept of absolute immu-
nity from compelled congressional testimony has rejected it. These 
holdings have underscored that even senior White House aides who 
advise the President on official government business are not im-
mune from compelled congressional process.75 To the extent that 
testimony by Mr. Clark relates to information reached by a privi-
lege, Mr. Clark had the duty to appear before the Select Committee 
to provide testimony and invoke privilege where appropriate on a 
question-by-question basis.76 

The Select Committee directed Mr. Clark and his counsel to the 
relevant authority on this point several times—at the deposition, 
when Mr. Clark first raised the issue of executive privilege, and in 
several letters since.77 In his protracted correspondence with the 
Select Committee, Mr. Clark has assiduously avoided this clear au-
thority, and has cited no case that holds otherwise. His categorical 
refusal to answer questions and produce documents is entirely im-
proper and unsupported by legal authority.78 
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78 Even if properly raised by Mr. Clark, any claim of executive privilege would fail because 
the Select Committee’s need to investigate the facts and circumstances surrounding the January 
6th assault on the U.S. Capitol and the Nation’s democratic institutions far outweighs any exec-
utive branch interest in maintaining confidentiality, particularly where the core substance of 
Mr. Clark’s activities has already been described by others within the Department of Justice. 
See Senate Report, at pp. 19–37. As noted by DOJ, the ‘‘extraordinary events in this matter . 
. . present[] an exceptional situation in which the congressional need for information outweighs 
the Executive Branch’s interest in maintaining confidentiality.’’ Appendix, Ex. 5, at p. 2. 

79 Nixon v. GSA, 433 U.S. at 449. 
80 Id. 
81 Id., at 1116. 
82 Id., at 1111. See also Miers, 558 F. Supp.2d at 100 (privilege claimants acknowledged that 

executive privilege applies only to ‘‘a very small cadre of senior advisors’’). 
83 After Mr. Clark walked out of his deposition, Members of the Select Committee and staff 

described on the record several topics they had intended to cover with Mr. Clark. Appendix, Ex. 
2, at pp. 41–45. 

84 Appendix, Ex. 2, at p. 32. 
85 Id., at p. 29. 

3. Even if the former President had invoked executive privi-
lege and Mr. Clark had properly asserted it, the Select 
Committee seeks information from Mr. Clark to which ex-
ecutive privilege would not conceivably apply. 

The law is clear that executive privilege does not extend to dis-
cussions relating to non-governmental business or solely among 
private citizens.79 In In re Sealed Case (Espy), 121 F.3d 729, 752 
(D.C. Cir. 1997), the D.C. Circuit explained that the presidential 
communications privilege covered ‘‘communications authored or so-
licited and received by those members of an immediate White 
House adviser’s staff who have broad and significant responsibility 
for investigating and formulating the advice to be given the Presi-
dent on the particular matter to which the communications relate.’’ 
The court stressed that the privilege only applies to communica-
tions intended to advise the President ‘‘on official government mat-
ters.’’80 In Judicial Watch, Inc. v. Department of Justice, 365 F.3d 
1108, 1123 (D.C. Cir. 2004), the D.C. Circuit reaffirmed that the 
presidential communications privilege applies only to documents 
‘‘solicited and received by the President or his immediate advisers 
in the Office of the President.’’ Relying on Espy and the principle 
that ‘‘the presidential communications privilege should be con-
strued as narrowly as is consistent with ensuring that the con-
fidentiality of the President’s decision-making process is adequately 
protected,’’81 the circuit court refused to extend the privilege even 
to executive branch employees whose sole function was to provide 
advice to the President in the performance of a ‘‘quintessential and 
nondelegable Presidential power.’’82 

The Select Committee seeks information from Mr. Clark on a 
range of subjects that the presidential communications privilege 
does not reach. For example, the Select Committee seeks informa-
tion from Mr. Clark about his interactions with private citizens, 
Members of Congress, or others outside the White House related to 
the 2020 election or efforts to overturn its results.83 At his deposi-
tion, Mr. Clark refused to answer questions regarding whether he 
used his personal phone or email for official business,84 when he 
first met a specific Member of Congress,85 and what statements he 
made to the media regarding January 6th.86 Mr. Clark has failed 
to provide a specific basis for his refusal to answer these ques-
tions—none of which involve presidential communications—instead 
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86 Id., at pp. 25–26 
87 Id., at pp. 29–31. For example, when asked specifically ‘‘whether Mr. Clark used personal 

devices to communicate government business,’’ Mr. Clark’s attorney responded: ‘‘Given the lack 
of specificity of the question, we can do no more than allude to the privileges that are asserted 
in the letter, which are the full panoply of executive, Federal law enforcement, and so on, privi-
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rights].’’Id., at pp. 33–34. 

88 See Espy, 121 F.3d at 752 (‘‘the privilege only applies to communications . . . in the course 
of performing their function of advising the President on official government matters’’); cf. In 
re Lindsey, 148 F.3d 1100, 1106 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (Deputy White House Counsel’s ‘‘advice [to the 
President] on political, strategic, or policy issues, valuable as it may have been, would not be 
shielded from disclosure by the attorney-client privilege.’’). 

89 See Appendix, Ex. 4. 
90 See, e.g., Christopher M. Davis, Todd Garvey, and Ben Wilhelm, ‘‘Congressional Oversight 

Manual,’’ Congressional Research Service, (RL30240, Mar. 31, 2021), pp. 61–64. 
91 See Appendix, Ex. 2, at pp. 35–36; Appendix, Ex. 10. 
92 The general subject matter of the communications is particularly critical here, where it is 

questionable as to whether Mr. Clark was providing legal advice within the scope of an attor-
ney-client relationship. See Lindsey, 148 F.3d at 1106 (‘‘advice on political, strategic, or policy 
issues, valuable as it may have been, would not be shielded from disclosure by the attorney- 
client privilege’’). 

93 Id. Of course, the attorney-client relationship privilege would only apply to those commu-
nications that qualify based on their substance and over which confidentiality has been main-
tained. The attorney-client ‘‘privilege applies only if (1) the asserted holder of the privilege is 
. . . a client; (2) the person to whom the communication was made . . . is acting as a lawyer; 

pointing generally to his counsel’s November 5 letter.87 That No-
vember 5 letter, however, provided no authority or argument to jus-
tify Mr. Clark’s refusal to answer questions on these topics. 

Even with respect to Select Committee inquiries that involve Mr. 
Clark’s direct communications with Mr. Trump, executive privilege 
does not bar Select Committee access to that information. Execu-
tive privilege reaches only those communications that relate to offi-
cial government business.88 Here, it appears that much of Mr. 
Clark’s conduct regarding subjects of concern to the Select Com-
mittee did not relate to official government business. For example, 
Mr. Clark’s efforts regarding promoting unsupported election fraud 
allegations with state officials constituted an initiative that Mr. 
Clark apparently initially kept secret from DOJ and then, when re-
vealed, continued to pursue, even after being explicitly instructed 
to stop. 

4. Mr. Clark has not established that any testimony or docu-
ments are protected by the attorney-client privilege. 

Mr. Clark has also made unspecific claims that the subpoena im-
plicates the attorney-client privilege and the work product doc-
trine.89 As an initial matter, under longstanding congressional 
precedent, recognition of common law privileges such as the attor-
ney-client privilege is at the discretion of congressional commit-
tees.90 Further, Mr. Clark has failed to articulate a coherent argu-
ment regarding the applicability of the attorney-client privilege to 
the specific information sought by the Select Committee. Despite 
repeated requests,91 Mr. Clark has failed to identify the client who 
could have an interest in protecting the confidentiality of commu-
nications with Mr. Clark or the subject matter of any purportedly 
privileged conversations.92 ‘‘It is settled law that the party claiming 
the privilege bears the burden of proving that the communications 
are protected,’’ and to carry this burden one ‘‘must present the un-
derlying facts demonstrating the existence of the privilege.’’93 Fur-
ther, as with assertions of other privileges, ‘‘[a] blanket assertion 
of the [attorney client] privilege will not suffice.’’94 
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95 Mr. Clark has also claimed that ‘‘ethical considerations’’ prevent his testimony, citing D.C. 
Bar Ethics Opinion No. 288 (See Appendix, Ex. 4, at p. 8). That opinion actually allows lawyers 
to produce information to Congress when given the choice between production or contempt. 

96 Trump v. Thompson, No. 21-cv-2769 (D.D.C. Nov. 9, 2021) at *20. 

To the extent Mr. Clark believes a privilege applies, he was re-
quired to assert it specifically as to communications or documents, 
providing the Select Committee with sufficient information on 
which to evaluate each contention. He has not done so.95 

5. The pendency of litigation involving the former President 
does not justify Mr. Clark’s refusal to testify or produce 
documents. 

In his November 8 letter, Mr. Clark’s counsel stated that his 
‘‘threshold objection’’ is not based on ‘‘purported executive-privilege 
absolutism,’’ but rather that the mere pendency of litigation initi-
ated by Mr. Trump regarding production of documents by the Na-
tional Archives pursuant to the Presidential Records Act absolves 
Mr. Clark from compliance with a congressional subpoena. This is 
not a valid objection to a subpoena, and the Select Committee is 
not aware of any legal authority that supports this position. More-
over, the issues raised in the National Archives litigation (Trump 
v. Thompson) are wholly separate and distinct from those raised by 
Mr. Clark, and the result in that case will not justify his refusal 
to testify, no matter the outcome. 

The dispute in Trump v. Thompson is whether a former Presi-
dent’s assertion of executive privilege alone pursuant to statutory 
mechanism can prevent the Archivist from complying with the 
Presidential Records Act and turning over documents in the Archi-
vist’s possession in response to a congressional request that is au-
thorized by the statute. In that case, the former President has 
made a formal invocation of executive privilege and has taken legal 
action to assert that privilege. The district court has held that a 
former President may not block compliance with the Presidential 
Records Act where the incumbent President has declined to assert 
privilege and has authorized the release of the requested docu-
ments.96 

Mr. Trump has appealed the district court’s adverse ruling. But 
resolution of Trump v. Thompson will not resolve Mr. Clark’s un-
differentiated claims of privilege. However Trump v. Thompson is 
resolved, it will not change the fact that Mr. Trump did not clearly 
invoke executive privilege with respect to the information sought 
by the Select Committee’s subpoena to Mr. Clark. Nor would it 
alter Mr. Clark’s obligation to appear for his deposition and assert 
executive privilege with respect to specific questions and docu-
ments. Nor would any ruling pull within the privilege testimony 
outside the limited sphere of executive privilege defined by the Su-
preme Court in U.S. v. Nixon and its progeny. In short, even a dra-
matic reversal and resounding victory for Mr. Trump in the Trump 
v. Thompson case would not justify Mr. Clark’s defiance of the sub-
poena. 

Mr. Clark has cited no authority for the proposition that he may 
avoid a subpoena on the ground that the law—on an unrelated 
issue in litigation that does not involve or implicate him—might 
change in his favor with the passage of time. As the Supreme 
Court noted, a congressional subpoena is not ‘‘a game of hare and 
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97 Bryan, 339 U.S. at 331. 
98 The Select Committee did not accept the ‘‘proposal’’ set forth by Mr. Clark’s attorney in No-

vember 29, 2021, correspondence with the Select Committee, whereby Mr. Clark would testify 
only at a public hearing before the full Select Committee, and only on topics of his choosing. 
This was not an appropriate accommodation, particularly as Mr. Clark had already advised the 
Select Committee that he had no substantive information to share on the topics referenced in 
the proposal. See Appendix, Ex. 4, at p. 11 (‘‘Mr. Clark had nothing to do with the January 6 
protests or incursion of some into the Capitol.’’); Appendix, Ex. 11, at p. 4 (‘‘Mr. Clark had zero 
involvement in the events of January 6th’’). 

99 Eastland v. United States Servicemen’s Fund, 421 U.S. 491 (1975). 
100 See 2 U.S.C. § 194. 

hounds, in which the witness must testify only if cornered at the 
end of the chase.’’97 Mr. Clark was required to testify and produce 
documents. His failure to do so constitutes contempt.98 

D. Precedent Supports the Select Committee’s Position to Proceed 
with Holding Mr. Clark in Contempt. 

An individual who fails or refuses to comply with a House sub-
poena may be cited for contempt of Congress.99 Pursuant to 2 
U.S.C. § 192, the willful refusal to comply with a congressional sub-
poena is punishable by a fine of up to $100,000 and imprisonment 
for up to 1 year. A committee may vote to seek a contempt citation 
against a recalcitrant witness. This action is then reported to the 
House. If a resolution to that end is adopted by the House, the 
matter is referred to a U.S. Attorney, who has a duty to refer the 
matter to a grand jury for an indictment.100 

The Chairman of the Select Committee repeatedly advised Mr. 
Clark that his claims of privilege are not well-founded and did not 
absolve him of his obligation to produce documents and provide 
deposition testimony. The Chairman repeatedly warned Mr. Clark 
that his continued non-compliance would put him in jeopardy of a 
vote to refer him to the House to consider a criminal contempt re-
ferral. Mr. Clark’s failure to testify or produce responsive docu-
ments in the face of this clear advisement and warning by the 
Chairman constitutes a willful failure to comply with the subpoena. 

SELECT COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION 

The Select Committee met on Wednesday, December 1, 2021, 
with a quorum being present, to consider this Report and ordered 
it and the Resolution contained herein to be favorably reported to 
the House, without amendment, by a recorded vote of 9 ayes to 0 
noes. 

SELECT COMMITTEE VOTES 

Clause 3(b) of rule XIII requires the Select Committee to list the 
recorded votes during consideration of this Report: 

1. A motion by Ms. CHENEY to report the Select Committee Re-
port for a Resolution Recommending that the House of Representa-
tives find Jeffrey Bossert Clark in Contempt of Congress for Re-
fusal to Comply with a Subpoena Duly Issued by the Select Com-
mittee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on the United States 
Capitol favorably to the House was agreed to by a recorded vote of 
9 ayes to 0 noes (Rollcall No. 2). 
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Select Committee Rollcall No. 2 

Motion by Ms. Cheney to Favorably Report 
Agreed to: 9 ayes to 0 noes 

Members Vote 

Ms. Cheney, Vice Chair ............................................................................... Aye 
Ms. Lofgren .................................................................................................. Aye 
Mr. Schiff ..................................................................................................... Aye 
Mr. Aguilar ................................................................................................... Aye 
Mrs. Murphy (FL) ......................................................................................... Aye 
Mr. Raskin ................................................................................................... Aye 
Mrs. Luria .................................................................................................... Aye 
Mr. Kinzinger ................................................................................................ Aye 
Mr. Thompson (MS), Chairman ................................................................... Aye 

SELECT COMMITTEE OVERSIGHT FINDINGS 

In compliance with clause 3(c)(1) of rule XIII, the Select Com-
mittee advises that the oversight findings and recommendations of 
the Select Committee are incorporated in the descriptive portions 
of this Report. 

CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET OFFICE ESTIMATE 

The Select Committee finds the requirements of clause 3(c)(2) of 
rule XIII and section 308(a) of the Congressional Budget Act of 
1974, and the requirements of clause 3(c)(3) of rule XIII and section 
402 of the Congressional Budget Act of 1974, to be inapplicable to 
this Report. Accordingly, the Select Committee did not request or 
receive a cost estimate from the Congressional Budget Office and 
makes no findings as to the budgetary impacts of this Report or 
costs incurred to carry out the Report. 

STATEMENT OF GENERAL PERFORMANCE GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

Pursuant to clause 3(c)(4) of rule XIII, the objective of this Re-
port is to enforce the Select Committee’s authority to investigate 
the facts, circumstances, and causes of the January 6th attack on 
the U.S. Capitol and issues relating to the peaceful transfer of 
power, in order to identify and evaluate problems and to rec-
ommend corrective laws, policies, procedures, rules, or regulations; 
and to enforce the Select Committee’s subpoena authority found in 
section 5(c)(4) of House Resolution 503. 
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APPENDIX 

Exhibits referenced above are as follows: 
1. Subpoena to Jeffrey B. Clark. 
2. Transcript of November 5, 2021 Deposition of Jeffrey B. 

Clark. 
3. Staff Email to Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark on November 

3, 2021. 
4. Letter from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to Chairman 

Thompson on November 5, 2021. 
5. Letter from Department of Justice to Jeffrey B. Clark on 

July 26, 2021. 
6. Staff Email to Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark on November 

5, 2021. 
7. Email from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to Select Com-

mittee Staff on November 5, 2021. 
8. Letter from Chairman Thompson to Counsel for Jeffrey B. 

Clark on November 5, 2021. 
9. Letter from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to Chairman 

Thompson on November 8, 2021. 
10. Letter from Chairman Thompson to Counsel for Jeffrey 

B. Clark on November 9, 2021. 
11. Letter and Memo from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to 

Chairman Thompson on November 12, 2021. 
12. Letter from Chairman Thompson to Counsel for Jeffrey 

B. Clark on November 17, 2021. 
13. Letter from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to Chairman 

Thompson on November 29, 2021. 
14. Letter from Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark to Chairman 

Thompson on November 29, 2021. 
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Exhibit 1 — Subpoena to Jeffrey B. Clark 











Jeffrey B. Clark, Esq. 

Page 3 

SCHEDULE 

In accordance with the attached Definitions and Instrnctions, you, Jeffrey B. Clark, are hereby 
required to produce, all documents and communications in your possession, custody, or 

control including any such documents or communications stored or located on personal devices 

(e.g., personal computers, cellular phones, tablets, etc.), in personal accounts and/or on personal 

applications ( e.g., email accounts, contact lists, calendar entries, etc.)- referring or relating to 

the following items. If no date range is specified below, the applicable dates are for the time 
period April 1, 2020-present. 

1. Communications referring or relating in any way to plans, efforts, or discussions

regarding the Department of Justice's involvement in investigating allegations of election
fraud in the 2020 Presidential election.

2. All documents and communications relating in any way to a draft letter (including
previous drafts of the letter) from the Department of Justice to state officials regarding

the convening of a special legislative session, delay in certification of election results, or

any other matters concerning the fall 2020 election.

3. From November 3, 2020, through January 20, 2021, communications relating in any way
to a possible press conference or other public statement by the Department of Justice
regarding investigations of allegations of election fraud.

4. All documents and communications relating in any way to the possibility of the

Department of Justice filing documents in the United States Supreme Court regarding

allegations of.election fraud and/or the certification of the results of the election.

5. All documents and communications relating in any way to a November 9, 2020,

memorandum from Attorney General William Barr concerning investigation of voter

fraud allegations.

6. From November 3, 2020, through January 20, 2021, all documents provided to you for

reviewing, assessing, or reporting on the security of election systems in the United States.

7. From November 3, 2020, through January 20, 2021, all documents and communications

provided to you relating in any way to purported election irregularities, election-related

fraud, or other election-related malfeasance.

8. All documents and communications relating in any way to specific allegations of voter
fraud in Georgia, Pennsylvania, Michigan, Arizona, or any other state·s.



Jeffrey B. Clark, Esq. 
· Page 4

9. All docwnents and communications relating in any way to alleged interference with the
tabulation of votes by machines manufactured by Dominion Voting Systems.

10. All docwnents and communications relating in any way to alleged interference in the fall
2020 election by foreign govermnents, organizations, or individuals.

11. Any documents and communications relating in any way to foreign influence in the
United States 2020 Presidential election through social media narratives and
disinformation.

12. All communications with former President Tmmp, former Chief Staff to the President
Mark Meadows, or other individual who worked in the White House complex during the
Tmmp Administration, including any employee or detailee, relating in any way to
allegations of fraud in the fall 2020 election.

13. All communications with Representative Scott Perry or other Members of Congress
relating in any way to allegations of fraud in the fall 2020 election, or to delaying or
preventing the certification of the election of Joe Biden as President.

14. All communications with attorneys representing President Trwnp or the Tmmp re­
election campaign relating in any way to litigation involving the fall 2020 election.

15. All communication with the Tmmp re-election campaign relating in any way to the fall
2020 election.

16. All communications with Professor Jobo Eastman relating in any way to the fall 2020
election.

17. All documents and comm1mications relating in any way to state legislatures' selection, or
potential selection, of alternate sets of electors to cast electoral votes in the fall 2020
election.

18. All docwnents and communications relating in any way to Congress's or the Vice
President's role and authority when counting electoral votes.
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Exhibit 2 — Transcript of November 5, 2021 
Deposition of Jeffrey B. Clark 
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For THE WITNESS:   1 

 2 

HARRY MACDOUGALD  3 

Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 
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 1 

 2 

.  Good morning.  This is a deposition of Jeffrey B. Clark, conducted by 3 

the House Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on the U.S. Capitol, 4 

pursuant to House Resolution 503.   5 

Mr. Clark, if you could please state your full name and spell your last name for the 6 

record. 7 

The Witness.  Sure.  Jeffrey B. Clark.  Clark is C-l-a-r-k. 8 

.  This will be a staff-led deposition.  Members of the select 9 

committee, I believe, are already in attendance and may also choose to ask questions.   10 

My name is , and I'm the chief investigative counsel to the select 11 

committee.  I think we have Vice Chair Cheney, Ms. Lofgren, two members of the select 12 

committee, who are attending via Webex.   13 

We are conducting a deposition in person.  14 

So, under the House deposition rules, neither committee members nor staff may 15 

discuss the substance of the testimony that you provide today, unless the committee 16 

approves release.  This is essentially an executive session of the select committee.   17 

You and your attorney will have an opportunity to review the transcript.  The 18 

court reporter is taking a verbatim account of the testimony.  And you'll have a chance, 19 

Mr. Clark, to read that and review it before it is finalized to ensure that it is correct.  20 

Before we begin, I would like to describe just a few ground rules.  We'll follow the 21 

House deposition rules that we have provided to your counsel, Mr. MacDougald, 22 

previously.  Under the House deposition rules, counsel for other persons or government 23 

agencies may not attend, but you are permitted to have your attorney present, and I see 24 

that you do have your attorney with you. 25 
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Mr. MacDougald, if you could just introduce yourself and spell your name for the 1 

court reporter?  2 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes, sir.  My name is Harry MacDougald.  I represent Mr. Clark 3 

in this proceeding.  My last name is spelled M-a-c, capital D-o-u-g-a-l-d. 4 

.  So, as noted, there is an official reporter transcribing the record of 5 

the deposition.  Please wait until each question is completed before you begin your 6 

response.  We will try to wait until your response is complete before we ask our next 7 

question.  The stenographer cannot record nonverbal responses, such as shaking your 8 

head.  So it's important that you answer each question with an audible verbal response.   9 

We ask that you provide complete answers based on your best recollection.  If a 10 

question is not clear, please ask for clarification.  If you do not know the answer, then just 11 

simply say so.  You may only refuse to answer a question to preserve a privilege 12 

recognized by the select committee.  If you refuse to answer a question based on 13 

privilege, staff may either proceed with the deposition or seek a ruling from the chairman 14 

based on the objection.  If the chairman overrules such an objection, you are required to 15 

answer the question. 16 

I also have to remind you that it is unlawful to deliberately provide false 17 

information to Congress.  Since your deposition is under oath, we ask that you please 18 

stand and raise your right hand to be sworn by the court reporter.   19 

[Witness sworn.]  20 

BY : 21 

Q So, Mr. Clark, I want to give you a chance to open -- to provide any opening 22 

comments you have.  But I just want to make sure you know who everyone is on our side 23 

of the table.   24 

So I'll introduce myself.  I am the chief investigative counsel.  With me is  25 
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 and , who are senior investigative counsel; , who is an 1 

investigative counsel;  and , who are also counsel to the committee; 2 

and I see , who is the deputy staff director and chief counsel to the select 3 

committee; and , who is our parliamentarian.  , who is a 4 

researcher, is here as well.   5 

On the video, again, I think , our staff director, has joined.  And I also 6 

introduced before Ms. Lofgren and Ms. Cheney. 7 

So, with that, if there is anything --  8 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes.  I would like to advise counsel and the committee that I 9 

delivered a letter to , which was addressed to Representative Thompson, on 10 

behalf of Mr. Clark that asserts executive privilege with respect to testimony and 11 

documents that have been subpoenaed from Mr. Clark.   12 

The grounds of our assertion are set forth in the letter.  It is 12 pages.  And, based 13 

on those objections, we do not intend to answer any questions or produce any 14 

documents today, but we have appeared in compliance with the subpoena in order to 15 

assert those objections, as opposed to just refusing to show up.   16 

.  All right.  So I appreciate that the letter has been delivered.  We did 17 

receive it, as you -- 18 

Mr. MacDougald.  And I actually have some copies for other counsel, a few.  19 

Maybe not for everybody, but I would be happy to pass those around, keeping one for 20 

myself.  21 

.  Thank you, Mr. MacDougald. 22 

So let me make sure I understand.  The letter, which I haven't had a chance to 23 

read yet, sets forth the position that Mr. Clark will not answer any question, regardless of 24 

its subject matter.  25 
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Mr. MacDougald.  Correct.  1 

.  Due to executive privilege.  2 

Mr. MacDougald.  Correct.  3 

.  Will also not produce any documents. 4 

The Witness.  Correct. 5 

Mr. MacDougald.  And I interrupt just to say also on the basis that it would be 6 

prudent to await the conclusion with finality of the judicial review proceedings that are 7 

going on in the DDC.  8 

.  Again, I haven't had a chance to read the letter.  But I will say for the 9 

record that our intention today was to ask questions well beyond direct communications 10 

with the former President, questions about your involvement with Members of Congress, 11 

questions about your work within the Department of Justice, your interaction within the 12 

Department well beyond direct communications with the President.   13 

Again, still your position that, beyond direct communications, all of the entire 14 

subject matter is subject to executive privilege?   15 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes.  That is our position, .  And the reason for that 16 

is that the privileges that are under the overall umbrella of executive privilege are 17 

numerous, including Presidential communications.  In addition, as a Department of 18 

Justice official, there is a law enforcement privilege, law enforcement investigation 19 

privilege.  There are -- there is a deliberative process privilege.  There are any number, 20 

not to mention the attorney-client privilege.  So all of these things are applicable in this 21 

context.  I understand that's disputed by the committee.  22 

.  Uh-huh.  23 

Mr. MacDougald.  And I don't want to get into an argument with you all about 24 

that today.  That's being argued in court.  And there will ultimately be a decision about 25 
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that.  We don't know where that line is going to be drawn. 1 

Mr. Clark finds himself in a position of having worked for a President who has 2 

asserted executive privilege, giving him a letter asserting executive privilege.  And, 3 

therefore, as his lawyer, I can't allow him to be exposed to the risk of guessing where that 4 

line is going to be drawn.  And so, for now, we are standing on executive privilege.  We 5 

will not be answering any questions or producing any documents.  6 

.  You are in receipt, Mr. Clark, of -- are you not, of a letter dated July 7 

21st, I believe, of earlier this year, from the Department of Justice, indicating that, in view 8 

of the current White House, the current Department of Justice, it would not be 9 

appropriate to assert executive privilege?   10 

Mr. MacDougald.  We understand that's the position of the Department of Justice 11 

on this matter -- 12 

The Witness.  But I --  13 

Mr. MacDougald.  And the White House.  I mean, he did receive a letter.  Okay? 14 

The Witness.  I want to reserve all rights as to that letter, including rights to -- to 15 

make any and all arguments about it, but I am in receipt of the letter, yes.  16 

.  Okay.  Can we take 5 minutes?   17 

Mr. MacDougald.  Sure.  18 

.  I just want to consult with the parliamentarian about sort of what, if 19 

anything, we need to do on the record to preserve the ongoing conversation.  20 

Mr. MacDougald.  Sure. 21 

.  I appreciate it.  Thank you. 22 

Mr. MacDougald.  Thank you, sir.   23 

.  So we'll take a brief recess.   24 

[Recess.]  25 
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BY : 1 

Q Thank you for your indulgence.  I had a chance to quickly look at the letter.  2 

And I do want to ask a few questions just to clarify more specifically the basis of the 3 

privilege assertion and ensure that we have on the record some of the things that 4 

happened before today.   5 

So, Mr. Clark, you were subpoenaed back on October 13th to appear before the 6 

select committee, and we agreed to defer that to today when you obtained new counsel, 7 

Mr. MacDougald.  Is that right?  8 

A That's correct.  9 

Q And were you given, and I asked you about this before, a letter back -- dated 10 

July 26th of 2021, that -- and I'm going to quote from it.  It was from the Department of 11 

Justice, indicating that committees had sought your testimony about any efforts by 12 

President Trump or any DOJ officials to advance unsubstantiated allegations of voter 13 

fraud, challenge the 2020 election results, stop Congress' count of the electoral college 14 

vote, or overturn President Biden's certified victory.   15 

And, in response to congressional inquiries on those subject matters, the 16 

Department of Justice indicated -- and I'm going to quote again -- given these 17 

extraordinary circumstances, including President Biden's determination that executive 18 

privilege -- determination on executive privilege, which was that it wouldn't be 19 

appropriate, and having reviewed the scope of the committee's request and reviews, the 20 

Department authorizes you to provide unrestricted testimony to the committees 21 

irrespective of potential privilege, as long as the testimony is confined to the scope of the 22 

interviews as set forth by the committees.  And you received that letter back in July.  Is 23 

that right?  24 

A I've answered that question already.  I will refer to counsel. 25 
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Q And are you aware that other representatives of the Department of Justice, 1 

frankly your superiors at the time that you were employed there, received a similar letter 2 

and have provided testimony to congressional committees?  3 

A Yes.  4 

Q And, yet, your position today is in stark contrast to theirs.   5 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes, we address that in the letter.  6 

.  Okay.   7 

BY : 8 

Q Now, in the letter, which, again, I appreciate you giving us this morning, but 9 

we have not had a chance to review before.  10 

Mr. MacDougald.  And I would like, on the record, to apologize to you, 11 

, and to the committee and staff for being so late in delivering this item to you 12 

when you were inquiring about our position.  So, two things:  One, I want to thank you for 13 

the one-week extension.  Very much appreciate it.  But, secondly, to apologize for the 14 

inconvenience.  Having just gotten into the matter, we have been working on this right up 15 

until yesterday afternoon and preparing what we were going to say, and we just weren't 16 

ready to tell you.   17 

.  Mr. MacDougald, I understand.  These are important issues, and we 18 

want to make sure you and your client are fully prepared.   19 

Mr. MacDougald.  It is a very important matter.   20 

.  We are trying our best to get to the facts and want to make sure we 21 

are treating all witnesses with fairness and professional consideration.   22 

But, going back to the letter, attached to the letter is a letter that you received 23 

from Doug Collins, who represented the former President, that essentially says, upon 24 

receipt of that DOJ authorization, that the former President will not seek judicial 25 
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intervention to prevent your testimony or the testimony of the other Department of 1 

Justice officials who have already received letters from the Department similar to July 2 

26th, 2021, letter.   3 

So you attach a letter explicitly from the former President saying that he would 4 

not seek judicial intervention to prevent you from going forward with this deposition or 5 

other inquiries from Congress.   6 

Mr. MacDougald.  , we address the letter and what it means in detail 7 

in our letter.  And we do not agree with the characterization that you just made of that 8 

letter.  We view that letter as directly asserting executive privilege.  And the nonobjection 9 

statement that you read from is expressly conditioned on certain things not happening.  10 

Those things have happened.   11 

Furthermore, the President has in fact filed suit asserting executive privilege 12 

against the committee, and specifically, he referenced his invocation of executive 13 

privilege with respect to former DOJ personnel, such as Mr. Clark.  So, under the 14 

circumstances, I represent a client who asked -- the President for whom he worked has 15 

unequivocally asserted executive privilege.   16 

I understand that you all don't agree with that, and you think the current 17 

President has the authority to waive it.  We don't agree with that.  That's being decided in 18 

court now. 19 

.  Has there been any further communication, direct communication, 20 

from the former President's representatives to Mr. Clark about executive privilege?   21 

Mr. MacDougald.  I have had no communication with any attorney for Mr. Trump 22 

about any of this.   23 

.  Your letter indicates -- and I'm looking at pages 2 and 3 -- that the 24 

former President did directly direct other witnesses who have been subpoenaed by the 25 
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subcommittee -- Mark Meadows, Dan Scavino, Kash Patel, and Steve Bannon -- asserting 1 

-- instructing them not to testify.  Did you get any similar communication from the former 2 

President similarly directing that you not provide testimony?   3 

Mr. MacDougald.  We contend the August 2nd letter from Mr. Collins on its face 4 

and in light of subsequent developments constitutes such a direction. 5 

.  And your letter also cites the pending litigation.  So, to be clear 6 

about your position, the pending litigation that the President has filed, Trump v. 7 

Thompson, in the D.C. district court governs, in your view, your ability to testify to the 8 

select committee without regard to executive privilege.  9 

Mr. MacDougald.  That's not accurate.   10 

.  Okay.  Well, help me understand.  11 

Mr. MacDougald.  So the President has asserted executive privilege.  He's 12 

instructed Mr. Clark to assert executive privilege.   13 

.  And your view is -- I'm sorry to interrupt you. 14 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes.   15 

.  But that is in the August the 2nd letter?  16 

Mr. MacDougald.  And in light of subsequent developments and in light of 17 

footnote 2 in their brief, in their original brief in support of the application for preliminary 18 

injunction.  So all those things together clearly instruct Mr. Clark to abide by President 19 

Trump's invocation of executive privilege.  And, as his attorney, I cannot expose him to 20 

the risk of going against that.   21 

.  Let me pause and see if anybody else -- go ahead, .   22 

Mr. Schiff, do you have any questions?  23 

Mr. Schiff.  I do.  I just want to make sure that I understand correctly.  You have 24 

not received any communication from the President instructing Mr. Clark to assert 25 
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executive privilege.  Is that correct?   1 

Mr. MacDougald.  That is not correct.  I've just explained that.   2 

Mr. Schiff.  No, you haven't.  So have you received a letter --  3 

Mr. MacDougald.  You may not agree with the explanation, but it is an 4 

explanation.  We have a letter from August 2nd asserting --   5 

Mr. Schiff.  Well --  6 

Mr. MacDougald.  -- the privilege.  We have subsequent developments that 7 

invalidate the conditions to testimony --  8 

Mr. Schiff.  Mr. --  9 

Mr. MacDougald.  -- we have the President's lawsuit.   10 

Mr. Schiff.  Do you have a letter from the President instructing Mr. Clark to assert 11 

executive privilege?   12 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes.   13 

Mr. Schiff.  Do you have one or do you not?   14 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes.  It is attached to my letter. 15 

Mr. Schiff.  Is that a letter to Mr. Clark?  16 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes.  It is.   17 

Mr. Schiff.  From the President's counsel instructing him to assert executive 18 

privilege. 19 

Mr. MacDougald.  That's correct. 20 

Mr. Schiff.  Can I see that letter?   21 

This is the letter that concludes:  Nonetheless, to avoid further distraction and 22 

without in any way otherwise waiving executive privilege associated with matters the 23 

committee are purporting to investigate, President Trump will not agree -- will agree not 24 

to seek judicial intervention to prevent your testimony or the testimony of five other 25 
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former Department officials (Richard Donoghue, Patrick Hovakimian, Byung "BJay" Pak, 1 

Bobby Christine, and Jeffrey Clark) who have already received letters from the 2 

Department similar to the July 26th letter you received.  As long as the committees do not 3 

seek privileged information from any other Trump administration officials or advisers.  If 4 

the committee do seek such information, however, we will take all necessary appropriate 5 

steps on President Trump's behalf to defend the Office of the Presidency.   6 

This is the letter you're referring to?   7 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes, Mr. Schiff.  I apologize for the --  8 

Mr. Schiff.  And you are aware that President Trump has not sought judicial 9 

intervention to prevent Mr. Clark's testimony?  10 

Mr. MacDougald.  Not specifically as to Mr. Clark, but the current lawsuit against 11 

the committee specifically refers to the invocation of executive privilege as to persons like 12 

Mr. Clark in footnote 2 of the opening brief in support of their application for preliminary 13 

injunction, which has been delivered, of course, to committee counsel.   14 

Mr. Schiff.  I just want to make sure that I have the chronology correct.  The 15 

President's counsel wrote to Mr. Clark saying that they would not seek judicial 16 

intervention to prevent his testimony, and they have not done so.  Correct?  17 

Mr. MacDougald.  That is not a fair or accurate summary of the letter.  The letter 18 

attaches conditions to that, and those conditions have not been met. 19 

Mr. Schiff.  Well, if, presumably, Counsel, if the conditions have not been met, 20 

President Trump was more than capable of seeking judicial intervention to stop 21 

Mr. Clark's testimony.  Correct?  22 

Mr. MacDougald.  Yes, Congressman Schiff.  23 

Mr. Schiff.  And he has not done so.  Has he?  24 

Mr. MacDougald.  Representative, we disagree with that.  And we're not here to 25 
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have an oral argument about these -- 1 

Mr. Schiff.  Counsel, I am just establishing the facts.   2 

Mr. MacDougald.  Well, the facts are plain in the documents.   3 

Mr. Schiff.  And you are aware, Mr. Clark, that those in a higher position in the 4 

Justice Department, who arguably would have a stronger claim of privilege if there was 5 

one to be made, have testified before Congress as to the same matters that you are being 6 

asked to testify? 7 

The Witness.  Mr. MacDougald has answered that question, respectfully, 8 

Representative Schiff. 9 

Mr. Schiff.  You are aware of that, Mr. MacDougald?  10 

Mr. MacDougald.  Oh, yes.  It's addressed in the letter.  It's addressed in the letter.  11 

And what I would say to you all is I don't want to get into any kind of a bickering or 12 

arguing about the contours of executive privilege and whether an argument we have 13 

made is correct in person verbally.  These are very important matters.  We have worked 14 

hard on this letter to assert the objections.  And we invite you all to respond to us, but we 15 

think that dialogue is best conducted in writing because it is so important.  And it's 16 

important to be clear and precise in what we say.   17 

And our position, we've stated it.  We're not answering questions today.  We're 18 

not producing documents today.  We are leaving the door open for further dialogue 19 

about the points being raised in the letter.  And I think that's the process that we ought to 20 

pursue.  21 

Now, you know, the Trump v. Thompson case will ultimately be decided one way 22 

or the other, and then we'll know where we stand on executive privilege.  Both sides will 23 

know. 24 

Mr. Schiff.  Before I yield back to committee counsel, I just want to state, for the 25 
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record, people in a superior position to Mr. Clark's who were at the Justice Department 1 

and were his superiors at the time of the events of interest to the committee have 2 

testified.  The current Justice Department and the current President of the United States 3 

have not asserted privilege, in fact have instructed Mr. Clark they will not assert privilege.   4 

He has refused to testify.  He has refused to testify, not on the basis of any action 5 

that President Trump has taken to seek judicial intervention in this proceeding.  We have 6 

not received any communication that I'm aware of from the former President asserting 7 

privilege.   8 

And Mr. Clark, in my opinion, is asserting -- arrogating to himself a decision that 9 

his superiors disagree with, that the President has not asserted to this committee, and in 10 

defiance of the lawful process of this committee.   11 

And I yield back to counsel.  12 

Mr. MacDougald.  And, respectfully, for the record, disagree with Congressman 13 

Schiff's assertion, but let's leave it there.   14 

.  Let me just ask, to follow up on Congressman Schiff's question, has 15 

there been any effort to confirm your interpretation of the August 2nd letter with the 16 

former President's counsel?   17 

Mr. MacDougald.  I have indicated previously I have not communicated with them, 18 

but I can read.  19 

.  So the interpretation that you're providing today that the August 20 

2nd letter is, in fact, a direction not to testify, just based on -- 21 

Mr. MacDougald.  We go through that in detail in this letter.  22 

.  Okay.   23 

Mr. MacDougald.  So there are a number of circumstances that combine the direct 24 

statements in the letter.   25 
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Beyond that, there -- the statement that you all -- the committee is relying on 1 

expressly states that it is not waiving anything, and there are conditions attached.  Those 2 

conditions are not being met, and there is a pending executive privilege lawsuit that 3 

specifically refers to people in Mr. Clark's position.  4 

.  And, again, Mr. MacDougald, I appreciate that that is your position.  I 5 

think it's important for us, as we consider options, contempt referrals or litigation, to 6 

make a record just to make sure --  7 

Mr. MacDougald.  I understand that.  8 

.  -- that we're clear as to what the basis of the assertion is, on what 9 

facts or communications it relies.  So I don't mean to sound belligerent.  I'm just trying to 10 

ensure that we understand --  11 

Mr. MacDougald.  I understand and respect that.  You have a job.  I have a job.  12 

.  To that end, we do need to go through, not every question that I 13 

would have asked, but I do need to flag particular areas that we seek to develop.  I 14 

understand your position would be, as I go through those, that you will not answer that 15 

question due to assertion of executive privilege, but that, Mr. MacDougald, establishes 16 

the factual basis of what we're seeking as we consider further proceedings.  17 

Mr. MacDougald.  We're not willing to do that.  18 

.  Well, again, this is a deposition of the select committee.  I have to go 19 

through and ask some questions that will understandably prompt privilege.  But, to 20 

ensure that the court ultimately or the Justice Department has a record of the subject 21 

matters and can evaluate the privilege claim, it's important for us to put those subject 22 

matters in the form of questions directly to Mr. Clark.   23 

Mr. MacDougald.  Let me confer with Mr. Clark.   24 

Do you mind if we step out?   25 
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.  Yes.  Of course.  We'll go off the record.   1 

[Recess.]  2 

.  Mr. MacDougald, again, our intention would be just to complete a 3 

record to ensure that the court or the Department has a clear record of the subject 4 

matters.  And we want to go through those questions, understanding that they will trigger 5 

an assertion of privilege, but we think it is important to put them to the scope of our 6 

intended areas of inquiry on the record.   7 

Mr. MacDougald.  Our position is that we have asserted the objection, and there's 8 

a pending court proceeding that will determine the contours of executive privilege with 9 

respect to the committee's investigation.  And it is premature to engage in that exercise 10 

and that it is just unproductive to engage these questions.  And we invite the committee, 11 

as we did in the letter, to have some dialogue with us.  But, pending resolution of that 12 

case, we do not think that going through that process that you described is productive or 13 

worthwhile.  It is just not what we are doing.   14 

As we say in the letter, if the committee in the meantime would like to 15 

significantly narrow the scope of the inquiry that it wishes to pursue with Mr. Clark, we 16 

are willing to discuss that and do that.  I mean, if it is more narrowly focused on the 17 

events of January 6th, that's something that we can work with you on.  But, right now, 18 

executive privilege not -- Mr. Clark has ethical responsibilities to respect the assertion of 19 

privilege until this is determined judicially.  20 

.  You, right now, have no idea exactly what it is I intend to ask 21 

Mr. Clark because I haven't had a chance yet.  We haven't had any negotiations.  We 22 

haven't had any sort of proffer or exchange of information.  So it's important, in the view 23 

of the select committee, to establish for Mr. Clark, for the Department of Justice, for 24 

potential court to evaluate the claim, to put on the record what the scope of our area of 25 
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inquiry is of Mr. Clark.  And, again, I understand that he's not going to provide -- is 1 

unlikely to provide any answers to those questions, and that is his right at this time to 2 

assert that privilege.   3 

But, to the extent we are going to challenge the privilege, Mr. MacDougald, we 4 

need a record that would form the basis of that challenge.  5 

Mr. MacDougald.  One second.  6 

[Discussion off the record.]  7 

Mr. MacDougald.  The concern that I have, , is that, at some point, this 8 

devolves into badgering the witness.  And I would be surprised if the committee 9 

undertook litigation against Mr. Clark concerning the scope of the executive privilege 10 

while the Trump v. Thompson case is ongoing.  That would be highly duplicative, wasteful 11 

of resources.  And most of those privilege questions can be answered by that case.   12 

And so, with respect to topics, you know, the assertion of privilege, it's -- you 13 

know, my client is in a bind.  He's under subpoena.  And, yet, the President that he 14 

worked for has asserted executive privilege.  Okay?  He cannot testify under those 15 

circumstances, period.   16 

And so we've got a court proceeding underway that's going to resolve the scope of 17 

that.  And the prudent thing is to let that play out.  And, like I said, in the meantime, if the 18 

committee would like to significantly narrow the scope of the inquiry, we're certainly 19 

willing to entertain that.  And, of course, we are willing to have a dialogue about the 20 

privilege assertions in the document, and if the committee chose to identify with greater 21 

specificity in that dialogue what it was seeking, and we could respond and move forward.  22 

.  Mr. MacDougald, we haven't had a chance to have this conversation 23 

because there has been no discussion, no negotiations.  24 

Mr. MacDougald.  One at a time.  25 
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.  I understand.  There is, though, the Miers case clearly rejects a 1 

blanket assertion of privilege, even when asserted by a sitting President with respect to 2 

White House counsel.  The privilege must be asserted question by question, area by area.   3 

And I understand your point about badgering.  I don't intend to badger you or 4 

Mr. Clark with those questions.   5 

With that said, it's important to get on the record the areas of inquiry so that a 6 

court could potentially adjudicate the application of a privilege.   7 

Mr. MacDougald.  I think that if the committee is interested in pursuing the 8 

inquiry, balancing Mr. Clark's interests in complying with his duties as a lawyer in light of 9 

President Trump's invocation of the privilege, the fair thing do to Mr. Clark is to let the 10 

Trump v. Thompson case play out rather than badgering.   11 

Now, if there is some alternative method of preserving the record, I'm happy to 12 

discuss that.  But I think sitting here for 5 hours while counsel and committee members 13 

propound questions that we're not going to answer is not a good use of anybody's time.  14 

And, as far as -- and, again, on the timing of this and us not having had a dialogue, before 15 

I got involved, Mr. Clark asked for a three-week extension.  That was not agreed to.  16 

That's okay.  You get to decide, which made the one week you gave me especially 17 

appreciated when I -- when we spoke.   18 

But it is a significant matter.  There are weighty and difficult legal issues involved.  19 

And, you know, I'm not going to let Mr. Clark traduce either attorney-client or executive 20 

privilege or any other privileges in response to these questions.  I don't know where that 21 

line is going to end up.  So I have to protect him.  So we are just not going to answer the 22 

questions.   23 

.  I understand.  We're talking past each other.  I'm not trying to talk 24 

you out of your position at this point.  I'm simply trying to establish a record that can be 25 
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considered by the select committee first and ultimately potentially by the Attorney 1 

General of the United States if there's a criminal contempt referral or a Federal judge if 2 

there is some sort of effort civilly to enforce the subpoena.  We don't have that complete 3 

record at this point.  I'm not saying that any of that's going to happen, but we need to 4 

create a record to consider next steps.  So it's not meant to be badgering.  I understand. 5 
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 1 

[11:00 a.m.] 2 

Mr. MacDougald.  Okay.  And my suggestion and request to the committee is to 3 

make that record after the decision is made in Trump v. Thompson, and you'll know 4 

where we stand.  5 

.  But we are not necessarily going to wait for Trump v. Thompson to 6 

be resolved before we seek enforcement action, and that's why we need to make the 7 

record today.   8 

And, again, I understand that these questions will prompt, according to what 9 

you've said thus far, some kind of executive privilege assertion.  I want to make sure we 10 

understand the basis of that assertion and that you understand and that ultimately a 11 

court understands what are the areas that we seek to develop with Mr. Clark.   12 

Again, not meant to be badgering.  It's just essentially clarifying our positions and 13 

creating a record for others to review thereafter.   14 

So let me just --  15 

Mr. MacDougald.  We are not going to participate in that, , and we are 16 

concluded, and we are leaving.   17 

.  So, to be clear, you're refusing to answer any of these questions or 18 

even go through and assert privilege question by question --  19 

Mr. MacDougald.  Correct.  20 

.  -- based on the representations in the letter and --  21 

Mr. MacDougald.  Correct.  22 

.  -- a blanket assertion?   23 

Mr. MacDougald.  Correct.   24 

.  Go ahead, Mr. Clark.  25 
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The Witness.  The blanket assertion point is inaccurate.  The points are made in 1 

the letter.  Mr. MacDougald has made the points, and we're going over the same thing 2 

again and again, and it's not productive.  And so you'll see that the letter makes the 3 

arguments about what would be prudent and efficient from this, you know, point 4 

forward, and that's what we're going to stand on.  5 

.  Uh-huh.   6 

Mr. MacDougald.  And we're -- you know, we will engage in that dialogue with 7 

you, as invited in the letter, but the process that you contemplated today will not go 8 

forward.  9 

.  Let me stop again and see if anyone else has any questions.  10 

Mr. Schiff.  I do have one question.  Well, a couple of questions.   11 

So, counsel, on behalf of your client, are you refusing to answer any questions 12 

today regarding the subject matter of our committee?   13 

Mr. MacDougald.  Our position is stated in the letter, Congressman.  14 

Mr. Schiff.  And, just for clarity, are you refusing to answer any questions about 15 

the subject matter of January 6th to our committee?   16 

Mr. MacDougald.  Well, actually, our letter invites the committee to narrow its 17 

scope to the events of January 6th.   18 

Mr. Schiff.  But, counsel, you're refusing today --  19 

Mr. MacDougald.  But the committee has not done that. 20 

Mr. Schiff.  Well, counsel for the committee was endeavoring to go through the 21 

questions and find out what your client would answer and what they would not.   22 

Do I understand your position today is that you are giving a blanket refusal to 23 

answer any questions about the events of January 6th to this committee?   24 

The Witness.  Representative Schiff, you're mischaracterizing our position.  That 25 
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question has been asked and answered about six times now.   1 

Mr. Schiff.  Well, then --  2 

The Witness.  If I had a transcript, I could count them.  3 

Mr. Schiff.  Then do you object to our asking you questions today about 4 

January 6th?   5 

The Witness.  We've already answered that question.  We think --  6 

Mr. Schiff.  So then you're refusing to answer questions today.  Just want to 7 

establish a very clean record.  You're refusing to answer any questions today about 8 

January 6th?   9 

The Witness.  We think that you need to have a dialogue with Mr. MacDougald 10 

about that before that proceeds.   11 

Mr. Schiff.  So --  12 

Mr. MacDougald.  You can take that up if the scope is narrowed.  But, as we sit, 13 

the scope is not narrowed.  14 

Mr. Schiff.  Well, counsel, this would be an opportunity for you to narrow the 15 

scope and answer questions --  16 

Mr. MacDougald.  It's not for me to narrow the scope.  17 

Mr. Schiff.  Answer questions that you believe are within the scope and refuse, 18 

and then we can decide what repercussion from that refusal.  But, today, you are refusing 19 

to answer any questions whether they're within your perceived idea of the scope of the 20 

committee or not.  Is that correct?   21 

Mr. MacDougald.  We have asserted our position that we're not answering 22 

questions today.  We've invited the committee to engage in a dialogue with us about 23 

narrowing the scope.  That invitation remains open.   24 

Mr. Schiff.  Well --  25 
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Mr. MacDougald.  But, as of this moment, the scope has not been narrowed, and 1 

the -- our position remains as previously stated.  2 

Mr. Schiff.  Well, let me ask one illustrative question, then.   3 

Mr. Clark, in your letter to the committee, you state you gave an interview to the 4 

press about January 6th, and your comments were not included in the article, and you 5 

expressed some dissatisfaction that your comments about January 6 were not included in 6 

the Bloomberg article.   7 

What were your comments to the press about January 6th?   8 

Mr. MacDougald.  I think that's stated in the letter.  9 

Mr. Schiff.  No, it isn't.   10 

What were your comments to the press about January 6th?   11 

The Witness.  It is stated in the letter, so that stands as the answer.   12 

Mr. Schiff.  Well, would you please tell us what those comments were?   13 

The Witness.  It's what the letter says, Representative. 14 

Mr. Schiff.  The letter doesn't tell us what you told the reporter, so I'm asking you:  15 

What did you tell the reporter --  16 

The Witness.  That's --  17 

Mr. Schiff.  -- about January 6th.  18 

The Witness.  That's not accurate, Representative Schiff.  If you read the letter, it 19 

represents what was stated to the reporter.   20 

Mr. Schiff.  Well, read to me from the letter what it is you told the reporter about 21 

January 6th, then, if it's included --  22 

The Witness.  Respectfully, Representative Schiff, I think that request, you know, 23 

to have me read something that's in a letter that you have is badgering.  It crosses the line 24 

into that.   25 
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Mr. Schiff.  Well, Mr. Clark, it's not in the letter.   1 

And is it your position, counsel, that somehow Mr. Clark can assert executive 2 

privilege over statements he gave to the press on behalf of the former President?   3 

Mr. MacDougald.  We made reference to that in the letter, Congressman, in the 4 

context of inviting the committee to narrow the scope.  We're happy to have that 5 

discussion, but it needs to occur in writing so that we know where we stand.   6 

Mr. Schiff.  My question is --  7 

Mr. MacDougald.  This is an important matter for Mr. Clark, and I'm advising him -- 8 

I'm trying to protect him, and I'm -- we're going to do that based on a scope that is set 9 

forth in writing that we can analyze and decide whether we're going to object to it or not.   10 

Mr. Schiff.  My --  11 

Mr. MacDougald.  We don't have that, and I'm not going to let him answer those 12 

questions.   13 

Mr. Schiff.  Counsel, you would agree, would you not, that statements your client 14 

made to the press are not covered by any conceivable privilege?  Can we agree on that?   15 

Mr. MacDougald.  Hypothetically.   16 

Mr. Schiff.  Are you objecting, nonetheless, to his answering questions about what 17 

he told the press about January 6th that were not included in an article?   18 

Mr. MacDougald.  I am objecting to the way the committee is proceeding with 19 

respect to Mr. Clark.  You have a very broad-scope subpoena that has not been narrowed, 20 

and we have invited the committee to narrow the scope and expressed a willingness to 21 

testify more narrowly about January 6th.   22 

We're not going to do that on the fly.  We'll have a dialogue with the committee 23 

as counsel, and we will proceed in an orderly manner to resolve that scope issue.  But 24 

we're not going to do it on the fly in this deposition.   25 
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Mr. Schiff.  Before I yield back to counsel, I'd like the record to reflect the witness 1 

today refuses to answer any questions about January 6th, including questions as to 2 

comments he made to the press that could not be even conceivably, I think as counsel 3 

has acknowledged, within the realm of privilege.   4 

And, with that, I yield back to committee counsel.   5 

.  Mr. MacDougald, with all due respect, Mr. Clark has been 6 

subpoenaed to appear before this committee.  It is a legal obligation, on a date certain, to 7 

answer questions.  That does not include a legal obligation by the committee to 8 

negotiate, or to set forth in advance particular subject matters.  It's a legal obligation to 9 

show up and answer questions, or to assert a privilege in response to specific questions.   10 

My understanding is that, despite that legal obligation and an offer to go through 11 

the questions and assert a privilege point by point, he's refusing to answer any such 12 

questions.  I just want to make clear that that is his position.   13 

The Witness.  The letter explains our position, and the letter is not based 14 

exclusively on executive privilege.  You need to read the letter, respectfully, , 15 

very carefully.   16 

.  Well, Mr. Clark, I just got the letter when you walked in the door --  17 

The Witness.  And that's why we're proposing that we depart for today.   18 

.  But you have a legal obligation to be here today to answer 19 

questions.   20 

The Witness.  I think, if you read the letter, you will see that even that is in 21 

dispute.   22 

.  I think your position is, again, a blanket assertion and refusal to 23 

answer --  24 

The Witness.  You continue to try to characterize my position as if it were that, but 25 
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that's a mischaracterization, and we do not accept that.   1 

.  Before we go off the record, let me see if anyone else -- Mr. Raskin, 2 

Mr. Kinzinger, Ms. Cheney -- have any questions.   3 

Mr. Raskin.  I just wonder if Mr. Clark's counsel has any authority for the 4 

proposition that he can categorically refuse to answer any questions as opposed to 5 

invoke the privilege he says he has with respect to the specific questions.   6 

Mr. MacDougald.  Our legal authority is set forth in the letter, Congressman.   7 

Mr. Raskin.  Well, the letter seems to be the magic solution for everything, but 8 

could you name the Supreme Court decision that you're refusing to?   9 

Mr. MacDougald.  Congressman Raskin, as I previously stated, we're not going to 10 

engage in legal debate or argument over this.  We've set forth a written objection.  The 11 

committee can respond to it in writing, and we'll deal with that at that time.  But we're 12 

not going to do Q&A on legal points in this deposition.   13 

Mr. Raskin.  Okay.  Well, then, I will just state for the record that the subpoenaed 14 

witness has refused to answer any questions of fact.  He's refused to engage in any 15 

questions and interpreting any questions of law and continually refers to the letter that 16 

they gave us today.  So I would just say I think that this witness is categorically refusing to 17 

engage in any of the obligations that he's required to engage in.   18 

And I'll yield back.   19 

.  Yeah.  Mr. Kinzinger, go ahead.   20 

Mr. Kinzinger.  Just -- yeah.  Just a real quick -- and, since the letter is the focus, 21 

can you tell me when this letter, if you would, was completed?  Did you finish it 5 minutes 22 

prior to coming in at 10 o'clock, being as you had a legal obligation to show up today, and 23 

is that why we just got this at this moment -- your legal obligation was completed just a 24 

couple minutes ago -- or had you had this in hand a few days prior when maybe you could 25 
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have shared it and we would have been, you know, better armed to discuss since this is 1 

the only thing you're willing to discuss?   2 

Mr. MacDougald.  Thank you, Congressman.   3 

You may not have been tuned in earlier when I explained to  my 4 

apology for giving this to him just this morning.   5 

I was just engaged last week.  We've been working continuously on this letter up 6 

through yesterday afternoon, late, and I've been conferring with Mr. Clark.  So I've been 7 

continuously involved in the preparation of this letter since sometime last week.   8 

I can't remember what day I first got started, but it was just late.  We didn't have 9 

time.  We were working on it up through yesterday.   10 

And I apologize to the committee and to counsel and committee staff for any 11 

inconvenience that the late delivery of this position may have caused.  But I'm doing the 12 

best I can.  It's just me.  It's just me trying to help Mr. Clark, and I've done everything that 13 

I could to get this ready in the time that I had available, and that went up almost to the 14 

last minute.   15 

.  Other members?  Ms. Cheney, anything from you?   16 

Ms. Cheney.  Thank you very much, , yes.  I'd like to ask the witness when he 17 

first met Congressman Scott Perry?   18 

Mr. MacDougald.  I will assert the privilege objection to that question, 19 

respectfully, Congressman Cheney.   20 

Ms. Cheney.  And what's the basis for the privilege assertion about your meeting a 21 

Member of Congress?   22 

Mr. MacDougald.  The privilege objection is set forth in the letter, Congressman.  23 

It's a detailed legal question, and the parameters of the privileges that attend aides and 24 

advisers to the President extends in many directions.  We understand that's disputed by 25 
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the committee, and it's a particular application.  But pending the resolution of the Trump 1 

v. Thompson case, we're not willing to answer any questions of that nature until we know 2 

exactly where the line is.   3 

Ms. Cheney.  And I'd like to also know when, Mr. Clark, you became engaged in 4 

the debates about the Georgia election procedure?   5 

Mr. MacDougald.  Same objection.   6 

Ms. Cheney.  I'm sorry.  Could you please state that for the record?   7 

Mr. MacDougald.  Same objection, Congressman -- Representative.  I called you a 8 

Congressman a minute ago.  I apologize.   9 

Ms. Cheney.  So what objection is that?  You're claiming executive privilege with 10 

respect to your knowledge about Georgia election procedures?   11 

Mr. MacDougald.  You're talking about me or Mr. Clark?   12 

Ms. Cheney.  I'm talking about Mr. Clark, your client.   13 

Mr. MacDougald.  We assert privileges in the letter that cover that, 14 

Representative.   15 

Ms. Cheney.  Did you have any interaction with any other Members of Congress?   16 

Mr. MacDougald.  Same objection, respectfully.   17 

Ms. Cheney.  And in terms of your assertions about Dominion voting machines and 18 

smart thermostats, could you explain where you got that information?   19 

Mr. MacDougald.  Same objection, respectfully.   20 

Ms. Cheney.  So I just want to be clear that I want the record to show that 21 

Mr. Clark is refusing to answer any questions, including those questions that have nothing 22 

to do with any of his interaction with the President, questions that couldn't conceivably 23 

be covered by any assertion of executive privilege.   24 

And, with that, I'll yield back, .   25 
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.  Thank you.  Anyone else?  Mr. Aguilar, Ms. Luria, Ms. Lofgren?   1 

Ms. Lofgren.  I'm fine.   2 

.  No?  Okay.   3 

Just a couple of things.  The subpoena also today was to produce documents as 4 

well as deposition testimony.  Are there any documents -- and this may be covered in the 5 

letter, but, again, haven't had a chance to read it -- that you have that are responsive to 6 

produce to the select committee?   7 

Mr. MacDougald.  We are asserting the objection as to all the document requests, 8 

and noting in the letter that there is very substantial overlap between the letters -- the 9 

documents requested from the Archives --  10 

.  Okay.   11 

Mr. MacDougald.  -- and the documents requested from Mr. Clark.   12 

.  Uh-huh.   13 

Mr. MacDougald.  And, consequently, we do not have any responsive documents 14 

for you today.   15 

.  Okay.  So very substantial overlap suggests that there are some 16 

documents that Mr. Clark possesses that are not included in the Archives.   17 

Mr. MacDougald.  Well, that's not right.  Whether he has custody or control of the 18 

document is one thing.   19 

.  Uh-huh.   20 

Mr. MacDougald.  Whether it's covered in the request at the Archives is another.   21 

.  We specifically -- and I think this was the product of an email that I 22 

sent you -- have been interested in his use of a personal email, CivUSDOJ@gmail.com.   23 

Was there any use of that email for subject matters related to the select 24 

committee's inquiry, and have those documents been identified as responsive?   25 
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[Witness conferred with counsel.] 1 

The Witness.  I'll answer.   2 

Mr. MacDougald.  He'll answer the question.   3 

The Witness.  So my strong recollection, right -- and we're talking about events that 4 

are closing on a year ago -- is that that's not an email address that I established.  That's an 5 

email address that the tech contractors who had offices inside DOJ for the Civil Division 6 

established, and that that was used for purposes of, you know -- so, if I would do an 7 

argument -- and I did several arguments, including in those months -- I wouldn't tend to do 8 

it from my desk.  I would tend to do it either from a side desk that I had, or from the 9 

conference room.   10 

And so I would have the tech person set up a loaner laptop, and then I would email 11 

him the Zoom link or whatever, you know, the instrumentality was.  And then I think -- so 12 

that -- I think he would open that account on the loaner laptop, and then, you know, 13 

connect to the court link for the argument.  So I think that's what that account is for.   14 

I did make an effort to see if, you know -- I have senses of kind of like what 15 

passwords might be, could I log into that, and I couldn't.  And I suspect, again, based on my 16 

best recollection as I sit here, that the reason why I couldn't log in is I didn't create the 17 

account, so I don't know what the password is.   18 

.  Did you use a gmail account, a personal email account, to conduct any 19 

official business during your time at the Department?   20 

The Witness.  I think that, on that, we're going to stand on the letter.   21 

.  How about personal cell phone?  Were there communications, text 22 

messages that you might possess responsive to the subpoena on a personal device?   23 

The Witness.  Same as the last --  24 

Mr. MacDougald.  Same objection.   25 
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.  So, to be clear, no documents have been produced, and the letter 1 

indicates that, to the extent that documents in your possession are responsive, they're 2 

being withheld on the same assertion of executive privilege?   3 

Mr. MacDougald.  Correct.  And the other privileges identified in the letter.  There 4 

are other privileges identified in the letter, but the executive privilege is the front and 5 

center.   6 

.  Okay.  What are they?  I'm sorry.  Again --  7 

Mr. MacDougald.  Well, there is a -- we enumerate, and I believe these are all 8 

subsidiary to the executive --  9 

.  That's my question.  Are they all within the executive --  10 

The Witness.  No.   11 

Mr. MacDougald.  Well, no.  That's a subtle legal point.   12 

The Witness.  Yeah.  I would say no.  I think that you should look at the 13 

enumeration, and we stand on that.   14 

Mr. MacDougald.  And then we reserve any other objections or rights that he may 15 

have under the Constitution or otherwise.   16 

.  All right.  So --  17 

Mr. Schiff.  If I could just --  18 

.  Yes.   19 

Mr. Schiff.  -- follow up on that question.   20 

What privilege are you asserting would apply to enable you to refuse to answer a 21 

question about whether you used personal electronic devices in the course of your 22 

government business?   23 

Mr. MacDougald.  We're asserting privileges set forth in the letter, Congressman.   24 

Mr. Schiff.  And what privilege in particular, because you refer to a number of 25 
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privileges?  So, for this specific question -- that is, whether Mr. Clark used personal devices 1 

to communicate government business -- which specific privilege enables Mr. Clark to 2 

refuse to answer that question?   3 

Mr. MacDougald.  Given the lack of specificity of the question, we can do no more 4 

than allude to the privileges that are asserted in the letter, which are the full panoply of 5 

executive, Federal law enforcement, and so on, privileges that are in the letter, and plus 6 

the reservation that we've made.  So, you know, I -- again, with respect, Congressman, we 7 

do not want to engage in a debate or a law school set of hypotheticals about this.   8 

Mr. Schiff.  Well, counsel, you said my question wasn't very specific.  Let me try to 9 

make it very, very specific.   10 

Mr. Clark, did you use personal electronic devices to conduct government business 11 

while you were at the Department of Justice?  Yes or no?   12 

The Witness.  This has been asked and answered, Representative.   13 

Mr. Schiff.  I don't have an answer, so would you please answer the question for 14 

me?   15 

Mr. MacDougald.  We would object based on privileges set forth in the letter, 16 

Congressman.   17 

Mr. Schiff.  And, counsel, which specific privilege entitles this witness to refuse to 18 

answer a question about whether he used personal devices -- I'm not asking about the 19 

content, not asking about communications with the President, but merely the simple fact 20 

of whether he used personal electronic devices to conduct government business.  What 21 

specific privilege are you asserting that gives him the right to refuse to answer that 22 

question?   23 

Mr. MacDougald.  We rest on the privileges asserted in the letter, Congressman.  24 

We object.   25 
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Mr. Schiff.  Let the record reflect that counsel has cited no particular privilege to 1 

refuse to answer that question.   2 

.  So, Mr. MacDougald, I'm just looking at the letter, again, not having a 3 

chance yet to read it carefully.  And, on page 2, it says, the general category of executive 4 

privilege, the specific categories of presidential communications, law enforcement, and 5 

deliberative process privileges, as well as attorney-client privilege, and the work product 6 

doctrine, all harmonize on this point.  Is that the universe of privileges that that sentence 7 

that I just read from your letter that Mr. Clark is asserting today?   8 

Mr. MacDougald.  Well, the -- you should read the entire letter  9 

.  I appreciate that, but I'm -- again, not having had a chance to do that, I 10 

just want to make sure it's clear on the record.   11 

Mr. MacDougald.  Well, we think the letter is clear, and the letter is on the record.   12 

.  At the time of these events, Mr. Clark was an employee of the 13 

Department of Justice, right, and his client was the people of the United States, not 14 

President Trump or anyone else.  So help me understand how any attorney-client privilege 15 

could possibly be implicated when a Department of Justice official, a member of the 16 

executive branch, in the course of his professional responsibilities, is engaged in talking to 17 

his superiors or anyone else within the executive branch?   18 

Mr. MacDougald.  , I will say maybe for the fifth or sixth time, we're not 19 

going to engage in legal argument on these points in the deposition.  If you want to engage 20 

in legal argument in letters or court filings, we're happy to do that, but we're not going to 21 

do it in this deposition,  22 

.  Yeah.  23 

Mr. MacDougald.  And so I think we have, you know, reached an impasse and, 24 

consequently, we --  25 
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The Witness.  I --  1 

Mr. Raskin.  I have two follow-up --  2 

The Witness.  I would say that we've not reached an impasse, and there have been 3 

repeated attempts to characterize the position as absolutist.  It's not.  We're inviting a 4 

dialogue in the letter.  But, for today, I think that we're done.   5 

Mr. MacDougald.  We're done.   6 

The Witness.  Yeah.   7 

Mr. MacDougald.  We're done for the day.   8 

.  Mr. Raskin, go ahead.   9 

Mr. Raskin.  Well, I just want to follow up on your question about the 10 

attorney-client privilege.   11 

Who is the attorney, and who is the client that are covered by the attorney-client 12 

privilege being invoked in the letter?   13 

Mr. MacDougald.  It's asked and answered.  The privilege is set forth in the letter.   14 

Mr. Raskin.  Well, forgive me, because I'm not in the room right now.  The letter 15 

arrived late, thank you for your apology about that, but one way to make that apology 16 

meaningful might be to restate the point of your own letter.  Who is the attorney, and who 17 

is the client in the attorney-client privilege being asserted in your letter?   18 

Mr. MacDougald.  We're happy to engage in that dialogue in correspondence with 19 

committee counsel, but we're not going to do it in the deposition, Congressman.   20 

Mr. Raskin.  Wow.  Okay.   21 

I yield back to you, .  Thanks.   22 

  Okay.  Well, I can tell you, Mr. MacDougald, that we're not going to 23 

conclude the deposition.  I think what we'd like to do is take a recess, look again at your 24 

letter temporarily and reconvene, maybe in an hour or so.  I understand the position, but, 25 
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again, we have been given a letter with very substantial legal arguments that we just need 1 

a minute -- more than a minute --  2 

Mr. MacDougald.  I think you need more than a minute.  I mean --  3 

  Yeah.   4 

Mr. MacDougald.  -- to be fair to the witness, it will -- you need to let us go, and 5 

then you all study it and figure out what you want to say about it, and then we'll respond.   6 

  Yeah.  We --  7 

  Respectfully, that's not the way it works.  The witness was subpoenaed 8 

to be here today.  Whether it's an inconvenience for him to wait an hour or so while the 9 

committee and the staff discuss this, he doesn't have any right to avoid being 10 

inconvenienced by a brief delay like that.   11 

The Witness.  So I think the response on that is I see no indication, from the fact 12 

that the same questions are being asked over and over again, that anything is going to 13 

change as a result of that.  So, you know, we -- we're going to depart at this point.  We 14 

have the dialogue.  We want it to be open.  You can come back to us.   15 

And we recognize that the letter will require your study, but, you know, you've also 16 

placed me in a position where you did not give the full extension that was requested in 17 

light of personal circumstances and in light of, you know, the situation that's -- I have to 18 

deal with in terms of managing life generally, and so, I think, at this point, we would like to 19 

conclude things, and that's our position.   20 

Again, that's not a closed door.  It's an open door to dialogue.   21 

  Mr. Clark, with all due respect, the door has been open since July 22 

when the Department of Justice wrote you a letter.  I first personally reached out to your 23 

counsel in August.  The indication was that perhaps you would come in for a voluntary 24 

interview.  And, when that ultimately was not something to which you agreed, the 25 



  

  

38 

committee issued you a subpoena with a legal obligation.   1 

You changed counsel, and we gave your new counsel a brief indulgence because he 2 

had just been retained.  And, as a matter of professional courtesy to Mr. MacDougald, we 3 

gave you an extra week.   4 

But, with all due respect, we have been willing to talk with you, work with you, 5 

wanted to do this voluntarily since this summer.  So this is not a last-minute attempt to 6 

force you without ample notice of our interest to answer questions on the record.  Our 7 

efforts in good faith to engage with you extend 4 months.   8 

The Witness.  So, as the letter indicates, I had been reviewing various things, 9 

studying legal doctrines, conferring with counsel, so we have similarly proceeded in good 10 

faith, and we continue to want to proceed in good faith.   11 

But, for today, you know, sitting here to have the same questions be asked and for 12 

attempts to, you know, respectfully, to be made to mischaracterize our position, that's not 13 

something that it seems to be prudent to continue to do.   14 

  The Rules of the House provide that the chair will rule on objections or 15 

assertions of privilege.  The chair has not yet had an opportunity to rule.  Part of the reason 16 

for a brief recess and discussion with the chairman is to get -- again, this is all part of 17 

completing our record such that the committee can consider other options.   18 

So we can stand in recess subject to the call of the chair.  We're not concluding the 19 

deposition.  But the Rules of the House provide a recess subject to the call of the chair as 20 

we consult with him and seek his potential ruling on your executive privilege assertion.   21 

The Witness.  That involves procedures that you will decide how to invoke, and, you 22 

know -- but, in terms of our presence, though, we're going to depart.  We've made our 23 

position clear, and we've made our willingness to engage in a dialogue from this point 24 

forward clear, and I think that's where we stand.   25 
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  Before I go -- yeah, go ahead, Mr. Raskin.   1 

Mr. Raskin.  , what I would just say is that what I'm taking from the 2 

representation is that Mr. Clark's lawyer has declared us at an impasse, and Mr. Clark has 3 

declared that they're going to leave despite the fact that they're being told to stay under 4 

the rules of the committee.   5 

.  That is precisely my interpretation. 6 

The Witness.  Much like -- much like our dispute about the notion of absolutism, the 7 

notion that we're at an impasse is also a mischaracterization.  I've repeatedly said and the 8 

letter says that the dialogue remains open.   9 

Mr. Schiff.  And, counsel, I just want to add to the record that we were presented 10 

with this letter right --  11 

.  At 10 o'clock.  12 

Mr. Schiff.  -- at 10 o'clock this morning.  Counsel apologized for the late delivery of 13 

this letter, yet counsel has insisted that a one-hour recess to consider the letter further and 14 

consult with the chairman of the committee is beyond their willingness to accommodate, 15 

and it is their intention to walk out of the deposition notwithstanding the deposition 16 

continues.   17 

I yield back to counsel.   18 

.  Again, my view is precisely the same as Mr. Raskin's and Mr. Schiff's.  19 

Disappointing, but we will consider you to have left the deposition that is subject to recall 20 

by the chair.   21 

Mr. MacDougald.  Okay.  22 

[Mr. Clark and Mr. MacDougald left the deposition at 11:29 a.m.]  23 

.  Okay.  We're still on the record, Ms. Lofgren.  I just want to make sure 24 

that there are things that are entered for the record, right.   25 
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Exhibit 1 is the letter to Mr. Clark that was sent by the Department of Justice on 1 

July 26th, 2021, which I'd ask that we mark and be part of the record as exhibit 1.   2 

I believe exhibit 2 will be the letter that Mr. MacDougald delivered to the select 3 

committee today.   4 

I don't think we need the subpoena to be an exhibit.  That's already part of the 5 

committee's record.   6 

.  We're okay because he showed up.   7 

.  He did.  So those two exhibits and the DOJ letter and his letter to us 8 

will be formally part of the record of the deposition.   9 

    [Clark Exhibit No. 1 10 

    Was marked for identification.]  11 

    [Clark Exhibit No. 2 12 

    Was marked for identification.]  13 

.  And, before we go off the record, is there any other representations 14 

here, Mr. Schiff?   15 

Mr. Schiff.  I would just like to include in the record a copy of the Bloomberg 16 

article that counsel for Mr. Clark references in which, per counsel's letter, Mr. Clark was 17 

disappointed it didn't include his discussion of January 6th, the interview that was 18 

published.   19 

He summarizes that conversation with the reporter, but was unwilling today to 20 

discuss even what he told the reporter during that interview, and failed to identify any 21 

privilege that would cover, even conceivably, an interview that Mr. Clark gave with the 22 

press about January 6.   23 

And I would like that to be included in the record.   24 

    [Clark Exhibit No. 3 25 
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    Was marked for identification.]  1 

.  I appreciate that.   2 

What I would propose to do quickly is to go through the exercise that he refused 3 

to indulge and just put on the record the areas that I intended to develop with him, just, 4 

again, so that, for consideration by a court or by DOJ, at least the subject matters that we 5 

intended to develop are reflected in an official proceeding.   6 

.  And I just want to make sure that the record reflected when the 7 

witness left.  It did.   8 

.  Okay.  So -- and this won't take 5 hours, as Mr. Clark suggested, but I 9 

intended to develop with him a series of questions about documents, what he maintains, 10 

his use of personal devices or emails, to get a little bit more information about categories 11 

of responsive information that he maintains, whether or not he was withholding any of 12 

them on a privilege basis.  He has not produced any documents or a privilege log to the 13 

committee.   14 

I then intended to develop very simple things about his background, his 15 

professional background, his educational background, his current employment.   16 

I would have proceeded then to questions about the institutional role of the 17 

Department of Justice in matters of election integrity.  There was a November 9th memo 18 

from Attorney General Barr to the Department that authorized U.S. Attorneys’ offices to 19 

investigate credible allegations of voter fraud.  I wanted to ask him about the Civil 20 

Division or the Environment of Natural Resources Division having any role in voter fraud 21 

investigations.   22 

I wanted to ask him about communications he had with President Trump, from his 23 

initial introduction to President Trump, which we think occurred sometime in December 24 

of 2020, the role of Congressman Perry or Mark Meadows in facilitating that introduction, 25 
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what they discussed, whether it was about the election or otherwise; who else might 1 

have participated in the communication with President Trump, and the specific 2 

representations of that discussion.   3 

We wanted to talk to him about the White House contacts policy and the fact that 4 

his communications with the President violated that White House policy, and the fact that 5 

he didn't notify Attorney General Rosen or Deputy Attorney General Donaghue of those 6 

communications.   7 

We wanted to talk about the reaction by the Department of Justice leadership to 8 

their discovery of that meeting, any representations he made to them.   9 

We then wanted to talk specifically about efforts that he took, proposed that the 10 

Department take with respect to election fraud.  We wanted to ask him, for instance, 11 

about an ODNI briefing that he sought about alleged interference with Dominion voting 12 

machines by the Chinese Government, and a draft letter to Georgia officials that he put 13 

forth that asked the Department, or was the Department asking Georgia legislative 14 

officials to convene a special session and consider the appointment of an alternate slate 15 

of electors.  We intended to go through specific representations in that draft letter and 16 

ask for their basis.   17 

I also wanted to ask him about metadata in that draft letter that indicates some 18 

involvement with the White House Communications Agency and the drafting or 19 

preparation of that letter.   20 

I also wanted to ask him about the response to that proposal from Mr. Rosen and 21 

Mr. Clark, which was very strongly negative, Mr. Donaghue's indication that it was 22 

factually inaccurate because the Department was not investigating serious allegations of 23 

fraud, and institutionally, it would be inappropriate for the Department to suggest to a 24 

State that it convene its legislature in a special session, get his reaction to Mr. Donaghue's 25 
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criticism of those two proposals.   1 

I wanted to ask him about a December 28th meeting -- subsequent meeting with 2 

Rosen and Donaghue about additional conversations with the White House about the 3 

Georgia draft letter or other possible steps to take -- that the Department would take to 4 

intervene in the counting of the votes.   5 

I wanted to ask him specifically about whether he had any involvement in the 6 

appointment of a special counsel, the possibility of holding a press conference to 7 

announce the Department's involvement, or the Department's joining a Supreme Court 8 

case as a potential plaintiff despite other professionals in the Department indicating that 9 

the Department had no standing.   10 

We ultimately wanted to ask him about efforts by the President to install him as 11 

Acting Attorney General, the basis for that possibility, his discussions with the President 12 

about actions he might take if he were appointed as Acting Attorney General.  There was 13 

a -- wanted to ask him ultimately about a meeting in the Oval Office with the President 14 

and others at which his possible appointment as Acting Attorney General was discussed 15 

and when the President ultimately decided not to make a change and appoint Mr. Clark 16 

as the Acting Attorney General.   17 

Finally, we wanted to ask him a series of questions about things beyond his 18 

interactions with the President.  For instance, his potential involvement in meetings in 19 

advance of January 6th with campaign officials, with lawyers who purported to represent 20 

the former President, who had come up with theories as to the Vice President's authority 21 

to reject slates of electors.   22 

We wanted to ask him about the Willard War Room and communications with 23 

Steve Bannon, Rudy Giuliani, Bernie Kerik, John Eastman, and others.  We wanted to ask 24 

him about what he did and what he was aware of on January 6th itself.  We wanted to ask 25 
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him about further interactions at any time he had with the Chief of Staff Mark Meadows, 1 

including Mr. Meadows' travel to Georgia, and interaction with Georgia State officials.   2 

We wanted to ask Mr. Clark about any campaign activities or discussions with 3 

representatives of the Trump campaign, Bill Stepien, and Jason Miller.   4 

We wanted to get his substantive view on the Eastman memos.  The Eastman 5 

memos put forward the theory that the Vice President need not certify the slates of 6 

electors that were put forth and were pending his review on January the 6th.   7 

We wanted to ask him about any discussions he had with various State officials in 8 

Georgia, in Pennsylvania, or elsewhere.   9 

We wanted to ask him about interaction with a man named John Lott, who 10 

worked at the Department of Justice and wrote a memo that involved some allegations of 11 

voter fraud.   12 

And we wanted to ask him about the Gohmert v. Pence litigation, the one matter 13 

in which the Department did intervene, but simply to indicate that there was no standing 14 

by the plaintiff, Congressman Gohmert, to bring that litigation.  Mr. Clark actually signed 15 

the pleading indicating that the Department -- the Department's view that Mr. Gohmert 16 

had no standing, and the case should be dismissed.   17 

Let me stop and see if any of my colleagues have additional subject matters that 18 

they wanted to flag so that the record reflects the universe of things that we wanted to 19 

develop with Mr. Clark.  , anything?   20 

.  Nope.   21 

.  No.   22 

.  The only caveat I'd have to all of that was that that is what we 23 

intended to ask him as of now, but that this is an ongoing investigation.  We continue to 24 

develop new facts and seek documents that we haven't yet received, and that that may 25 
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not ultimately be the final universe of subject matters for Mr. Clark.  But that is what we 1 

intended to ask him about today.   2 

.  And, of course, any other questions that would come up as a result of 3 

things that Mr. Clark told us in the deposition.   4 

.  Yeah.   5 

For the record -- I suppose it's clear, but to make it crystal clear, I proposed going 6 

through that list on the record with Mr. Clark so that he and his lawyer would have a 7 

sense of the subject matters and would articulate in response to each category the basis 8 

for his assertion of executive privilege.  He refused to indulge, walked out of the 9 

deposition before we had a chance to ask those questions.   10 

So I'm now simply making this for the record, but not for Mr. Clark, because he 11 

has left the deposition.   12 

All right.  Anything else that anyone has before we go off the record?  , 13 

anything?   14 

Mr. Schiff, any other statements that we want to make sure are reflected in the 15 

official record?   16 

Mr. Schiff.  Well, I know our committee wanted to ask, among other questions, 17 

whether he had destroyed or erased any cell phone or other digital device during the 18 

course of 2021.  But, as he would not even answer questions as to whether he used 19 

personal devices for the conduct of government business, he did not allow us the 20 

opportunity to ask that line of questioning either.   21 

I viewed his refusal as categorical, without even an assertion of privilege or a 22 

claimed assertion of privilege, but a constant reference to a letter, a letter that, in and of 23 

itself, was not from the former President directing him not to testify.  There has been no 24 

legal action by the former President to intervene in this proceeding.   25 
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Given that his colleagues in the Justice Department in higher positions of authority 1 

have testified and his refusal even to answer questions about his statements about 2 

January 6th made to the press, those refusals at least strike this member of the 3 

committee as not in good faith, and I yield back.   4 

.  Yeah.  Any other Members?  Yes?  Mrs. Luria.   5 

Mrs. Luria.  I just wanted to add for the record that, you know, although he 6 

referred to the letter numerous times and refused to answer the vast majority of 7 

questions, I felt that he negated his claim to privilege by actually -- his universal claim to 8 

privilege for every question by actually answering a select question about the use of the 9 

gmail account.   10 

So, although he claimed overall privilege, he did negate that on his own by 11 

answering a single question, and so that -- I just wanted to place that that was my 12 

impression on the record.   13 

.  Uh-huh.  All right.  Any other members of the committee?  Yeah.  14 

And I'll say that this record will remain open and that we are just going to -- the 15 

deposition will stand in recess subject to the call of the chair, so the record will not be 16 

closed, but does anyone else have anything now to add?  No?   17 

I think I made my points about the state of engagement with Mr. Clark.  The select 18 

committee reached out to him through counsel back in August.  We repeatedly sought his 19 

voluntary cooperation, and it wasn't until he indicated he would not agree to a date for a 20 

voluntary cooperation that we moved to issue him a subpoena  21 

He changed counsel very late, only about a week ago.  Mr. MacDougald was 22 

retained a week ago, but he had previous counsel with whom we were very directly 23 

engaged on multiple occasions.   24 

All right.  Then I think we can go off the record at this point with the caveat that 25 
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the deposition will stand in recess subject to the call of the chair.   1 

[Whereupon, at 11:43 a.m., the deposition was recessed, subject to the call of the 2 

chair.] 3 
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 1 

[4:15 p.m.] 2 

Chairman Thompson.  So we will reconvene the deposition of Jeffrey Bossert 3 

Clark.   4 

The committee will come to order.   5 

I understand that , the Select Committee's Chief Investigative Counsel, 6 

can update the committee on additional communications with Mr. Clark's attorney.   7 

And I now recognize .   8 

.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  9 

Upon the postponement or the recess of -- not postponement -- the recess of the 10 

deposition this morning, I immediately reached out to Harry MacDougald, who's counsel 11 

to Mr. Clark.  Called him.  His cell phone, voice mail was full.  Sent him a text message, 12 

asking him to call me.  And then sent an email, essentially letting him know we were 13 

going to reconvene at 4:00 o'clock for the purpose of you, Mr. Chairman, considering and 14 

ruling upon his objection, and received an email response from Mr. MacDougald at 3:25 15 

p.m., indicating that he was already en route back to his office in Atlanta.   16 

He said it will not be possible for us to return at 4:00.  He could not allow Mr. Clark 17 

to appear without counsel.  And then he sets forth some specific objections to the 18 

process, the rules of the House which have the chairman ruling on objections.  19 

And I will make that email exchange part of the record as an exhibit to the 20 

deposition.   21 

Chairman Thompson.  Thank you very much.   22 

Earlier today, Mr. Clark's attorney, Harry MacDougald, delivered to the 23 

Select Committee a letter asserting blanket privileges and objecting to Mr. Clark's further 24 

participation in the subpoenaed deposition.   25 
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Pursuant to House Deposition Authority Regulation 7, a witness may refuse to 1 

answer questions only to preserve a privilege.  That same authority empowers the chair 2 

to rule on any objection.   3 

Do we want to recognize other members?  If so, we could open the floor for 4 

discussion.  I know Mr. Raskin, who's in a CPC meeting, had indicated he wanted to say 5 

something or potentially.   6 

Does any other member wish to be heard on the objection?   7 

Ms. Lofgren.  I think it's quite clear that Mr. Clark has failed to adhere to the 8 

subpoena, the Rules of the House, the precedents in law, in statute, and is completely 9 

acting in a lawless way.   10 

Chairman Thompson.  Well, I thank the gentlelady.  And the chair, at this point, is 11 

prepared to rule on the objection.   12 

As I stated in a letter I sent to Mr. Clark's attorney this afternoon, Mr. Clark does 13 

not enjoy categorical claims of privilege across every element of the Select Committee 14 

investigation as authorized by House Resolution 503.   15 

Accordingly, I overrule the objections asserted by Mr. Clark and direct the witness 16 

to answer the questions posed by members and committee counsel, asserting relevant 17 

specific privileges on a question-by-question basis.   18 

Since the witness has decided not to reappear pursuant to notice, my ruling will 19 

be communicated to Mr. Clark in writing.  The chair will allow Mr. Clark, until Tuesday, to 20 

cooperate with my direction to answer the Select Committee's questions in light of this 21 

ruling.   22 

Accordingly, the deposition stands in recess subject to the call of the chair.  We 23 

will close that part of the deposition.  And we will now, for the benefit of the 24 

Select Committee, just talk about the committee's business, strategy, and what other 25 
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items we might want to discuss.   1 

.  Mr. Chairman, thank you.   2 

We wanted to go off the record.  We want to make sure we can go off the record 3 

now.   4 

We will let the court reporter go and thank her very much for her patience today.  5 

So we are off the record as of now.   6 

[Whereupon, at 4:21 p.m., the committee was recessed, subject to the call of the 7 

chair.]  8 

 9 
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Exhibit 3 — Staff Email to Counsel for Jeffrey B. 
Clark on November 3, 2021 



From:
To: Harry MacDougald
Cc:
Subject: RE: Jeffrey Clark
Date: Wednesday, November 3, 2021 2:24:00 PM
Attachments: Document Production Instructions.pdf

HRes8Sec3b.pdf
deposition rules.pdf
Jeffrey Clark.10.13.pdf

Harry,
 
In anticipation of Mr. Clark’s deposition on Friday, I wanted to provide some information about the
subpoena and the rules of the House of Representatives that govern the proceeding.  I’m attaching a
copy of the resolution authorizing depositions and the rules that apply, the instructions for
document production, and the subpoena issued to Mr. Clark on October 13.  I assume you have
some or all of these material, but I wanted to ensure you have this information before Friday.
 
Please let me know if it would be useful to schedule a call to discuss any of this or logistics for
Friday.  I’m available between now and then – just let me know what works for you.
 
Looking forward to seeing you soon,
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Exhibit 4 — Letter from Counsel for Jeffrey B. 
Clark to Chairman Thompson on November 5, 
2021 
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Exhibit 5 — Letter from Department of Justice to 
Jeffrey B. Clark on July 26, 2021 
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Exhibit 6 — Staff Email to Counsel for Jeffrey B. 
Clark on November 5, 2021 



From:
To: Harry MacDougald
Cc: ; 
Subject: Clark Deposition at 4:00
Date: Friday, November 5, 2021 12:42:00 PM

Harry,
 
I tried calling you a short while ago.  I couldn’t leave a message, as your cellphone voicemail box is
full.  I wanted to let you know that the Select Committee is reconvening for Mr. Clark’s continued
deposition at 4:00 today .  The purpose of the reconvened deposition is to seek a ruling from the
Chairman on Mr. Clark’s assertion of privilege and refusal to answer questions.  The House Rules I
sent you this week provide (in pertinent part) that “[w]hen the witness has refused to answer a
question to preserve a privilege, members of staff may (i) proceed with the deposition, or (ii)
either at that time or at a subsequent time, seek a ruling from the Chair either by telephone or
otherwise.  If the Chair overrules any such objection and thereby orders a witness to answer any
question to which an objection was lodged, the witness shall be ordered to answer.”  Please
return to the O’Neill House Office Building with Mr. Clark at that time, or indicate your refusal to do
so. 
 
We are preparing a response to the letter to the Chairman you delivered this morning.  We will
provide that letter as soon as it is complete, before or at 4:00.
 
Thanks,
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Exhibit 7 — Email from Counsel for Jeffrey B. 
Clark to Select Committee Staff on November 5, 
2021 



1

From: Harry MacDougald 
Sent: Friday, November 5, 2021 3:25 PM
To:
Cc: ; 
Subject: Re: Clark Deposition at 4:00

  
 
I am in the air on the way back to Atlanta. Therefore it will not be possible for us to return at 4 pm.  I cannot allow Mr. 
Clark to appear without counsel.  This is a basic feature of due process, which equally governs Congress as it does other 
branches of government. 
 
As for the Chairman overruling our objections and ordering us to appear despite the objections on pain of criminal 
contempt (and without prejudice to making additional arguments since it is difficult for a tall man especially to work on 
a plane, and therefore while reserving all rights), I note the following responses.  Fortunately, I had some ability to cut 
and paste from my device, despite the cramped quarters and nature of work on a plane: 
 
(1) Congress lacks the power to apply law to fact.  That is an exclusively judicial power.  Hence, consistent with the U.S. 
Constitution, the Chair cannot overrule an objection that encompasses anything more than purely procedural matters 
exclusively confined to congressional rules.  Mr. Clark stands on the separation of powers.  See Plaut v. Spendthrift Farm, 
514 U.S. 211 (1995) (Congress lacks power to invade judicial province of applying law to fact, and where it acts with 
respect to one particular person it raises special concerns that it is disfavoring (as here) or favoring particular 
individuals).  In light of Plaut, only an Article III court can rule on whether my objections on behalf of Mr. Clark in light of 
privilege doctrines and, without restriction, all of the legal points made in my letter to the Chair dated today. 
 
(2) There are also serious due process problems with the Committee Chair purporting to rule on objections.  The old 
maxim in common law (and perhaps equity as well) that man cannot be the judge of his own case applies 
here.  (Discovery would be a lot different if I got to rule on the validity of all the objections to my questions.)  Despite 
that maxim, this is nevertheless precisely what appears to be the situation here with the Chair simply confirming desires 
he has made clear in advance from statements to the press and in other January 6 proceedings. 
 
(3) Related to point (2), the Committee and its Chair cannot rely on structural committee fairness as a kind of ersatz 
substitute for due process -- in general or in specific.  This is especially true because the Committee is formulated to be a 
political monolith.  As you are aware, the Committee's membership is purpose-built and allowed the minority no ability 
to participate in its proceedings.  This stacks the deck and whenever procedural decks are stacked, due process 
principles are being violated.  See, e.g., Air Transp. Ass'n of Am. v. National Mediation Board, 663 F.3d 476 (D.C. Cir. 
2011) ("Decisionmakers violate the Due Process Clause and must be disqualified when they act with an 'unalterably 
closed mind' and are 'unwilling or unable' to rationally consider arguments.").  We have seen no indication in the fashion 
in which the Committee is proceeding that it has anything other than an unalterably closed mind. 
 
Finally, I note that our invitation to discuss a narrowed scope of inquiry pending resolution of the executive privilege 
issues in Trump v. Thompson remains open. 
 
With best regards, 
----- 
Harry W. MacDougald 
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP 

 



2

 
 

  
 

On November 5, 2021 at 12:42:23 PM,  wrote: 

Harry, 

  

I tried calling you a short while ago.  I couldn’t leave a message, as your cellphone voicemail box is full.  I 
wanted to let you know that the Select Committee is reconvening for Mr. Clark’s continued deposition 
at 4:00 today .  The purpose of the reconvened deposition is to seek a ruling from the Chairman on Mr. 
Clark’s assertion of privilege and refusal to answer questions.  The House Rules I sent you this week 
provide (in pertinent part) that “[w]hen the witness has refused to answer a question to preserve a 
privilege, members of staff may (i) proceed with the deposition, or (ii) either at that time or at a 
subsequent time, seek a ruling from the Chair either by telephone or otherwise.  If the Chair overrules 
any such objection and thereby orders a witness to answer any question to which an objection was 
lodged, the witness shall be ordered to answer.”  Please return to the O’Neill House Office Building 
with Mr. Clark at that time, or indicate your refusal to do so.   

  

We are preparing a response to the letter to the Chairman you delivered this morning.  We will provide 
that letter as soon as it is complete, before or at 4:00. 

  

Thanks, 
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Exhibit 8 — Letter from Chairman Thompson to 
Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark on November 5, 2021 



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
November 5, 2021 

Mr. Harry MacDougald 
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP 

 
 

 
 

 

Dear Mr. MacDougald, 

I write in response to your November 5, 2021, letter on behalf of your client, Jeffrey Clark.  
The letter was handed to Select Committee staff when you arrived for Mr. Clark’s deposition at 
10:00 am this morning (the “November 5 letter”). We are prepared to resume the deposition of 
your client at 4:00 pm this afternoon, at which time I will rule on the claims of privilege you raised 
in this morning’s session. A more detailed response to the November 5 letter will be forthcoming. 

Service of the subpoena that was accepted on Mr. Clark’s behalf by Robert Driscoll, Esq. 
on October 13, 2021. The subpoena called for Mr. Clark to appear on October 29, 2021, to provide 
documents and testimony.1 All the requested documents relate directly to the inquiry being 
conducted by the Select Committee, serve a legitimate legislative purpose, and are within the scope 
of the authority expressly delegated to the Select Committee pursuant to House Resolution 503. In 
the October 13, 2021, letter that accompanied the subpoena, the Select Committee set forth the 
basis for its determination that the documents and records sought by the subpoena and Mr. Clark’s 
deposition testimony are of critical importance to the issues being investigated by the Select 
Committee. 

In your November 5 letter, and on the record in this morning’s session of the deposition, 
you stated that Mr. Clark would not answer any of the Select Committee’s questions on any subject 
and would not produce any documents based on broad and undifferentiated assertions of various 
privileges, including claims of executive privilege purportedly asserted by former President 
Trump.2 Your reliance on executive privilege is wholly misplaced and does not provide a basis for 
your client’s blanket refusal to produce documents or answer any of the Select Committee’s 
questions.  

In support of your executive privilege assertion, you have directed the Select Committee 
to an August 2, 2021, letter from Douglas Collins, counsel for former President Trump (the 

 
1 At your request, Committee staff agreed to continue the appearance and production date to today. 
2 The November 5 letter also asserts, without meaningful discussion or authority, that the testimony 
sought by the Committee is “outside the scope of the Committee’s charter.”  
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“August 2 letter”), and your interpretation of certain events since the delivery of the August 2 
letter. None of these documents or arguments justify Mr. Clark’s position. 

First, neither the November 5 letter, the August 2 letter, nor any information you provided 
on the record in this morning’s session reflects an assertion of executive privilege conveyed to the 
Select Committee by former President Trump with respect to the testimony and document 
production of Mr. Clark. The August 2 letter specifically notes that Mr. Trump will not seek 
judicial intervention to prevent your client’s testimony,3 and you stated on the record today that 
you have received no further instructions from former President Trump with respect to Mr. Clark’s 
testimony. While the November 5 letter expresses your view that subsequent actions by former 
President Trump – specifically, letters to other subpoenaed individuals and litigation filed seeking 
injunctive relief regarding a document request to the National Archives -- reflect a change in Mr. 
Trump’s position with respect to Mr. Clark, you have not demonstrated to the Select Committee 
that you have made any effort to confirm that Mr. Trump agrees with your analysis, nor have you 
indicated receipt of any communication from Mr. Trump or his counsel reflecting some revised 
instructions to Mr. Clark. In fact, you indicated this morning that you had not sought concurrence 
with this position or otherwise engaged with representatives for former President Trump.  Further, 
the Select Committee has received no direct communication from former President Trump or his 
representatives asserting privilege over information sought by the Select Committee’s subpoena 
to Mr. Clark. Accordingly, your client’s refusal to testify cannot be based on his supposition 
regarding Mr. Trump’s position. 

Second, even assuming the former President were to have formally invoked privilege with 
respect to Mr. Clark, the law does not support the type of blanket testimonial immunity that he has 
claimed for himself. To the contrary, every court that has considered the absolute immunity Mr. 
Clark has claimed has rejected it. See, e.g., Comm. on the Judiciary v. Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2d 53, 
106 (D.D.C. 2008) (rejecting former White House counsel’s assertion of absolute immunity from 
compelled congressional process); Comm. on the Judiciary v. McGahn, 415 F. Supp. 3d 148, 203 
(D.D.C. 2019) (“This Court finds that the Miers court rightly determined not only that the principle 
of absolute testimonial immunity for senior-level presidential aides has no foundation in law, but 
also that such a proposition conflicts with key tenets of our constitutional order.”).4 Similarly, 
courts have rejected blanket, non-specific claims of executive privilege over the production of 
documents to Congress. See Comm. on Oversight & Gov’t Reform v. Holder, No. 12-cv-1332, 
2014 WL 12662665, at *2 (D.D.C. Aug. 20, 2014) (rejecting a “blanket” executive-privilege claim 
over subpoenaed documents).  

 
3 The August 2 letter makes reference to a July 26, 2021, letter from the Department of Justice authorizing 
you to provide unrestricted testimony to the Select Committee within the scope of its inquiry, subject to 
certain limitations regarding Department deliberations concerning investigations and prosecutions. A 
copy of the Department’s July 26 letter is attached. 
4 The McGahn court could not have been more clear in its holding: “To make the point as plain as 
possible, it is clear to this Court … that, with respect to senior-level presidential aides, absolute immunity 
from compelled congressional process simply does not exist.” Id. at 214. 
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In light of this clear authority, even if former President Trump had explicitly directed Mr. 
Clark to assert executive privilege, Mr. Clark could only assert that privilege with respect to 
documents and testimony to which it applies. As the D.C. Circuit noted in In re Sealed Case (Espy), 
121 F.3d 729, 752 (D.C. Cir. 1997): 

[Executive] privilege should not extend to staff outside the White House in executive 
branch agencies. Instead, the privilege should apply only to communications authored or 
solicited and received by those members of an immediate White House adviser’s staff who 
have broad and significant responsibility for investigating and formulating the advice to be 
given the President on the particular matter to which the communications relate. 

See also Committee on the Judiciary v. Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2d at 100 (privilege claimants 
acknowledged that executive privilege applies only to “a very small cadre of senior advisors”). 

Further, the Select Committee views as tenuous at best any claims of Mr. Clark that 
executive privilege bars the Select Committee from obtaining Mr. Clark’s testimony and 
documents. Mr. Clark was not among the “small cadre of senior advisors” to former President 
Trump, and, therefore, cannot invoke executive privilege with respect to communications with 
anyone other than the President. Likewise, only those presidential communications that relate to 
official government business would be covered by the privilege. In re Sealed Case (Espy), 121 
F.3d at 752 (“the privilege only applies to communications . . . in the course of performing their 
function of advising the President on official government matters”). Even assuming executive 
privilege was invoked by former President Trump, Mr. Clark would be required to assert any claim 
of executive privilege narrowly and specifically. See, e.g., Id. (“the presidential communications 
privilege should be construed as narrowly as is consistent with ensuring that the confidentiality of 
the President’s decisionmaking process is adequately protected”). 

At this morning’s session, the Select Committee and its staff made several attempts to 
define the scope of Mr. Clark’s blanket assertion of privilege.5 Neither you nor Mr. Clark were not 
willing to engage on this issue, other than to repeatedly refer to the November 5 letter. Members 
and staff shared with you the legal authority (including the Miers case cited above) that precludes 
your client from categorically claiming privilege and asked you to identify the specific privileges 
you were claiming and the scope of those privilege claims, i.e., which areas of the anticipated 
testimony and which responsive documents are covered by the claimed privileges. Again, you 
cited your November 5 letter, but would not otherwise provide this information to elucidate your 
position. Select Committee Members and staff asked your client a series of questions regarding 

 
5 Mr. Clark repeatedly took issue with the use of the term “blanket” when describing his refusal to answer 
substantive questions within the scope of the Select Committee’s inquiry. However, his consistent refusal 
to respond to a broad range of questions and topics posed by the Members and staff at this morning’s 
session, coupled with the categorical assertion in your November 5 letter that Mr. Clark “must decline to 
testify as a threshold matter” and your decision to walk out of the deposition certainly constitutes a 
“blanket assertion.” 
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topics within the scope of the Select Committee’s inquiry, but your client would answer only one 
of the substantive questions.6  

The breadth of your client’s assertions of privilege raises questions regarding whether there 
is a good faith basis for his position. Your client refused to answer questions about the events of 
January 6, his comments to the press about the events of January 6, when he first met a certain 
member of Congress, whether he had ever interacted with members of Congress,  his involvement 
in discussions regarding election procedure in Georgia, how he obtained information relevant to 
assertions regarding alleged election fraud, and whether he used personal devices to conduct 
official government business while he was employed at the U.S. Department of Justice. None of 
these areas of inquiry even remotely implicate executive privilege, even if such a privilege had 
been formally invoked by former President Trump.  

You have been advised that the deposition will resume at 4:00 pm this afternoon, at which 
time I will formally reject your claims of privilege. We expect your client to produce responsive 
documents forthwith and proceed with the deposition. The Select Committee will view Mr. Clark’s 
failure to do so as willful non-compliance with the Subpoena. His continued non-compliance with 
the Subpoena will force the Select Committee to consider referring him to the Department of 
Justice for contempt of Congress, pursuant to Title 2, United States Code, Section 192, as well as 
the possibility of having a civil action to enforce the subpoena brought against Mr. Clark in his 
personal capacity. 

 
 
 

      Sincerely, 

 

 

Bennie G. Thompson 
Chairman 

 

 

 
6 That question related to a document request related to a particular email account. 
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Exhibit 9 — Letter from Counsel for Jeffrey B. 
Clark to Chairman Thompson on November 8, 
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Attachment “A” 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment “B” 





       p y   p y g  

Harry,

 

I tried calling you a short while ago.  I couldn’t leave a message, as your cellphone voicemail box is
full.  I wanted to let you know that the Select Committee is reconvening for Mr. Clark’s continued
deposition at 4:00 today .  The purpose of the reconvened deposition is to seek a ruling from the
Chairman on Mr. Clark’s assertion of privilege and refusal to answer questions.  The House Rules I
sent you this week provide (in pertinent part) that “[w]hen the witness has refused to answer a
question to preserve a privilege, members of staff may (i) proceed with the deposition, or (ii)
either at that time or at a subsequent time, seek a ruling from the Chair either by telephone
or otherwise.  If the Chair overrules any such objection and thereby orders a witness to
answer any question to which an objection was lodged, the witness shall be ordered to
answer.”  Please return to the O’Neill House Office Building with Mr. Clark at that time, or
indicate your refusal to do so. 

 

We are preparing a response to the letter to the Chairman you delivered this morning.  We will
provide that letter as soon as it is complete, before or at 4:00.

 

Thanks,
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Exhibit 10 — Letter from Chairman Thompson to 
Counsel for Jeffrey B. Clark on November 9, 2021 



 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
November 9, 2021 

 
 

Mr. Harry MacDougald 
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP 

 
 

 
 

 

Dear Mr. MacDougald, 
 
I write in response to your letter dated November 5, 2021 (the “November 5 letter”), and 

to advise you of my ruling on the objections raised by your client, Jeffrey B. Clark, during his 
deposition. Mr. Clark has not offered a legitimate basis for refusing to comply with the Select 
Committee’s subpoena. As discussed in detail below, Mr. Clark’s failure to provide documents 
and testimony to the Select Committee puts him at risk of both criminal and civil contempt of 
Congress proceedings. 

 
I. Background 
 
Mr. Clark was obligated to appear before the Select Committee to Investigate the January 

6th Attack on the United States Capitol pursuant to the subpoena issued on October 13, 2021.1 
This subpoena followed discussions between counsel for the Select Committee and Mr. Clark 
starting in early-September. At no time during these discussions did Mr. Clark assert that certain 
privileges would prevent him from providing any documents or testimony in response to the 
subpoena. Indeed, the discussions followed receipt by Mr. Clark of a letter from the U.S. 
Department of Justice expressly notifying him of the executive branch’s “authoriz[ation] to 
provide information [Mr. Clark] learned while at the Department” related to events that are central 
to the Select Committee.2 See Letter from B. Weinsheimer, July 26, 2021 (the “DOJ letter”), a 
copy of which is attached. 

 
1 The subpoena initially required Mr. Clark to provide documents and testimony on October 29, 2021. After the 
withdrawal of Mr. Clark’s former counsel and your appearance on his behalf, Committee staff agreed to continue 
both the appearance and production date to November 5, 2021, at 10:00 a.m.   
 
2 Mr. Clark received this authorization at the same time as did two of his superiors at the Department of Justice 
during the time relevant to this Committee’s inquiry. Both of Mr. Clark’s superiors, former Acting Attorney General 
Jeffrey Rosen and former Acting Deputy Attorney General Richard Donoghue, have provided testimony before the 
Senate Judiciary Committee as well as this Committee. Notwithstanding the authorization of the executive branch, 
as communicated by the Department to Mr. Clark, and the example of his former superiors, Mr. Clark refused to 
agree to a voluntary interview requested by the Senate Judiciary Committee. Subverting Justice: How the Former 
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On November 5, 2021, both you and Mr. Clark appeared as directed before the Select 
Committee but only to hand-deliver a letter, which you maintained explained the bases for his 
refusal to comply with the subpoena. In that letter, and on the record at the deposition, you stated 
that Mr. Clark would not answer any of the Select Committee’s questions on any subject and would 
not produce any documents.3 These refusals were based on broad and undifferentiated assertions 
of various privileges, including claims of executive privilege purportedly asserted by former 
President Trump. In fact, instead of specifically identifying the privilege applicable to a question 
or requested document, as the law requires, your November 5 letter asserts: “The general category 
of executive privilege, the specific categories of the presidential communications, law 
enforcement, and deliberative process privileges, as well as the attorney-client privilege and the 
work product doctrine….” Then, despite attempts during the deposition by Committee Members 
and staff counsel to obtain information from you and your client as to the boundaries of the 
privilege(s) asserted, Mr. Clark refused to answer questions, cited the 12-page November 5 letter 
that you delivered only as the deposition began, and walked out of the deposition.  

 
Before your client’s abrupt departure, Select Committee staff counsel made clear that the 

deposition would remain in recess, subject to the call of the Chair, while the Select Committee 
evaluated your November 5 letter. Following consideration of your letter, I reconvened the 
deposition later in the afternoon on November 5. Despite receiving clear notice of such 
reconvening, your client failed to attend the deposition when it was resumed. Specifically, after 
leaving the deposition at approximately 11:30 a.m., you were informed at 12:42 p.m. by email 
from staff counsel that the Select Committee would reconvene the deposition at 4:00 p.m. to seek 
a ruling by the Chair on your client’s privilege assertions and refusal to answer questions. Neither 
you nor Mr. Clark appeared at the appointed time for the reconvened deposition, nor did you 
respond to staff counsel’s email until 3:24 p.m., at which time you stated that you were on an 
airplane traveling back to Atlanta. See email from H. MacDougald, attached.  

 
When the Select Committee reconvened Mr. Clark’s deposition, I noted for the record that 

your client is not entitled to refuse to provide testimony to the Select Committee based on 
categorical claims of privilege. Accordingly, consistent with applicable law and the House’s 
deposition rules, I overruled Mr. Clark’s objections and directed him to answer the questions posed 
by Members and Select Committee counsel.  

 
This morning, we received an additional letter (the “November 8 letter”) you sent to staff 

counsel acknowledging receipt of my November 5 letter and notice of my rulings on the objections 
you raised at your deposition on November 5. 

 
 
 

 
President and His Allies Pressured DOJ to Overturn the 2020 Election, Senate Judiciary Committee (Oct. 7, 2021) 
(“Senate Judiciary Report”).  
 
3 Although Mr. Clark argued with the Select Committee as to whether his refusal to answer substantive questions 
within the scope of the Select Committee’s inquiry was properly described as “blanket” or “absolutist,” your message 
was clear: “We're not answering questions today.  We're not producing documents today.”   
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II. Mr. Clark’s Refusal to Comply with the Subpoena Is Wholly Without Merit 
 
As reflected in my initial response to your November 5 letter, your assertions of privilege 

are unavailing. First, you have not clearly established the foundational predicate for your assertion 
regarding executive privilege: a clear invocation of the privilege by the president (or former 
president). Second, Mr. Clark is not entitled to assert a blanket objection to all questions and 
document requests. Third, even if executive privilege was directly and properly invoked, Mr. 
Clark’s reliance on executive privilege is tenuous, at best. In any event, the current administration 
has determined that, with regard to the subjects that are the focus of the testimony sought, the 
“congressional need for information outweighs the Executive Branch’s interest in maintaining 
confidentiality.” See DOJ letter at 2. 

 
A. Your November 5 Letter Provides No Valid Basis for Your Client’s Assertion that 

Mr. Trump has Invoked Executive Privilege in a Manner that Precludes 
Compliance with the Subpoena 

 
Your November 5 letter makes the unremarkable statement that a President should be able 

to confidentially confer with aides, and then spends more than six pages seeking to cobble together 
a claim that Mr. Trump has, in effect, instructed Mr. Clark not to testify in response to the instant 
subpoena. Notably absent from your November 5 letter is any indication that Mr. Trump or his 
counsel clearly invoked executive privilege regarding Mr. Clark’s testimony. Further, the August 
2, 2021 letter attached to your November 5 letter specifically notes that Mr. Trump will not seek 
judicial intervention to prevent your client’s testimony. You have offered no communication from 
Mr. Trump asserting executive privilege over Mr. Clark’s testimony or any documents he may 
possess. You also acknowledged on the record that you have not sought to confirm this position 
or otherwise engage with representatives for Mr. Trump.4 Under these circumstances, there is no 
actual claim by Mr. Trump of executive privilege covering Mr. Clark’s testimony and materials, 
and an inexplicable lack of even the most minimal effort on your part to discover if such an 
assertion of privilege is being made.  

 
In addition, the Select Committee has received no direct communication from Mr. Trump 

or his representatives asserting any privilege over information sought by the Select Committee’s 
subpoena to Mr. Clark. Accordingly, your client’s refusal to testify cannot be based on his 
supposition regarding Mr. Trump’s position. 

 
B. Mr. Clark is Not Entitled to Make a Blanket Objection to all Questions and 

Document Requests 
 
Beyond citing the general need for confidentiality between a President and his advisers and 

the obviously flawed effort to construe Mr. Collins’s August 2 letter as a directive from Mr. Trump 
not to comply with the subpoena, your November 5 letter fails to articulate any sound basis for 
your client’s failure to respond to the questions put to him at his deposition. Nowhere in your 12-
page letter do you address the court decisions that clearly hold that even close advisers to a 

 
4 Specifically, you said, “I have had no communication with any attorney for Mr. Trump about any of this.” 
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president (which Mr. Clark was not) may not refuse to answer questions based on broad and 
undifferentiated privilege assertions.5 

 
As noted in my November 5 letter, several courts have addressed the type of absolute 

testimonial immunity posited by your letter and Mr. Clark’s actions. All have held that no such 
immunity exists, even where the incumbent president had clearly and unequivocally invoked 
executive privilege (not invocation by inference and supposition as you offer) and the witness was 
within the small cadre of immediate White House advisers for whom executive privilege has been 
held to apply. See, e.g., Comm. on the Judiciary v. Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2d 53, 106 (D.D.C. 2008) 
(rejecting former White House Counsel Harriet Miers’s assertion of absolute immunity from 
compelled congressional process); Comm. on the Judiciary v. McGahn, 415 F. Supp. 3d 148, 203 
(D.D.C. 2019) (rejecting claim of White House Counsel Don McGahn on grounds that “the 
principle of absolute testimonial immunity for senior-level presidential aides has no foundation in 
law, but also that such a proposition conflicts with key tenets of our constitutional order”).  

Unlike Mr. Clark, both Ms. Miers and Mr. McGahn, as White House Counsel, served as 
close legal advisers to the president. In both the Miers and McGahn cases, the President issued an 
unambiguous instruction for the witness not to testify in response to a congressional subpoena6 (; 
and, in both cases, the courts rejected this approach, instead requiring these advisors to appear and 
indicate specific objections to specific questions.7 As the court stated in McGahn: “To make the 
point as plain as possible, it is clear . . . that, with respect to senior-level presidential aides, 
absolute immunity from compelled congressional process simply does not exist.” Id. at 214 
(emphasis added). Your letter failed to address either Miers or McGahn and pointed to no contrary 
authority supporting or justifying your client’s conduct. 

At the deposition, Members and staff posed a series of questions to Mr. Clark regarding 
issues such as whether he used his personal phone or email for official business, whether or how 
he first met a specific Member of Congress, and what statements he made to the media regarding 
January 6 (statements to which your November 5 letter specifically referred). Mr. Clark refused to 
answer the questions and refused to provide a specific basis for his position, instead pointing 
generally to your November 5 letter.8 Your November 5 letter, however, provides no authority or 
argument to justify Mr. Clark’s approach; nor does it articulate the specific privileges you and he 
are claiming apply to the questions put to him at the deposition. 

 
5 Courts have similarly rejected blanket, non-specific claims of executive privilege over the production of 
documents to Congress. See Comm. on Oversight & Gov’t Reform v. Holder, No. 12-cv-1332, 2014 WL 12662665, 
at *2 (D.D.C. Aug. 20, 2014) (rejecting a “blanket” executive-privilege claim over subpoenaed documents). 
 
6 Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2d at 62; McGahn, 415 F. Supp. 3d at 153. 
 
7 Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2d at 106; McGahn, 415 F. Supp. 3d at 203 
 
8 For example, when asked specifically “whether Mr. Clark used personal devices to communicate government 
business,” you responded as follows: “Given the lack of specificity of the question, we can do no more than allude 
to the privileges that are asserted in the letter, which are the full panoply of executive, Federal law enforcement, and 
so on, privileges that are in the letter, and plus the reservation that we’ve made [regarding Constitutional rights].”  
When the same specific question was directed to your client, Mr. Clark responded “This has been asked and 
answered.” 
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In your November 8 letter, you state that your “threshold objection” is not based on 
“purported executive-privilege absolutism” but your contention that the pendency of litigation 
initiated by Mr. Trump regarding production of documents by the National Archives pursuant to 
the Presidential Records Act prevents your client from compliance with a congressional subpoena. 
As a preliminary matter, this is not a valid objection to a subpoena, and the Select Committee is 
not aware of any legal authority (nor have you provided any) that supports this position.  

Moreover, your letter overstates the relationship between the litigation involving 
documents held by the National Archives and the instant matter. The National Archives litigation 
relates to the production of records within the possession of the Archivist pursuant to the 
Presidential Records Act. Mr. Clark is not a party to that litigation and the issues raised are distinct 
from the privilege claims raised by Mr. Clark (to the extent we can discern those claims from your 
prior correspondence). While, in his attempt to prevent the production of documents in the 
possession of the Archivist, former President Trump has raised claims of executive privilege 
(something he has not done with respect to Mr. Clark’s testimony) directly under the Presidential 
Records Act, that litigation will not address your client’s dubious reliance on some undifferentiated 
claims of privilege to avoid testifying in response to a subpoena. 

Indeed, as more fully set forth below, your client’s obligations regarding compliance with 
the Select Committee’s subpoena are clear:  Mr. Clark must appear for his deposition and answer 
the questions of the Select Committee, subject only to particularized objections and privileges he 
might raise in response to specific questions. You have put forward no authority or argument 
requiring a different result.  

Furthermore, your claim that it would be “prudent” for the Select Committee to delay the 
deposition lacks merit. The Select Committee has extremely important work to complete, and your 
client has critical information that will further its investigation. While aspects of Mr. Clark’s role 
in efforts to press the Department of Justice to advance unsupported allegations of 2020 election 
fraud, by Mr. Trump and others, is now known (based mostly on documents and testimony 
provided by his superiors at the Department of Justice), the Select Committee is interested in 
conversations and interactions Mr. Clark had with former President Trump, Members of Congress, 
and others who participated in the promotion of baseless election fraud claims and attempted to 
enlist the Department of Justice in that effort. For example, with whom did Mr. Clark discuss the 
draft letter to state officials he forwarded to Jeffrey Rosen and Richard Donoghue on December 
28, 2020 before drafting or sending that letter? What facts and legal theories informed the 
representations in that letter?  What other strategies for delaying the certification of the results of 
the 2020 election did Mr. Clark discuss with others in government or the Trump campaign? Did 
Mr. Clark have involvement with additional efforts to pursue claims of alleged election fraud?  
Where did he receive information regarding those claims, and who else was involved in such 
efforts? These questions are among those that Mr. Clark is uniquely positioned to illuminate. 
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C. Even if Directed by the Former President to Assert Executive Privilege, Mr. 
Clark’s Claim of Privilege Would be Tenuous, at Best Even if Directed by the 
Former President to Assert Executive Privilege, Mr. Clark’s Claim of Privilege 
Would be Tenuous, at Best 
 

Even assuming Mr. Trump had invoked executive privilege with respect to the Select 
Committee’s subpoena to Mr. Clark, that privilege does not prohibit access by the Select 
Committee to the information sought from Mr. Clark.  This is so for several reasons.  

First, in Nixon v. Administrator of General Services (“GSA”), 433 U.S. 425, 448-49 
(1977), the Supreme Court made clear that any residual presidential communications privilege is 
subordinate to executive privilege determinations made by the incumbent president. “[I]t is the 
new President [not his predecessor] who has the information and attendant duty of executing the 
laws in the light of current facts and circumstances,” and “the primary, if not the exclusive” duty 
of deciding when the need of maintaining confidentiality in communications “outweighs whatever 
public interest or need may reside in disclosure.” Dellums v. Powell, 561 F.2d 242, 247 (D.C. Cir. 
1977).  

Here, neither Mr. Clark nor Mr. Trump currently serve in positions in the United States 
Government. Mr. Trump has not made any effort to contact the Select Committee regarding your 
client’s testimony, and he has not sought any injunctive or other relief from a court to prevent his 
testimony. Furthermore, incumbent President Biden and the Department of Justice have weighed 
in regarding subjects about which the Select Committee seeks testimony from Mr. Clark. By 
letter dated July 26, 2021, the Department of Justice reminded Mr. Clark that the Department 
attorneys are generally required to protect non-public information, including information 
that could be subject to various privileges like “law enforcement, deliberative process, attorney 
work product, attorney-client, and presidential communications privileges.” After listing those 
protective privileges, however, the Department explicitly authorized Mr. Clark “to provide 
unrestricted testimony to [Congress], irrespective of potential privilege” within the stated scope of 
Congress’s investigations.9 See DOJ letter at 3. According to the Department, the 
“extraordinary events in this matter . . . present [] an exceptional situation in which the 
congressional need for information outweighs the Executive Branch’s interest in maintaining 
confidentiality.” Id. at 2. 

Second, many of the Select Committee’s questions have nothing to do with 
communications between Mr. Clark and Mr. Trump. For example, the Select Committee seeks 
information from Mr. Clark about his interactions with private citizens, Members of Congress, or 
others outside the White House related to the 2020 election or efforts to overturn its results. Courts 
have made clear that the presidential-communications privilege does not apply to such subjects or 

 
9 As discussed below, your November 5 letter also suggests that Mr. Clark may be limited in his testimony by the 
attorney-client privilege, the attorney work product doctrine, and corresponding ethical confidentiality concerns. 
You raised ethical considerations again in your November 8 letter. Those suggestions are addressed below, but it 
is worth emphasizing here that the Department of Justice’s July 26 authorization letter addresses those concerns 
as well. It is difficult to see how Mr. Clark would be required to keep confidential the very information that 
the Executive and his former agency have authorized him to share, and the D.C. Bar Ethics Opinion you cited, 
#288, actually allows lawyers to produce information to Congress when given the choice between production or 
contempt.   
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communications. See In re Sealed Case (Espy), 121 F.3d at 752 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (“[executive] 
privilege should not extend to staff outside the White House in executive branch agencies”); 
Committee on the Judiciary v. Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2d at 100 (privilege claimants acknowledged 
that executive privilege applies only to “a very small cadre of senior advisors”). 

Third, even with respect to Select Committee inquiries that involve Mr. Clark’s 
communications with Mr. Trump, executive privilege does not bar Select Committee access to that 
information. Only communications that relate to official government business can be covered 
by the presidential communications privilege. In re Sealed Case (Espy), 121 F.3d at 752 (“the 
privilege only applies to communications . . . in the course of performing their function of advising 
the President on official government matters”); cf. Judicial Watch, Inc. v. U.S. Dep't of Homeland 
Sec., 926 F. Supp. 2d 121, 144-45 (D.D.C. 2013) (“the [attorney-client] privilege does not extend 
to a ‘a government attorney’s advice on political, strategic, or policy issues, valuable as it may 
[be]’”). Here, it is questionable that Mr. Clark’s conduct regarding several subjects of concern to 
the Select Committee related to official government business. For example, Mr. Clark’s efforts 
regarding promoting unsupported election fraud allegations with state officials constituted an 
initiative that Mr. Clark apparently initially kept secret from the Department of Justice and then, 
when revealed, continued to pursue, even after being explicitly instructed to stop.10  

Fourth, even with respect to any subjects of concern that arguably involve official 
government business, the Select Committee’s need for this information to investigate the facts and 
circumstances surrounding the horrific January 6 assault on the U.S. Capitol and our democratic 
institutions far outweighs any executive branch interest in maintaining confidentiality. Finally, 
even if there were merit to your position on executive privilege—which there is not—Mr. Clark is 
nonetheless required to appear before the Select Committee and assert Mr. Trump’s claims of 
privilege to specific questions asked and specific documents requested. See, e.g., In re Sealed Case 
(Espy), 121 F.3d at 752 (“the presidential communications privilege should be construed as 
narrowly as is consistent with ensuring that the confidentiality of the President’s decision-
making process is adequately protected”); Holder, 2014 WL 12662665, at *2 (rejecting a 
“blanket” executive-privilege claim over subpoenaed documents). 

D. Mr. Clark’s Claim that the Attorney-Client Privilege and Work Product Doctrine 
Prevent his Compliance with the Select Committee’s Subpoena Is Equally 
Unavailing 
 

You contend, in a single statement on the second page of your November 5 letter, that Mr. 
Clark’s compliance with the subpoena is also affected by the attorney-client privilege and the work 
product doctrine. Contrary to your assertion during the limited portion of the deposition in which 
you participated,11 your November 5 letter does not identify the client who could have an interest 
in protecting the confidentiality of communications with Mr. Clark. It is Mr. Clark’s burden to do 
so. “It is settled law that the party claiming the privilege bears the burden of proving that the 

 
10 See, e.g., Senate Judiciary Report at 23. 
 
11 Specifically, you were asked by Rep. Raskin, “Who is the attorney, and who is the client that are covered by the 
attorney client privilege being invoked in the letter?”  You responded by stating that “the privilege is set forth in the 
letter” and declining to discuss the matter further during the deposition.   
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communications are protected,” and to carry this burden one “must present the underlying facts 
demonstrating the existence of the privilege.” In re Lindsey, 148 F.3d 1100, 1106 (1998).12 The 
conclusory statement of your November 5 letter clearly has not carried this burden.   

 
Further, as with assertions of other privileges, “[a] blanket assertion of the [attorney client] 

privilege will not suffice.” In re Lindsey, 148 F.3d 1100, 1106 (1998). To the extent you believe a 
privilege applies you must assert it specifically as to communications or documents, providing the 
Select Committee with sufficient information on which to evaluate each contention. You have not 
done so.  
 

III. The Information Sought Is Important to the Select Committee’s Investigation 
and is Clearly within the Scope of Authority Delegated Pursuant to House 
Resolution 503 

 
The documents and testimony sought by the Select Committee from Mr. Clark relate 

directly to the inquiry being conducted by the Select Committee, serve a legitimate legislative 
purpose, are within the scope of the authority expressly delegated to the Select Committee pursuant 
to House Resolution 503, and are not protected from disclosure by any privilege.  

 
Your November 5 letter asserts a “disconnect between the scope and purpose of the 

Committee’s authorizing resolution and the information sought from Mr. Clark.” November 5 
letter, at 11. That is incorrect. Your letter misstates both the scope and purpose of the Select 
Committee’s work as well as the relationship to that work of the documents and information sought 
from Mr. Clark. 

 
One of the purposes of the Select Committee is: 
 
To investigate and report upon the facts, circumstances, and causes relating to the January 
6, 2021, domestic terrorist attack upon the United States Capitol Complex . . . and relating 
to the interference with the peaceful transfer of power . . . as well as the influencing factors 
that fomented such an attack on American representative democracy while engaged in a 
constitutional process.13 
 
To fulfill its responsibility to investigate and report upon “the influencing factors that 

fomented such an attack on American representative democracy,” the Select Committee must 
explore the facts and circumstances that led a mob to assault the Capitol and the police officers 

 
12 Of course, the attorney-client relationship privilege would only apply to those communications that qualify based 
on their substance and over which confidentiality has been maintained. The attorney-client “privilege applies only if 
(1) the asserted holder of the privilege is . . .  a client; (2) the person to whom the communication was made . . . is 
acting as a lawyer; (3) the communication relates to a fact of which the attorney was informed (a) by his client (b) 
without the presence of strangers (c) for the purpose of securing primarily either (i) an opinion on law or (ii) legal 
services or (iii) assistance in some legal proceeding, and not (d) for the purpose of committing a crime or tort; and 
(4) the privilege has been (a) claimed and (b) not waived by the client.” In re Sealed Case, 737 F.2d 94, 98-99 
(1984). 
 
13 H. Res. 503, Section 3(1). 
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attempting to protect it, threaten leaders of our government, and disrupt the peaceful transfer of 
power. Chief among the factors that rioters have cited to justify their actions is the belief that the 
2020 election was stolen.14 Documents and testimony show that Mr. Clark was directly involved 
in efforts to promote this false narrative. See Senate Judiciary Report at 19-27. 

 
In the October 13, 2021, letter that accompanied Mr. Clark’s subpoena, the Select 

Committee set forth the basis for its determination that the documents and records sought are of 
critical importance to the issues being investigated by the Select Committee. Testimony of senior 
Department of Justice officials before this Committee as well as before the Senate Judiciary 
Committee has revealed efforts by Mr. Clark, along with others in the federal government, to have 
the Department intervene in the electoral processes of various states and to make public 
pronouncements to fuel Mr. Trump’s baseless claims of election fraud. The Select Committee 
intends to investigate fully allegations of efforts by elected officials and others within the federal 
government to interfere with the electoral process, disrupt the peaceful transfer of power, and use 
the authorities of the Department of Justice to advance Mr. Trump’s personal political objectives.  

 
IV. The Categorical Nature of Mr. Clark’s Refusal to Comply with the Subpoena 

Indicates a Willful Disregard for the Select Committee’s Authority 
 
Mr. Clark’s appearance before the Select Committee at which he resisted providing any 

documents or testimony15 and made no clear or particularized claims of privilege save for general 
references to a letter hand-delivered to the Select Committee as the deposition commenced 
indicates a willful disregard for the Select Committee’s authority. When asked by staff counsel to 
discuss the topics on which the Select Committee planned to depose Mr. Clark – many of which 
could have no plausible infringement on any privilege – you and your client instead chose to walk 
out of the deposition.   

 
There is no legal basis for your client’s assertion of privilege in this broad and categorical 

manner. Your client refused to answer questions about the events of January 6, his comments to 
the press about the events of January 6, when he first met a certain member of Congress, whether 
he had ever interacted with members of Congress, his involvement in discussions regarding 
election procedure in Georgia, how he obtained information relevant to assertions regarding 
alleged election fraud, and whether he used personal devices to conduct official government 
business while he was employed at the Department of Justice. None of these areas of inquiry even 
remotely implicate executive privilege, even if such a privilege had been formally invoked by Mr. 
Trump.  

 
As such, after considering and analyzing the privileges and arguments asserted in your 

November 5 letter, I overruled your blanket objections to the Committee’s subpoena. Based on 
your November 8 letter, it is clear that your client does not intend to abide by my ruling. Be advised 
that the Select Committee intends to move forward with subpoena enforcement efforts. If, after 

 
14 See, e.g., They rioted at the Capitol for Trump, Now many of those arrested say it’s his fault, USA Today, Feb. 10, 
2021; Defense for Some Capitol rioters: election misinformation, Associated Press, May 29, 2021. 
15 Mr. Clark gave a substantive answer to a single question, relating to a request for documents from a particular email 
account. 
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considering this letter, Mr. Clark agrees to appear for deposition and fully answer the questions of 
the Select Committee or make particularized assertions of privilege to specific questions posed to 
him, please advise staff counsel immediately. If we do not hear from you by Noon on Friday, 
November 12, 2021, we will assume that you have not changed your posture.  
 
 
      Sincerely, 
 
 
        
       

Bennie G. Thompson 
      Chairman 
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Exhibit 11 — Letter and Memo from Counsel for 
Jeffrey B. Clark to Chairman Thompson on No-
vember 12, 2021 





  

    

     
   

  

            
                

       

              
             

             
             

             
            
            

   

              

              
       

                  
                

          

             
            

            

              
             

              
             

                 
               

     

           
            

            



  

    

     
 

  

               
             
               
                  
            

            
  

            
             
               

             

             
            

            
              

              
          

                 
               

               
                

               
             

           
              

           

            
              

                

        
 



  

    

     
   

 

              
               

            
           

             
           

               
           

             
            

              
            

             
          

              
          

               
        

            

              
 

             
              

           

               
          
                

            
            

              
       



  

    

     
   

 

               
              
              

           
                

           
             

               
              

    

         
            

               
               

               
               

           
             

              

                  
                

                 
               
                    

               
                  

              

                
              

                 
                 

              





 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM RE: CLARK SUBPOENA 

November 12, 2021 

This Memorandum (or “Memo”) responds more fully to Chairman Thompson’s 
letters of November 5, 2021 and November 9, 2021 and accompanies my cover letter of 
November 12 to Chairman Bennie G. Thompson.1 I also incorporate by reference the 
points made in my November 8 letter. This Memo is organized so as to respond, roughly 
sequentially, to your points as they were made in your November 5 letter, coupled with 
supplementation regarding your November 9 letter as appropriate: 

1. There is a self-evident problem posed by your November 5 letter.  It 
proposed resuming the deposition at 4:00 pm that day, but that letter was not sent until 
4:30 pm—a half-hour in the past at the time your November 5 letter was sent.  Given that, 
we also do not understand your assertion that you would rule at 4:00 pm on our 
objections inasmuch as your November 5 letter appears to have already rejected those 
claims.2 This is clear from your November 9 letter, which refers to your November 5 letter 
providing “notice of my rulings on the objections you raised at your deposition on 
November 5,” Thompson Letter at 2 (Nov. 9, 2021). This is yet another illustration of the 
“unalterably closed mind” problem that I explained from the airplane during my return 
flight to Atlanta on November 5 and my point that you ruling on objections we presented 
using that frame of mind is a violation of due process. See my email to  of 
Nov. 5, 2021, (citing Air Transp. Ass'n of Am. v. National Mediation Bd., 663 F.3d 476 (D.C. 
Cir. 2011)). See also Point 13, infra.  And most importantly, nowhere do your November 5 
or 9 letters even reference due process or respond to our arguments in that vein.3 

                                                 
1 This Memo reminds you and the Committee of the same reservations of rights stated in my November 5, 
2021 letter to you.  To economize on words, I will not restate those reservations here. Additionally, you 
cannot assume that any point in your letters not responded to in specific terms are points that we accept.  I 
reserve all of Mr. Clark’s rights. 

2 Though, of course, we would urge you to reconsider, even now. 

3 We suspect part of the problem here is the Committee’s extreme haste.  In addition to the timing problem 
(calling for Mr. Clark to return to a congressional office building at 4:00 pm in a letter sent at 4:30 pm), page 
6 of your November 9 letter reflects a heading that repeats itself (i.e., heading II.C). 
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2. Your November 5 letter also indicated that a more detailed letter would be 
forthcoming, which was the November 9 letter. But we similarly do not see how, before 
that more detailed letter provided all of the legal analysis your staff thought necessary to 
include, you could have been fully informed in ruling on the objections as of 4:00 or even 
4:30 pm last Friday, November 5, given that the November 9 letter was still four days in 
the future. All of this similarly underscores the due process problems with how the 
Committee is proceeding. Taking a step back, I cannot help but observe that the 
chronology of when, exactly, you overruled the objections calls to mind the Queen of 
Hearts’ demand in Alice in Wonderland of “Sentence first—verdict afterwards.” 
https://wordhistories.net/2019/07/14/sentence-first-verdict-afterwards/. 

3. You assert that “[a]ll the requested documents relate directly to the inquiry 
being conducted by the Select Committee ….” Chairman Thompson Letter, at 1 (Nov. 5, 
2021). We strongly dispute that there is such a direct relationship. Mr. Clark had no 
involvement with the events of January 6th. And, as I noted in my November 5 letter, 
former Acting Attorney General Rosen has already testified to the House that the January 
3, 2021 Oval Office meeting Mr. Clark participated in “did not relate to the planning and 
preparations for the events on January 6th.” At best, Mr. Clark is a very tangential witness 
in light of House Resolution 503, which sets up this Committee’s function. That point 
alone—together with the point made in my November 8, 2021 letter to you that protective 
legislation for the Capitol has already been passed and additional legislation of that type 
need not await interviewing Mr. Clark—undercuts any claimed urgent or “demonstrably 
critical” need for Mr. Clark’s testimony. 

a. Mr. Clark was not a “cause” of a “domestic terrorist attack on the 
Capitol. Compare House Resolution 503, § 3(1). Nor was he in charge of the “preparedness 
and response of the United States Capitol Police and other Federal, State, and local law 
enforcement agencies in the National Capital Region and other instrumentalities of 
government ….” Compare id. Nor did Mr. Clark participate in any January 6 activities at 
the Capitol where some of the individuals involved may have sought to interrupt the 
“peaceful transfer of power.”  Nor could Mr. Clark’s work, which was not publicly 
released while he served in the Trump Administration, be an “influencing factor” leading 
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to a decision by some individuals to go into the Capitol building on January 6.  Contra 
Thompson Letter, at 8 & n.13 (Nov. 9, 2021) (citing H. Res. 503, § 3(1)).4 

b. All Mr. Clark knows about “evidence developed by relevant Federal, 
State, and local governmental agencies regarding the facts and circumstances 
surrounding the domestic terrorist attack on the Capitol,” etc. is what he has read or seen 
in the media or learned by watching some portions of past testimony by other officials on 
those topics, especially to the House Oversight Committee. Compare id. § 3(2). 

c. The purpose enunciated in House Resolution 503 Section 3(3) is also 
something that does not embrace Mr. Clark. 

d. We note that Section 4(a)(1)(B) of House Resolution 503 references 
“malign foreign influence operations.” Mr. Clark has no visibility into that issue as it may 
relate to the events of January 6, 2021. But he did review classified information on 
potential foreign influence as it bore on the 2020 presidential election. Pursuant to Justice 
Department regulations, he requested that he be allowed to re-review such material, 
including his personal notes on that topic left in the Justice Department Command 
Center. But the Department denied his request, noting that the Committee had told the 
Department that this was not relevant to the Committee’s inquiry.5 If the Committee has 

                                                 
4 What appears far more relevant for getting to the bottom of why some individuals went into the Capitol 
Building are the activities of a Mr. Ray Epps, who was caught on video on both January 5 and 6, 2021 urging 
protestors and anyone nearby who would listen, it seems, to “enter the Capitol” on January 6.  Yet it is Mr. 
Clark who has been subpoenaed to testify about non-public information based on work subject to various 
Executive Branch, DOJ, and general legal confidentiality protections, while Mr. Epps has not been 
subpoenaed. See, e.g., https://youtu.be/uHn1hZyPJxk, Video Gallery, Rep. Thomas Massie, available at 
https://massie.house.gov/videos/ (page 2) (last visited Nov. 12, 2021).  If the Committee were properly 
constituted, see Point 16, infra, the Committee minority could use the Committee’s investigators to pursue 
this promising lead evenhandedly. As former Rep. Henry J. Hyde once memorably said, “The mortal 
enemy of equal justice is a double standard.”  Impeachment Trial of William Jefferson Clinton, remarks of 
Rep. Henry J. Hyde, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
srv/politics/special/clinton/stories/managers2text020899.htm. 

5 On October 14, 2021, Kira Antell of the Department of Justice’s Office of Legislative Affairs emailed Mr. 
Clark’s former counsel, stating as follows: 
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changed its mind and now views the issue of foreign influence in the election to be 
relevant, the Department’s denial of Mr. Clark’s request is another denial of due process. 
And, even if the Committee’s position that the foreign influence question is irrelevant 
remains unchanged, it is not up to Ms. Antell and/or this Committee to decide what 
materials Mr. Clark needs to refresh his recollection. Mr. Clark, consulting with me as his 
lawyer, should be able to make that determination.  Part of due process requires giving 
witnesses the ability to determine how to answer particular lines of questioning; due 
process is not consistent with trying to place entire lines of inquiry beyond question, 
especially where intent is a relevant legal factor. As a result, however one slices it, 
blocking Mr. Clark from accessing the classified material on foreign election interference 
that he previously reviewed is a denial of due process. 

4. We reiterate that Mr. Clark did not state on November 5 that, for all time, 
he would “not answer any of the Select Committee’s questions on any subject and would 
not produce any documents,” as you assert in your November 5 letter. As I explained in 
my November 5 and November 8 letters, the issue is predominantly one of timing, 
prudence, and fairness in awaiting, at the very least, a final merits outcome of the Trump 
v. Thompson litigation. The mismatch between the written statements of our position and 
the Committee’s various erroneous characterizations of our position makes it particularly 
important for this dialogue to occur in writing. 

5. You argue that the August 2, 2021 letter from Mr. Collins to Mr. Clark does 
not allow executive privilege to apply to Mr. Clark absent a “further instruction[] from 
former President Trump with respect to Mr. Clark’s testimony.” Chairman Thompson 
Letter, at 2 (emphasis added). We do not understand why one instruction given in August 
2 is not enough and a “further instruction” would be required. You offer no explanation 

                                                 
Finally, I wanted to address your question seeking access to materials relating to a 
classified ODNI briefing of Mr. Clark in early January. OLA has spoken to the Select 
Committee and confirmed that the details of this briefing are outside the scope of their 
interest in speaking with Mr. Clark. Beyond confirming with Mr. Clark that the briefing 
occurred, they do not require additional information about that briefing. We believe this 
resolves this question. 
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for that, and there is simply no support for that view in the text of the letter. The August 
2 letter speaks for itself. 

And, lest there be any doubt, a later interview does actually constitute a second 
instruction because Mr. Collins later stated that he “hopes the former officials will 
withhold any information from Congress that would fall under executive privilege” and 
that “‘I would hope they would honor that,’ Collins said when asked whether Rosen and 
the other officials [clearly including Mr. Clark] should withhold certain deliberations 
from Congress. ‘The former president still believes those are privileged communications 
that are covered under executive privilege’”6  

If the Committee wishes to contest our plain-text reading of that letter and Mr. 
Collins’ related statements to the media, it can consult with former President Trump’s 
lawyers on that point, though we should be included in any such process—it should not 
be ex parte. You also assert that our position is based on suppositions about former 
President Trump’s position. Again, that is obviously not the case. Our position is based 
on the text of the August 2 letter and Mr. Collins’ amplification of that letter to the media.  
Your interpretation of the August 2 letter is inconsistent both with the letter itself and Mr. 
Collins’ interpretation of his own letter. 

6. Relatedly, you argue in the November 9 letter that Mr. Clark should testify 
because, inter alia, Messrs. Rosen and Donoghue testified based on a July 26, 2021 letter 
they (along with Mr. Clark) all received at roughly the same time.  See Thompson Letter 
at 1 n.2 (Nov. 9). Especially after the August 3 comments were made by Mr. Collins to the 
media, we are at a loss to explain why others at DOJ were anxious to testify. Part of the 
answer may appear in a story in the New York Times, which states as follows: 

Mr. Rosen has spent much of the year in discussions with the Justice 
Department over what information he could provide to investigators, given 

                                                 
6 Tyler Olson, Trump Foreshadows Executive Privilege Fight in Election Investigations, But Won’t Try to Block 
Testimony Yet (Aug. 3, 2021), available at https://www.foxnews.com/politics/trump-executive-privilege-
election-investigations-wont-block-testimony.  Of course, as the Committee knows, President Trump 
decided in the Fall—after the Collins letter dated August 2 and Mr. Collins’ statements to the media 
reported on August 3, that he would indeed go to court. 
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that decision-making conversations between administration officials are 
usually kept confidential. 

Douglas A. Collins, a lawyer for Mr. Trump, said last week that the former 
president would not seek to bar former Justice Department officials from 
speaking with investigators. But Mr. Collins said he might take some 
undisclosed legal action if congressional investigators sought “privileged 
information.”[7] 

Mr. Rosen quickly scheduled interviews with congressional investigators 
to get as much of his version of events on the record before any players 
could ask the courts to block the proceedings, according to two people 
familiar with those discussions who are not authorized to speak about 
continuing investigations. 

Katie Benner, Former Acting Attorney General Testifies About Trump’s Efforts to Subvert 
Election, New York Times (Aug. 7, 2021), available at 
https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/07/us/politics/jeffrey-rosen-trump-election.html 
(emphasis added).  Mr. Clark has acted, we believe, more consonant with the President’s 
instructions as conveyed via Mr. Collins to Mr. Clark and the others.  Thus, we do not 
view it as consistent with Mr. Clark’s duties as a lawyer and former government official 
to make “quick[]” disclosure decisions on his own before courts rule on all relevant legal 
disputes.8 

7. As explained in my November 8 letter and above, I do not agree that Mr. 
Clark has invoked “blanket testimonial immunity.”  See also Thompson Letter at 4 (Nov. 

                                                 
7 This is a misleading characterization of what the text of the August 2 letter says.  It appears designed to 
convey to the New York Times’ readers that (a) former President Trump was not asserting privilege and was 
greenlighting testimony; and (b) former President Trump’s future condition was vague.  Neither is 
accurate—and, as we have repeatedly explained, the letter clearly invokes privilege and its condition was 
plainly triggered by this Committee’s post-August 2 actions. 

8 This is also as good a juncture as any to note that one feature of the real story here should be to ask why 
so many anonymous leaks keep occurring—leaks that violate Executive Branch confidentiality of various 
stripes. 
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9, 2021) (referencing “absolute testimonial immunity”). For the sake of economy, I would 
refer you to the November 8 letter’s points about the issue of timing, prudence, and 
fairness re Trump v. Thompson (now on interlocutory, not final merits appeal) and our 
continuing invitation to negotiate a narrower scope for potential testimony. Consider as 
well entering negotiations with us on written questions that could be confidentially 
propounded to Mr. Clark for our consideration, as opposed to another live session. 

We remind you that Mr. Clark’s livelihood has been threatened by “cancel culture” 
and that he also has a pressing family matter in the Philadelphia area to attend to that he 
has been holding off on, so proceeding via writing would be appreciated in light of the 
fact that two weeks of Mr. Clark’s extension request were denied with no real 
explanation. Mr. Clark is no longer a government employee, where interfacing with 
Congress in some instances would have been part of his job duties. As a private citizen, 
the Committee should make some reasonable accommodation to Mr. Clark’s 
circumstances, especially when his testimony is at best tangential to January 6 and is 
certainly not urgent in light of the prior passage of protective legislation. 

8. Relatedly, your November 9 letter asserts that privilege assertions must be 
on a document-by-document basis.  See Thompson Letter at 2 & 7 (Nov. 9, 2021) (asserting 
this is what “the law requires.”  But just yesterday, a New York Times story came out 
indicating that a different legal position is colorable.  That story reports as follows:  
“During arguments last week, [Judge Chutkan] rejected a suggestion by a lawyer for Mr. 
Trump that she examine each document before deciding whether executive privilege 
applied.”  Charlie Savage, Swift Ruling Tests Trump’s Tactic of Running Out the Clock, New 
York Times (Nov. 10, 2021), available at 
https://www.nytimes.com/2021/11/10/us/politics/swift-ruling-tests-trump-delay-
tactic.html.9  The Committee cannot urge on us (or benefit from) an approach by the 
courts based on rejecting use of a document-by-document approach, while arguing here 
that it is incumbent on us to use only a document-by-document approach.  Indeed, such 
an internally inconsistent position could trigger estoppel. 

                                                 
9 Of course, we do not agree that President Trump’s lawyers are trying to achieve strategic delay in Trump 
v. Thompson. 
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9. You refer to the July 26, 2021 letter sent to Mr. Clark by the Justice 
Department. See Chairman Thompson Letter at 2 n.3 (Nov. 5, 2021). We do not think that 
letter supports your position, for multiple reasons, but for now it should suffice to point 
out that that letter is curiously vehement that Mr. Clark not disclose the Department’s 
“investigations and prosecutions ongoing while [Mr. Clark] served in the Department,” 
because if it were known that such “deliberations would become subject to Congressional 
challenge and scrutiny, [the Department] would face a grave danger that [Department 
lawyers] would be chilled from providing the candid and independent analysis essential 
to just and effective law enforcement.” Weinsheimer Letter at 3 (July 26, 2021). 

DOJ’s rationale of avoiding the chilling of candid advice is, of course, one of the 
core purposes of the executive privilege, which is clearly rooted in the separation of 
powers, a structural constitutional principle that outranks the mere policy concerns of 
one department of the federal government.  Most importantly, what DOJ has done in 
the July 26 letter is strongly endorse on of our main arguments.10 The Department’s 
version of executive privilege, however, seems carefully molded to achieve political 
objectives rather than doctrinal coherence: it would purportedly shield whatever can be 
smuggled under the skirt of “ongoing investigations and prosecutions,” while totally 
exposing advice given directly to former President Trump, as well as internal 
deliberations leading up to such advice, even if they were based on such investigations. 
Respectfully, the internal contradiction of that position is obvious and disabling. It also 
makes little sense to imagine, as the July 26 DOJ letter does, that DOJ’s departmental 
privilege is superior to the brand of executive privilege attending to direct presidential 
communications and—applying the same method of innuendo the Committee is using in 
the press—causes one to ask: what does DOJ have to hide?  

Even if the Committee were able to somehow properly establish that such election 
matters fall into Resolution 503’s charter (something we think it cannot), then by parity 
of reasoning and as an element of due process Mr. Clark should be able to review all of 

                                                 
10 Alternatively, because the Justice Department is part of the unitary Executive and reports to the 
President, the concern the Department points out here as to its own investigations is just a part of the 
umbrella concept of the executive privilege.  Either way, the two parts of DOJ’s letter are at war with one 
another. 



 
 
 
Memorandum Re: Clark Subpoena 
November 12, 2021 
Page 9 
 
 
the election-related investigative files of the Department, particularly since the asserted 
results of those inquiries were an explicit premise of the advice that others gave to 
President Trump, according to their testimony. In all events, however, it is clear that 
proceeding on the basis of such an incoherent version of executive privilege in the manner 
the July 26 letter proposes would be fundamentally unfair and thus deny Mr. Clark due 
process. It would tie one arm behind his back. 

10. Note as well that your November 9 letter admits there is overlap between 
that litigation and Mr. Clark’s testimony.11 But your letter further contends that Mr. Clark 
is only entitled to assert executive privilege as to the documents and testimony to which 
it applies. The Committee’s position thus assumes the point in question.  And Trump v. 
Thompson, which may be just the first of multiple cases in this area, is not yet even 
concluded,12 so neither we nor the Committee knows the precise contours of executive 
privilege in this matter. Given this uncertainty and Mr. Clark’s competing duties as a 
witness on the one hand and as a lawyer ethically obligated to protect the privileges 
asserted by former President Trump on the other, it is grossly unfair to require him to 
guess now where that line will ultimately be drawn, on pain of civil or criminal contempt 
if he is over-inclusive in asserting the privilege, and a violation of the bar rules if he is 
under-inclusive. You assert that there is no authority supporting awaiting the outcome of 
related judicial review proceedings, see Chairman Thompson Letter at 5 (Nov. 9, 2021).  
But we are hardly the first to note the unfairness of the dilemma you are imposing on Mr. 
Clark: 

By wielding the cudgel of criminal contempt, however, Congress seeks to 
invoke the power of the third branch, not to resolve a dispute between the 
Executive and Legislative Branches and to obtain the documents it claims it 
needs, but to punish the Executive, indeed to punish the official who carried 

                                                 
11 Your November 9 letter merely quibbles about the extent of the overlap.  See Thompson Letter, at 5 (Nov. 
9, 2021) (“your letter overstates the relationship between the litigation involving documents held by the 
National Archives and the instant matter.”). 

12 I also specifically alert you here that I am aware that Trump v. Thompson may not result in a final merits 
resolution of the underlying privilege dispute. 
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out the President’s constitutionally authorized commands, for asserting a 
constitutional privilege. 

8 Op. OLC 101, 139 (1984). This passage, in turn, cited a law review article by former 
Solicitor General Rex Lee as follows: 

[W]hen the only alleged criminal conduct of the putative defendant consists 
of obedience to an assertion of executive privilege by the President from 
whom the defendant’s governmental authority derives, the defendant is not 
really being prosecuted for conduct of his own. He is a defendant only 
because his prosecution is one way of bringing before the courts a dispute 
between the President and the Congress. It is neither necessary nor fair to 
make [the Executive Brach official] the pawn in a criminal prosecution in 
order to achieve judicial resolution of an interbranch dispute, at least where 
there is an alternative means for vindicating congressional investigative 
interests and for getting the legal issues into court. 

Id. at 139, n. 39, citing Lee, Executive Privilege, Congressional Subpoena Power, and Judicial 
Review: Three Branches, Three Powers, and Some Relationships, 1978 B.Y.U. L. REV. 231, 239. 
This is precisely the unfair trap in which Mr. Clark finds himself. 

Also relevant to the hazard of assuming the eventual outcome of the Trump v. 
Thompson litigation, the Executive Branch has long taken the position that executive 
privilege applies even where the President was not directly involved in the 
communications and documents in question. The history of that position is set forth in 8 
Op. OLC 101 (1984) which involved the assertion of executive privilege by the 
Administrator of the EPA as instructed by the President. The Department of Justice 
confirmed that executive privilege applied. Based on executive privilege, documents and 
communications between EPA enforcement staff and DOJ’s Environment and Natural 
Resources Division were withheld from Congress. The OLC opinion not only affirmed 
the propriety of the executive privilege claim, it also declined to prosecute any criminal 
contempt of Congress. “We believe that the Department’s long-standing position that the 
contempt of Congress statute does not apply to executive officials who assert Presidential 
claims of executive privilege is sound, and we concur with it.” Id. at 129. “[T]he separation 
of powers principles that underlie the doctrine of executive privilege also would preclude 
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application of the contempt of Congress statute to punish officials for aiding the President 
in asserting his constitutional privilege.” Id. at 134. Thus, the idea that executive privilege 
is limited to officials like former White House Counsels Donald McGahan or Harriet 
Miers has no foundation in the law or history of execuctive privilege. 

11. Your November 5 letter also asserts that Mr. Clark was not among the 
“small cadre of senior advisors” to former President Trump. See Chairman Thompson 
Letter at 3. Perhaps if this inquiry involved Mr. Clark’s work in defending, say, the 
Affordable Clean Energy rule issued by EPA during the Trump Administration, Mr. 
Clark might not be standing on executive privilege. But Mr. Clark had conversations 
directly with President Trump that the subpoena indicates the Committee is interested in 
penetrating into. See Thompson Letter, at 5 (Nov. 9, 2021) (Committee admitting that “the 
Select Committee is interested in conversations and interactions Mr. Clark had with 
former President Trump”). 

The “small cadre” concept, even assuming its validity, has to be interpreted 
functionally. It cannot mean that anything a White House official, who is close on a paper 
org chart to the President, advises is privileged but that the advice of any official situated 
in an Executive Branch department, even if given directly to the President, is not 
privileged. Moreover, as noted, this “small cadre” concept is contrary to the Department 
of Justice’s long-standing position that the privilege applies much more broadly to 
executive branch officials even in the absence of any direct involvement by or 
communication with the President. See 8 Op. OLC 101 (1984). The concept advanced in 
your letter would hamstring the President’s constitutional effectiveness, especially as 
applied to his high-ranking officials who are Senate-confirmed. The President, in other 
words, should not be confined to hosting confidential conversations only with those 
advisors who physically work at the White House. Discharge of the President’s Article II 
duties to take care that the laws are faithfully executed may sometimes, and at the 
President’s sole discretion, require consulting with a wide variety of department, agency, 
board, etc. officials. 

12. On page 3 of your November 5 letter, you again attempt to mischaracterize 
our position as “categorical” or “blanket.” You did not attend last Friday’s session and so 
perhaps you were misinformed on this point. But my November 5 letter, our statements 
at the session that same day, and my November 8 letter were not categorical. Our point, 
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again, which seems to have been missed, is that timing is a critical consideration here as 
a threshold matter. There is no reason to put Mr. Clark (and me, as his lawyer, frankly) 
at risk of guessing wrong about how matters like the Trump v. Thompson litigation will 
come out. We have not heard any rationale from this Committee’s lawyers or members 
who attended Friday’s session as to why that is not a prudent way to proceed. Obviously, 
once Mr. Clark answers questions on the substance of his presidential conversations and 
his related actions at the Department, he cannot un-testify if the Trump v. Thompson case 
or other litigation ultimately holds that the invocation of the privilege is proper in whole 
or in part. 

13. Respectfully, your November 5 letter appears to cast in concrete terms the 
due process problem by stating that the “deposition will resume at 4:00 pm this 
afternoon,[13] at which time I will formally reject your claims of privilege.” Chairman 
Thompson Letter at 4 (Nov. 5) (emphasis added). That inherently shows (a) an 
“unalterably closed mind,” especially when you were not a percipient participant in 
Friday’s session and (b) renders surplusage the November 9 letter providing fuller 
responses. In light of this sequence of events, it is clear that your November 9 letter lays 
out a series of post hoc rationalizations that crystallize the point that your mind was 
already made up as of at least 4:30 pm on Friday November 5 when your letter was 
transmitted to me. Finally, (c) you have not provided any response to my point from the 
airplane last Friday that you ruling on objections to your own questions is itself a 
violation of due process. 

14. I also request, with respect, that you should respond to our objection based 
on Plaut v. Spendthrift Farm, 514 U.S. 211 (1995), that Congress cannot apply law to fact 
without unconstitutionally intruding into the judicial sphere.  Under the Constitution, 
the Executive Branch, in essence, proposes violations of law to the Judicial Branch and 
then the latter branch disposes of such disputes.  But Congress’s role in that process is 
neither to propose nor dispose in that process.  Instead, Congress is only designed to 
debate and pass new legislation or not. 

                                                 
13 Again, this was a time period 30 minutes before I received your letter from . 
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Your public statements confirm a confusion about how this basic constitutional 
structure functions. Commenting on Judge Chutkan’s November 9, 2021 ruling in Trump 
v. Thompson, you are quoted in Politico as saying: “If we have access to the records, they’ll 
speak for themselves. So we look forward, as a committee, to getting it. And we’ll let the 
evidence based on what we look at determine guilt or innocence.”14 (emphasis added). 
Obviously, legislative committees can never have any valid legislative or constitutional 
purpose in determining guilt or innocence, and therefore may not conduct investigations 
or issue subpoenas to achieve such flagrantly unconstitutional purposes.  Additionally, it 
is not even proper for the Legislative Branch to arrogate to itself processes of legal 
discovery in the hopes it can make a later hand-off to the Executive.  For instance, 
Congress cannot circumvent the Fourth Amendment by proceeding as if that 
constitutional constraint applies only to the Executive Branch.  The Constitution binds all 
three branches of government and all must take an oath to be bound by and support the 
Constitution.  See U.S. Const., art. VI (“The Senators and Representatives before 
mentioned … shall be bound by Oath or Affirmation, to support this Constitution ….”). 

15.  You assert that under the circumstances, Mr. Clark is “willfull[y]” not 
complying with the subpoena. Thompson Letter of Nov. 5 at p. 4; see also Thompson 
Letter of Nov. 9, at pp. 9-10. That is not the case. We seek to continue the dialogue about 
how to secure appropriately cabined testimony from Mr. Clark at the appropriate time 
and framed with due regard for all of necessary constitutional or other legal and ethical 
guardrails. 

16. It should also be noted that the Committee’s subpoena to Mr. Clark does 
not comply with the relevant Rules of the House. The minority party, through the 
governing congressional processes, must be represented on the Committee and 
participate in the issuance of subpoenas and the examination of witnesses. There are no 
members of the Committee who were appointed by the Minority Leader. The persons 
selected by the Minority Leader were refused by the Speaker and are not allowed to 
participate in the Committee’s proceedings. Instead, the Speaker selected two nominal 

                                                 
14 Kyle Cheney & Josh Gerstein, Trump Cannot Shield White House Records from Jan. 6 Committee, Judge Rules, 
POLITICO, available at https://www.politico.com/news/2021/11/09/trump-executive-privilege-court-ruling-
kings-520512. 
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members of the minority party to serve on the Committee. Their nominal party 
membership does not meet the requirements of the House Rules because they were 
selected and appointed by the Speaker and not the Minority Leader. There is no ranking 
minority member with whom to consult, and no properly constituted minority 
participation in the proceedings. This is a fatal defect in the Committee’s subpoena to Mr. 
Clark. We also incorporate by reference the legal arguments made by Representative 
Banks and other attorneys and congressional staff, as reported in The Federalist in the 
article set out in the margin below.15  In light of the points made in that article, when you 
respond to this letter please include a listing of the name and position of everyone 
affiliated with Congress who was present on November 5 in the room or by 
videoconference. 

17. Your November 9 letter suggests that Mr. Clark should have told this 
Committee or others before November 5, 2021 that he intended to stand on President 
Trump’s instruction to him through Mr. Collins to assert executive privilege.  Mr. Clark 
had no obligation to reveal his discussions with counsel before he arrived last Friday and 
your suggestion particularly ignores my recent entry into the case.  We also disagree that 
the other Committees and this Committee are interchangeable. 

18. Your November 9 letter claims that Mr. Clark left “abrupt[ly] on November 
5.”  See Thompson Letter at 2 (Nov. 9, 2021). You may be misinformed, as that is not 
accurate.  We were present for about 90 minutes and we also accommodated two requests 
that we leave the room for a period of time so that the Committee members and staff 
present could confer with one another.  And your related assertions about timing in 
getting back to the Committee after we left the building that day ignore that we were 
harassed by the press as we attempted to walk to have a meeting and that other urgent 
client matters arose for me as I scrambled to get to the airport to go back to Atlanta. 

19. I wish to conclude by noting that your November 9 letter ignores my 
November 8 request for a copy of the transcript from November 5.  Nor have we received 
any other word on that request since November 9. The silence is particularly troubling in 
                                                 
15 Mollie Hemingway, J6 Committee Misleading Witnesses About Republican Staff Presence, THE FEDERALIST 
(Nov. 10, 2021), available at https://thefederalist.com/2021/11/10/j6-committee-misleading-witnesses-about-
republican-staff-presence/.  
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November 17, 2021 
 
Mr. Harry MacDougald  
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP  

 
  

 
 
Dear Mr. MacDougald:  
 
 I write in response to your letter and attached memo dated November 12, 2021 (the 
“November 12 letter”). Your letter fails to include any legal authority justifying your client’s 
continuing refusal to provide testimony and documents compelled by the Select Committee’s 
October 13, 2021, subpoena. It also reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the House rules 
governing subpoenas and depositions. 

There is no valid legal basis for Mr. Clark’s refusal to comply with the subpoena. 
Nonetheless, Mr. Clark has refused to produce any records in response to the subpoena, nor have 
you provided a log detailing the documents withheld and the privileges asserted. Mr. Clark also 
refused to answer any questions at his deposition, save for one question related to a private email 
account. This refusal was despite the fact that the Select Committee asked Mr. Clark a series of 
questions regarding clearly non-privileged topics. Then, as the record reflects, both you and Mr. 
Clark abruptly left the deposition and failed to return as instructed. After your departure, the Select 
Committee described on the record a series of topics about which it wished to ask Mr. Clark but 
was unable to because of your departure.     

The relevant case law holds that a presidential adviser may not refuse to testify in response 
to a congressional subpoena based on claims of executive privilege. At Mr. Clark’s deposition, 
staff counsel pointed you to both Committee on the Judiciary v. Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2d 53, 106 
(D.D.C. 2008), and Committee on the Judiciary v. McGahn, 415 F. Supp. 3d 148, 203 (D.D.C. 
2019), and I cited those cases in each subsequent letter I have sent you.1  

 
1 See Letter to H. MacDougald, dated November 5, 2021, at 3; Letter to H. MacDougald, dated November 9, 2011, 
at 3–4. We have also repeatedly called your attention to Committee on Oversight & Gov’t Reform v. Holder, No. 12-
cv-1332, 2014 WL 12662665, at *2 (D.D.C. Aug. 20, 2014), which rejected a “blanket” executive-privilege claim 
over subpoenaed documents. You have likewise ignored this case without any explanation. And indeed, in my 
November 9 letter, I pointed out: “Nowhere in your 12-page [November 5] letter do you address the court decisions 
that clearly hold that even close advisers to a president (which Mr. Clark was not) may refuse to answer questions 
based on broad and undifferentiated privilege assertions.” 
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Your November 12 letter can be summarized into four broad categories, each addressed in 
turn: 

Allegation 1: You allege that executive privilege applies to Mr. Clark because of an 
August 2 letter by an attorney for former President Trump.2 Neither Mr. Trump nor his 
representative has communicated any assertion of privilege to the Select Committee (either 
directly or through you) regarding the subpoena to Mr. Clark. The letter from Mr. Trump’s counsel 
that you rely upon, issued more than two months prior to any subpoena, plainly states that 
“President Trump will agree not to seek judicial intervention to prevent [Mr. Clark’s] testimony.”3 
Declining to seek judicial review to prevent testimony is not an assertion of executive privilege. 
Regardless, as the District Court for the District of Columbia recently held, there is only one 
president at a time, and courts place greater weight on the views of the incumbent president, who 
“is best positioned to evaluate the long-term interests of the executive branch and to balance the 
benefits of disclosure against any effect on the […] ability of future executive branch advisors to 
provide full and frank advice.”4 In this case, neither the current president nor the former president 
has asserted executive privilege over your testimony or any documents you may possess.  

Allegation 2: You claim that you have not made a “blanket” assertion of privilege.5 Even 
assuming any executive privilege applies here—and we maintain that it does not for the multitude 
of reasons previously explained—Mr. Clark still has a duty to comply with the Select Committee’s 
subpoena by asserting any privileges on a question-by-question basis. That is the clear holding of 
both the Miers and McGahn cases you have not addressed. With respect to documents, Mr. Clark 
is required to produce all non-privileged documents and provide a privilege log describing the 
legal grounds upon which any documents are withheld.6  

Allegation 3: You allege that Mr. Clark’s testimony is irrelevant to the Select 
Committee’s charter.7 The Select Committee’s charter, H. Res. 503 (117th Congress), states that 
the committee is to “investigate and report upon the facts, circumstances, and causes relating to 
the January 6, 2021, domestic terrorist attack upon the United States Capitol Complex … and 
relating to the interference with the peaceful transfer of power.”8 As I stated in my October 13, 
2021 cover letter transmitting the subpoena, there is credible evidence that Mr. Clark attempted to 
involve the Department of Justice in efforts to interrupt the peaceful transfer of power.9 You have 

 
2 Letter from D. Collins to J. Clark, dated August 2, 2021, at 2. 
3 Id. 
4 Trump v. Thompson, No. 21-cv-2769 (D.D.C. Nov. 9, 2021), at 13. See also Nixon v. Administrator of General 
Services, 433 U.S. 425 449 (1977): “[I]t must be presumed that the incumbent President is vitally concerned with 
and in the best position to assess the present and future needs of the Executive Branch, and to support invocation of 
the privilege accordingly.” 
5 Letter from H. MacDougald to Chairman Thompson, dated November 12, 2021, at 5. 
6 Holder, 2014 WL 12662665, at *2. 
7 Letter from H. MacDougald to Chairman Thompson, dated November 12, 2021, at 4–5. 
8 Section 3(1), H. Res. 503 (117th Cong.), as adopted on June 30, 2021. 
9 Letter from Chairman Thompson to J. Clark, dated October 13, 2021, at 1. See also “Subverting Justice: How the 
Former President and His Allies Pressured DOJ to Overturn the 2020 Election,” Senate Committee on the Judiciary, 
(Oct. 7, 2021), available at: 
https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Interim%20Staff%20Report%20FINAL.pdf.  
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provided no legal authority—because none exists—permitting Mr. Clark to refuse to comply with 
a congressional subpoena simply because he has a different view of what information is important 
to Congress.  

Allegation 4: You allege that the Select Committee has violated House rules and 
deposition procedures. With respect to the claims regarding deposition procedures,10 you received 
notice both during and after the deposition regarding the reconvening of the deposition later that 
afternoon;11 and House rules specifically empower the Chair to rule on objections either in real 
time or at a subsequent time.12 The authority for committees to rule on witness objections has been 
affirmed by Supreme Court case law.13 Your claims regarding the Select Committee’s subpoena 
authority are equally meritless. The Select Committee was properly constituted under section 2(a) 
of H. Res. 503. As required by H. Res. 503, Members of the Select Committee were selected by 
the Speaker, after “consultation with the minority leader.”14 Neither H. Res. 503 nor the Rules of 
the House of Representatives require the minority party to participate in the Select Committee’s 
business or investigation or to have the minority leader’s preferred Members participate in the 
Select Committee. There is also no “fatal defect” in the subpoena, which was duly issued pursuant 
to sec. 5(c)(4) of H. Res. 503 and clause 2(m) of rule XI of the Rules of the House of 
Representatives. Mr. Clark’s subpoena was issued with the unanimous support of the Select 
Committee Members in accordance with these authorities. As to your request for a transcript of 
the November 5 deposition,15 I will provide the transcript to date pursuant to House Deposition 
Regulation 8.16 

 
10 Letter from H. MacDougald to Chairman Thompson, dated November 12, 2021, at 2.  
11 After leaving the deposition at 11:30 a m., you were informed at 12:42 p m. by email from staff counsel that the 
deposition would reconvene at 4:00 p.m. You acknowledged receipt of the notice of the reconvening in an email to 
the same staff counsel at 3:25 p m. on November 5, admitting you were already “in the air on the way back to 
Atlanta.” 
12See House Deposition Authority Regulation 7: “When the witness has refused to answer a question to preserve a 
privilege, members or staff may (i) proceed with the deposition, or (ii) either at that time or at a subsequent time, 
seek a ruling from the Chair either by telephone or otherwise. If the Chair overrules any such objection and thereby 
orders a witness to answer any question to which an objection was lodged, the witness shall be ordered to answer.” 
“117th Congress Regulations for Use of Deposition Authority,” 167 Cong. Rec. H41 (daily ed., Jan. 4, 2021). 
13 See Quinn v. United States 349 U.S. 155, 165 (1955) (providing that “the [C]ommittee may disallow the 
objection, and thus give the witness the choice of answering or not.”). Your memo cites a case wholly unrelated to 
Congress’s investigative or interrogatory authority, Plaut v. Spendthrift Farm, 514 U.S. 211 (1995). In that case, 
Congress had amended the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to require Federal courts to reopen final judgements, 
including those entered prior to the enactment of the amendment. But far from the Select Committee engaging in 
any judicial power, the investigation pursuant to H. Res. 503 reflects Congress’s Article I legislative authority. As 
the Supreme Court held in McGrain v. Daugherty, 273 U.S. 135, 174 (1927),“the power of inquiry—with process to 
enforce it—is an essential and appropriate auxiliary to the legislative function.” The legislative purpose of the Select 
Committee has not only been affirmed by the district court in Trump v. Thompson, but also expressly recognized 
during debate on the House Floor: See 167 Cong. Rec. H5760 (daily ed., Oct. 21, 2021) (remarks of Rep. Jim Banks, 
“Madam Speaker, no one has said that the select committee doesn’t have a legislative purpose.”). 
14 Speaker Pelosi detailed such consultation and her selection decisions in a July 21, 2021, press release available at 
https://www.speaker.gov/newsroom/72121-2. 
15 Letter from H. MacDougald to Chairman Thompson, dated November 12, 2021, at 14–15. 
16 House Deposition Authority Regulation 8. “117th Congress Regulations for Use of Deposition Authority,” 167 
Cong. Rec. H41 (daily ed., Jan. 4, 2021). 
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As I noted in my November 9 letter, there is no legal basis for your client’s assertion of 
privilege in this broad and categorical manner, and the Select Committee views Mr. Clark’s refusal 
to comply with its subpoena as willful disregard for the Select Committee’s authority.17 Given Mr. 
Clark’s continued defiance of his obligations under the Select Committee’s subpoena, the Select 
Committee will have no choice but to advance subpoena enforcement efforts.  

Sincerely, 

 
 
 

Bennie G. Thompson 
Chairman 

 

 

 
17 Letter from Chairman Thompson to H. MacDougald, dated November 9, 2021, at 9. 
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Exhibit 13 — Letter 1 from Counsel for Jeffrey B. 
Clark to Chairman Thompson on November 29, 
2021 





  

    

     
   

 

           
             
               

          
                 

           
  

           

           

 

            
          
              

            
      

           
             

           

          

            
              

             
 

              
              

              
               

           



  

    

     
 

  

      
   

              
               

   

            
               

         
           

            
             

                 
            

             
            

              

                 
               

               
         

                
                   
             

           

           
                  
                   

                 
                   

               
              



  

    

     
   

 

              
               

         
          

          
               

             
            

                
              

                
               

             
             

              
                 
  

          
               

              
               
             
         

             
            

              
   

        
             

             
            





  

    

     
   

 

              
            
            

             
            

               
            

          
                 

        

             
             

             
              

             
             

            

           
             

                
 

          
            

                
              
         

                    
       











  

    

     
   

  

            
 

              
            

           

 

  

  

 
      





11/29/21  11 04 AMCha rman Thompson Announces Representat ve Cheney as Se ect Comm … nvest gate the January 6th Attac  on the Un ted States Cap to

Page 2 of 2https // anuary6th house gov/news/press re eases/cha rman thompson announces representat ve cheney se ect comm ttee v ce cha r

releases/chairman-thompson-announces-representative-cheney-select-committee-vice-
chair) "  (https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?&url=/news/press-
releases/chairman-thompson-announces-representative-cheney-select-committee-vice-
chair&text=Chairman Thompson Announces Representative Cheney as Select Committee
Vice Chair) %  (mailto:?subject=Chairman Thompson Announces
Representative Cheney as Select Committee Vice Chair&body=/news/press-
releases/chairman-thompson-announces-representative-cheney-select-committee-vice-
chair)
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Exhibit 14 — Letter 2 from Counsel for Jeffrey B. 
Clark to Chairman Thompson on November 29, 
2021 
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